
MEETING NOTICE

Thursday, February 25, 2021 

Zoom Video/Teleconference  
Governance Committee – 8:30 AM 

Board Meeting – 9:30 AM 

Due to Coronavirus Restrictions, 
Public Access to the Meeting is 

Restricted.   

The Public May View and Listen to the 
Meeting Live Stream at www.danc.org.  

1

http://www.danc.org/


 
 

AGENDA 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MEETING 

Thursday, February 25, 2021 – 8:30 AM 
Zoom Video/Conference Call 
Dulles State Office Building  

Watertown, New York 
 
 

1. Resolution No. 2021-02-34, Approving Disposition of Real Property Policy 
 

2. Resolution No. 2021-02-35, Approving Investment Policy 
 

3. Resolution No. 2021-02-36, Approving Procurement Policy 
 

4. Resolution No. 2021-02-37, Leachate Treatment Agreement, City of Watertown 
 

5. Resolution No. 2021-02-38, Authorizing Executive Director to Implement 
 Compensation Plan 

 

2



AGENDA 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
Thursday, February 25, 2021 – 9:30 AM 

Zoom Video/Conference Call 
Dulles State Office Building 

Watertown, New York 

1. Call to Order

2. Call the Roll

3. Privilege of the Floor

4. Approve the Minutes of January 28, 2021 Board Meeting

5. Chairman’s Report

6. Executive Director’s Report

7. Finance Report – Chief Financial Officer
Approving Financials for the month ending December 31, 2020 

8. Governance

a. Resolution No. 2021-02-34, Approving Disposition of Real Property Policy

b. Resolution No. 2021-02-35, Approving Investment Policy

c. Resolution No. 2021-02-36, Approving Procurement Policy

d. Resolution No. 2021-02-37, Leachate Treatment Agreement, City of Watertown

e. Resolution No. 2021-02-38, Authorizing Executive Director to Implement
Compensation Plan

9. Finance

a. Resolution No. 2021-02-39, Approving Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Administrative
Budget, Capital Projects, Administrative Allocations and Audit Committee Budget

b. Resolution No. 2021-02-40, Approving Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Engineering
Division Operating Budget, Capital Projects and Reserve Designation

c. Resolution No. 2021-02-41, Approving Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Materials
Management Division Operating Budget, Capital Projects, Reserve
Requirements, and Tipping Fees

3



d. Resolution No. 2021-02-42, Approving Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Regional
Development Budget

e. Resolution No. 2021-02-43, Approving Fiscal Year 2021-2022
Telecommunications Division Operating Budget, Capital Projects, Reserve
Designations, and Tariff

f. Resolution No. 2021-02-44, Approving Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Water Quality
Management Division Operating Budget, Capital Projects and User Charges

g. Resolution No. 2021-02-45, Approving Fiscal Year 2021-2022 North Country
Economic Development Fund Budget

10. Engineering

a. Resolution No. 2021-02-46, Management Services Agreement Amendment 2,
City of Ogdensburg, Water and Wastewater Facilities

b. Resolution No. 2021-02-47, Technical Services Agreement, Village of Chaumont,
Asset Management Plan

c. Resolution No. 2021-02-48, Technical Services Agreement, Cornell Cooperative
Extension Jefferson County, Geographic Information Systems

d. Resolution No. 2021-02-49, Technical Services Agreement, Town of Louisville,
Water System Improvement Project

e. Resolution No. 2021-02-50, SCADA Services Agreement Amendment 1, Route 3
Board of Commissioners, Pump Station RTU Upgrades

11. Regional Development

a. Loan Report

b. Resolution No. 2021-02-51, Community Development Loan Fund, Community
Rental Housing Program, Heuvelton Historical Association, Loan

c. Resolution No. 2021-02-52, Community Rental Housing Program, Pink Palace
Properties, LLC, Loan #2

12. Water Quality

a. Resolution No. 2021-02-53, Operations and Maintenance Service Agreement,
Village of Castorland, Water and Sewer Districts

13. Next Meeting(s) –
Board Meeting / Annual Meeting – March 25, 2021 

14. Adjourn
4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



YTD ACTUAL 3/31/2020 Total
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents $6,016,322.66 $5,619,388.96
Accounts Receivable 2,927,103.39 2,962,769.30
Unbilled Revenue 478,040.12 502,785.83
Interest Receivable 120,044.44 178,707.78
Loans Receivable, net 34,483,114.97 36,810,943.50
Inventory 5,301.09 5,301.09
Prepaid  Expense 530,437.56 507,698.35
Investments 25,555,069.87 28,867,099.61
Funds Held In Trust 713,841.07 12,812,619.40
OPEB Reserve Fund 5,526,051.62 5,479,082.77
Restricted Assets 73,367,393.36 72,793,331.95
Leased Property 62,203.63 77,195.56
Capital Assets, net 83,714,976.72 72,559,389.98

Total Assets 233,499,900.50 239,176,314.08

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension 1,403,178.00 1,403,178.00
OPEB 183,981.00 183,981.00

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 1,587,159.00 1,587,159.00
TOTAL ASSETS PLUS DEFERRED OUTFLOWS 235,087,059.50 240,763,473.08

LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable 1,086,924.13 1,333,237.47
Grants & Passthroughs Payable 602,926.32 447,924.20
Community Benefits Payable 183,988.27 164,500.17
Interest Payable 167,449.48 125,447.92
Accrued Expenses 180,424.63 429,347.16
OPEB Liability 5,793,691.24 5,433,204.19
Net Pension Liability 1,309,024.00 1,309,024.00
Unearned Income 7,152,659.95 7,438,972.96
Lease Obligation 62,203.63 77,195.56
Funds Held for Others 10,412,025.25 10,412,025.25
Due to US ARMY 749,985.00 749,985.00
Landfill Closure & Post Closure 15,621,720.60 18,432,663.36
Long-term Liabilities 23,016,148.37 24,291,543.31

Total Liabilities 66,339,170.87 70,645,070.55

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension 454,625.00 454,625.00
OPEB 87,497.00 87,497.00

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 542,122.00 542,122.00
TOTAL LIABILITIES PLUS DEFERRED INFLOWS 66,881,292.87 71,187,192.55

NET POSITION
Invested In Capital Assets, Net 62,272,986.29 62,286,864.78
Restricted for:

Community Rental Housing Program 13,287,385.57 14,250,787.38
Community Development Loan Fund 8,592,523.37 8,182,061.08
Affordable Housing Program 22,748,491.86 22,583,025.92
Army Water & Sewer 1,800,000.00 1,800,000.00
Regional Waterline 512,051.31 512,051.31
Reserve For Liner & Replacement 12,425,795.13 12,642,139.72
Reserve For Wetland Mitigation 1,308,033.91 1,292,626.26
OATN Reserve 6,782,327.77 6,718,692.39

Total Restricted 67,456,608.92 67,981,384.06

Board Designated for:
Infrastructure Development 223,107.42 223,107.42
Capital Reserve 10,131,236.18 12,212,737.56
Tip Fee Stabilization 4,419,404.09 4,362,020.36
Landfill Gas Reserve 1,649,590.30 1,628,366.18
Economic Development Fund 5,533,620.89 5,581,376.83
Affordable Housing Program 3,000,000.00 3,000,000.00
Supplemental Insurance / Admin. Reserve 4,000,000.00 4,000,000.00

Total Board Designated 28,956,958.88 31,007,608.35

Undesignated 9,519,212.54 8,300,423.34
Total Net Postion 168,205,766.63 169,576,280.53
Total Liabilities, Deferred Outflows & Net Position 235,087,059.50 240,763,473.08

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE NORTH COUNTRY
For the Nine Months Ending Thursday, December 31, 2020

1 of 2
FS - Consolidated
Statement of Net Position - Consolidated

1/28/2021
2:52 PM

20



YTD ACTUAL 3/31/2020 Total

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

OPERATING REVENUE:
Customer Billings 16,548,422.59 22,210,552.80
Waste Diversion Revenue 189,603.94 0.00
Grant Revenue 767,091.17 2,396,759.80
Loan Interest Income 495,271.34 635,971.21
Other Income 626,308.41 1,034,225.12

Total Operating Revenue 18,626,697.45 26,277,508.93

OPERATING EXPENSES
Depreciation & Amortization 5,731,117.00 8,266,323.83
Salaries 4,445,821.17 5,884,576.18
Fringe Benefits 2,042,572.47 2,657,210.41
Operation & Maintenance 1,674,585.22 2,455,173.87
Recycling Transfer Station 247,215.99 151,462.46
Waste Diversion 823,111.32 888,503.52
Wastewater Treatment 804,006.66 1,272,972.89
Closure & Post Closure Costs 452,580.23 851,891.25
Community Benefits 668,386.94 861,006.03
Water Purchases 464,472.62 568,892.77
Office & Administration 309,149.34 446,170.24
Insurance 317,025.09 413,766.62
Utilities 78,822.55 137,398.04
Bad Debt Expense 11,655.69 630,223.86
Materials & Supplies 187,478.55 239,650.20
Professional Fees 322,096.36 290,984.78
Repairs & Maintenance 111,577.11 150,613.77
Automobile 243,591.91 316,628.99
Computer Expenses 225,529.01 291,870.08
Grants 1,107,545.66 731,174.64
NYS Administrative Assessment 0.00 122,000.00

Total Operating Expenses 20,268,340.89 27,628,494.43
Total Operating Income (1,641,643.44) (1,350,985.50)

NON-OPERATING REVENUE (EXPENSE)
Interest Income 732,080.61 2,702,220.82
Gain on Sale of Fixed Assets 0.00 81,291.40
Interest Expense (460,951.07) (517,767.83)
Bond Issuance Costs 0.00 (128,847.57)

Total Non-Operating Expense, Net 271,129.54 2,136,896.82

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (1,370,513.90) 785,911.32

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE NORTH COUNTRY
For the Nine Months Ending Thursday, December 31, 2020

2 of 2
FS - Consolidated
Statement of Net Position - Consolidated

1/28/2021
2:52 PM

21



ADMIN
MATERIALS

MGMT TELECOM
ARMY

SEWER
ARMY

WATER
REGIONAL

WATER
WQ

CONTRACTS ENGINEERING
REGIONAL

DEVELOPMENT TOTAL
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents $6,016,322.66 $6,016,322.66
Accounts Receivable (4,463.74) 879,079.57 1,739,380.28 16,723.00 153,383.03 33,214.72 63,237.03 46,549.50 2,927,103.39
Unbilled Revenue (45.60) 163,179.91 38,875.77 85,839.27 71,875.18 109,836.91 8,478.68 478,040.12
Interest Receivable 5,743.73 21,552.73 5,164.47 87,583.51 120,044.44
Loans Receivable, net 34,483,114.97 34,483,114.97
Inventory 5,301.09 5,301.09
Prepaid  Expense 521,155.97 9,281.59 530,437.56
Investments 6,261,465.65 13,563,664.05 1,994,437.13 3,735,503.04 25,555,069.87
Funds Held In Trust 713,841.07 713,841.07
OPEB Reserve Fund 5,526,051.62 5,526,051.62
Restricted Assets 32,789,743.84 10,485,882.91 1,919,890.16 1,047,212.82 485,561.34 26,639,102.29 73,367,393.36
Leased Property 62,203.63 62,203.63
Capital Assets, net 665,566.99 48,807,274.94 24,633,143.93 3,251,972.55 3,297,022.36 3,026,136.96 33,858.99 83,714,976.72

Total Assets 18,991,797.28 96,780,457.29 38,867,290.31 5,351,765.62 4,536,493.98 3,597,537.57 105,089.90 206,932.93 65,062,535.62 233,499,900.50

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESO…
Pension 1,403,178.00 1,403,178.00
OPEB 183,981.00 183,981.00

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 1,587,159.00 1,587,159.00
TOTAL ASSETS PLUS DEFERRED … 20,578,956.28 96,780,457.29 38,867,290.31 5,351,765.62 4,536,493.98 3,597,537.57 105,089.90 206,932.93 65,062,535.62 235,087,059.50

LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable 907,580.56 35,665.29 63,593.17 1,555.92 57,191.65 18,105.53 107.01 3,125.00 1,086,924.13
Grants & Passthroughs Payable 613,684.50 (10,758.18) 602,926.32
Community Benefits Payable 183,988.27 183,988.27
Interest Payable 167,449.48 167,449.48
Accrued Expenses (40,015.45) 75,880.18 73,899.71 15,893.41 15,893.40 38,873.38 180,424.63
OPEB Liability 5,793,691.24 5,793,691.24
Net Pension Liability 1,309,024.00 1,309,024.00
Unearned Income 6,450,574.23 702,085.72 7,152,659.95
Lease Obligation 62,203.63 62,203.63
Funds Held for Others 10,412,025.25 10,412,025.25
Due to US ARMY 749,985.00 749,985.00
Landfill Closure & Post Closure 15,621,720.60 15,621,720.60
Long-term Liabilities 964,000.00 19,076,403.08 708,461.33 1,667,283.96 600,000.00 23,016,148.37
Internal: Due To/Due From 5,612,197.24 (4,318,241.82) 238,510.18 (1,289,150.33) 148,528.94 (280,533.31) (355,601.55) 106,280.80 138,009.85

Total Liabilities 14,546,477.59 30,842,865.08 7,440,261.79 (521,716.00) 930,075.32 1,404,856.18 (355,601.55) 145,261.19 11,906,691.27 66,339,170.87

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension 454,625.00 454,625.00
OPEB 87,497.00 87,497.00

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 542,122.00 542,122.00
TOTAL LIABILITIES PLUS DEFERR… 15,088,599.59 30,842,865.08 7,440,261.79 (521,716.00) 930,075.32 1,404,856.18 (355,601.55) 145,261.19 11,906,691.27 66,881,292.87

NET POSITION
Invested In Capital Assets, Net 665,566.99 29,741,029.80 24,633,143.93 3,251,972.55 2,588,561.03 1,358,853.00 33,858.99 62,272,986.29
Restricted for:

Community Rental Housing Program 13,287,385.57 13,287,385.57
Community Development Loan Fund 8,592,523.37 8,592,523.37
Affordable Housing Program 22,748,491.86 22,748,491.86
Army Water & Sewer 900,000.00 900,000.00 1,800,000.00
Regional Waterline 512,051.31 512,051.31
Reserve For Liner & Replacement 12,425,795.13 12,425,795.13
Reserve For Wetland Mitigation 1,308,033.91 1,308,033.91
OATN Reserve 6,782,327.77 6,782,327.77

Total Restricted 13,733,829.04 6,782,327.77 900,000.00 900,000.00 512,051.31 44,628,400.80 67,456,608.92

Board Designated for:
Infrastructure Development 223,107.42 223,107.42
Capital Reserve 9,855,872.18 275,364.00 10,131,236.18
Tip Fee Stabilization 4,419,404.09 4,419,404.09
Landfill Gas Reserve 1,649,590.30 1,649,590.30
Economic Development Fund 5,533,620.89 5,533,620.89
Affordable Housing Program 3,000,000.00 3,000,000.00

     Supplemental Insurance / Admin. Reser… 4,000,000.00 4,000,000.00
Total Board Designated 4,000,000.00 15,924,866.57 223,107.42 275,364.00 8,533,620.89 28,956,958.88

Undesignated 824,789.70 6,537,866.80 11,556.82 1,498,401.65 (157,506.37) 321,777.08 460,691.45 27,812.75 (6,177.34) 9,519,212.54
Total Net Postion 5,490,356.69 65,937,592.21 31,427,028.52 5,873,481.62 3,606,418.66 2,192,681.39 460,691.45 61,671.74 53,155,844.35 168,205,766.63
Total Liabilities, Deferred Outflows … 20,578,956.28 96,780,457.29 38,867,290.31 5,351,765.62 4,536,493.98 3,597,537.57 105,089.90 206,932.93 65,062,535.62 235,087,059.50

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE NORTH COUNTRY
For the Nine Months Ending Thursday, December 31, 2020

1 of 2
FS - By Company

1/28/2021 2:51 PM22



ADMIN
MATERIALS

MGMT TELECOM
ARMY

SEWER
ARMY

WATER
REGIONAL

WATER
WQ

CONTRACTS ENGINEERING
REGIONAL

DEVELOPMENT TOTAL

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

OPERATING REVENUE:
Customer Billings 6,740,250.85 4,747,185.94 1,600,343.39 1,568,798.08 268,402.23 661,397.83 861,851.80 100,192.47 16,548,422.59
Waste Diversion Revenue 189,603.94 189,603.94
Grant Revenue 5,851.25 248,245.15 512,994.77 767,091.17
Loan Interest Income 495,271.34 495,271.34
Other Income 155,581.79 412,657.40 15,133.86 9,375.75 (0.50) 33,560.11 626,308.41

Total Operating Revenue 161,433.04 7,590,757.34 4,762,319.80 1,609,719.14 1,568,798.08 268,401.73 661,397.83 861,851.80 1,142,018.69 18,626,697.45

OPERATING EXPENSES
Depreciation & Amortization 191,052.40 2,257,779.88 2,681,547.43 225,339.13 232,785.92 120,134.46 22,477.78 5,731,117.00
Salaries 858,675.69 1,092,359.09 920,824.90 276,821.83 247,526.13 21,544.87 322,837.76 467,699.16 237,531.74 4,445,821.17
Fringe Benefits 380,220.55 584,794.08 318,657.94 143,587.32 124,941.96 10,775.39 156,118.87 217,238.65 106,237.71 2,042,572.47
Operation & Maintenance 13,346.92 347,382.95 1,177,603.53 48,781.75 4,349.23 4,247.04 34,778.34 40,685.46 3,410.00 1,674,585.22
Recycling Transfer Station 247,215.99 247,215.99
Waste Diversion 823,111.32 823,111.32
Wastewater Treatment 168,813.79 635,192.87 804,006.66
Closure & Post Closure Costs 452,580.23 452,580.23
Community Benefits 564,621.20 103,765.74 668,386.94
Water Purchases 2,154.00 397,823.79 64,494.83 464,472.62
Office & Administration 134,066.72 45,692.12 66,430.78 34,543.60 24,222.89 4,193.23 309,149.34
Insurance 14,024.97 127,199.97 92,175.03 26,025.03 20,625.03 4,050.00 12,975.03 19,950.03 317,025.09
Utilities 30,598.22 2,327.41 24,130.43 8,244.82 13,521.67 78,822.55
Bad Debt Expense 33,252.15 (21,596.46) 11,655.69
Materials & Supplies 187,478.55 187,478.55
Professional Fees 85,427.22 18,456.00 163,783.08 2,305.82 440.63 51,683.61 322,096.36
Repairs & Maintenance 11,956.38 52,450.05 33,272.51 13,898.17 111,577.11
Automobile 179.91 12,899.97 64,260.20 155,118.17 11,133.66 243,591.91
Computer Expenses 144,128.56 13,335.33 24,654.03 11,042.92 32,368.17 225,529.01
Grants 1,107,545.66 1,107,545.66
Admin Allocation (1,581,495.40) 613,145.79 449,460.99 211,287.77 111,495.43 12,968.26 26,727.27 40,486.33 115,923.56
Engineering Allocation 22,494.29 9,748.21 9,035.62 8,748.07 1,448.43 6,846.46 (60,203.94) 1,882.86
Water Quality Allocation (130,561.15) 53,967.43 4,487.94 72,105.78

Total Operating Expenses 239,627.54 7,621,915.15 6,004,725.68 1,727,255.16 1,244,220.95 271,571.06 632,389.51 816,058.19 1,710,577.65 20,268,340.89
Total Operating Income (78,194.50) (31,157.81) (1,242,405.88) (117,536.02) 324,577.13 (3,169.33) 29,008.32 45,793.61 (568,558.96) (1,641,643.44)

NON-OPERATING REVENUE (EX…
Interest Income 87,234.74 345,347.24 80,537.49 26,859.20 14,650.46 6,482.28 170,969.20 732,080.61
Interest Expense (450,659.25) (10,291.82) (460,951.07)

Total Non-Operating Expense, Net 87,234.74 (105,312.01) 80,537.49 26,859.20 14,650.46 (3,809.54) 170,969.20 271,129.54

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 9,040.24 (136,469.82) (1,161,868.39) (90,676.82) 339,227.59 (6,978.87) 29,008.32 45,793.61 (397,589.76) (1,370,513.90)

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE NORTH COUNTRY
For the Nine Months Ending Thursday, December 31, 2020

2 of 2
FS - By Company

1/28/2021 2:51 PM23



GL Account Description
Annual
Budget

YTD
Budget

Actual
YTD

YTD
Variance

Over (Under)

OPERATING REVENUE:
Customer Billings $22,233,827.00 $16,675,380.00 $16,548,422.59 ($126,957.41)
Waste Diversion Revenue 969,397.00 727,047.00 189,603.94 (537,443.06)
Grant Revenue 1,712,312.00 1,284,228.00 767,091.17 (517,136.83)
Loan Interest Income 697,000.00 522,747.00 495,271.34 (27,475.66)
Other Income 777,760.00 583,317.00 626,308.41 42,991.41

Total Operating Revenue 26,390,296.00 19,792,719.00 18,626,697.45 (1,166,021.55)

OPERATING EXPENSES
Depreciation & Amortization 8,221,600.00 6,166,197.00 5,731,117.00 (435,080.00)
Salaries 6,435,499.00 4,826,601.00 4,445,821.17 (380,779.83)
Fringe Benefits 3,047,101.00 2,285,346.78 2,042,572.47 (242,774.31)
Operation & Maintenance 3,010,515.00 2,257,920.00 1,675,272.10 (582,647.90)
Waste Diversion 1,426,000.00 1,069,506.00 823,111.32 (246,394.68)
Recycling Transfer Station 1,234,736.00 926,055.00 247,215.99 (678,839.01)
Wastewater Treatment 1,370,276.00 1,027,710.00 803,319.78 (224,390.22)
Closure & Post Closure Costs 803,999.00 603,000.00 452,580.23 (150,419.77)
Water Purchases 765,941.00 574,461.00 464,472.62 (109,988.38)
Community Benefits 884,027.00 663,021.00 668,386.94 5,365.94
Office & Administration 595,963.10 446,994.81 309,149.34 (137,845.47)
Insurance 422,700.00 317,034.00 317,025.09 (8.91)
Utilities 174,300.00 130,718.97 78,822.55 (51,896.42)
Bad Debt Expense 0.00 0.00 11,655.69 11,655.69
Materials & Supplies 282,000.00 211,500.00 187,478.55 (24,021.45)
Professional Fees 560,197.00 420,182.91 322,096.36 (98,086.55)
Repairs & Maintenance 173,100.00 129,827.97 111,577.11 (18,250.86)
Automobile 381,647.00 286,236.00 243,591.91 (42,644.09)
Computer Expenses 334,737.90 251,052.75 225,529.01 (25,523.74)
Grants 1,517,500.00 1,138,122.00 1,107,545.66 (30,576.34)
Admin Allocation 0.00 9.00 0.00 (9.00)
Engineering Allocation 0.00 9.00 0.00 (9.00)
Water Quality Allocation 0.00 (9.00) 0.00 9.00
NYS Administrative Assessment 125,050.00 93,789.00 0.00 (93,789.00)
Contingency 30,580.00 22,938.03 0.00 (22,938.03)

Total Operating Expenses 31,797,469.00 23,848,223.22 20,268,340.89 (3,579,882.33)

Total Operating Income (5,407,173.00) (4,055,504.22) (1,641,643.44) 2,413,860.78

NON-OPERATING REVENUE …
Interest Income 1,736,937.00 1,302,705.00 732,080.61 (570,624.39)
Gain on Sale of Fixed Assets 73,000.00 54,747.00 0.00 (54,747.00)
Interest Expense (721,047.00) (540,783.00) (460,951.07) 79,831.93

     Total Non-Operating Expe… 1,088,890.00 816,669.00 271,129.54 (545,539.46)

Summary of All Units
Change In Net Position

For the Nine Months Ending Thursday, December 31, 2020

1 of 12
Change in Net Position Summary - Current

1/28/2021
2:57 PM

24



GL Account Description
Annual
Budget

YTD
Budget

Actual
YTD

YTD
Variance

Over (Under)
CHANGE IN NET POSITION (4,318,283.00) (3,238,835.22) (1,370,513.90) 1,868,321.32

Summary of All Units
Change In Net Position

For the Nine Months Ending Thursday, December 31, 2020

2 of 12
Change in Net Position Summary - Current

1/28/2021
2:57 PM

25



GL Account Description
Annual
Budget

YTD
Budget

Actual
YTD

YTD
Variance

Over (Under)

OPERATING REVENUE:
Grant Revenue $10,000.00 $7,497.00 $5,851.25 ($1,645.75)
Other Income 212,700.00 159,525.00 155,581.79 (3,943.21)

Total Operating Revenue 222,700.00 167,022.00 161,433.04 (5,588.96)

OPERATING EXPENSES
Depreciation & Amortization 277,600.00 208,197.00 191,052.40 (17,144.60)
Salaries 1,235,732.00 926,793.00 858,675.69 (68,117.31)
Fringe Benefits 589,616.00 442,203.75 380,220.55 (61,983.20)
Operation & Maintenance 17,355.00 13,019.94 13,346.92 326.98
Office & Administration 217,916.10 163,439.37 134,066.72 (29,372.65)
Insurance 18,700.00 14,022.00 14,024.97 2.97
Professional Fees 114,990.00 86,245.47 85,427.22 (818.25)
Automobile 2,750.00 2,061.00 179.91 (1,881.09)
Computer Expenses 238,919.90 179,178.75 144,128.56 (35,050.19)
Admin Allocation (2,168,149.00) (1,626,111.00) (1,581,495.40) 44,615.60

Total Operating Expenses 545,430.00 409,049.28 239,627.54 (169,421.74)

Total Operating Income (322,730.00) (242,027.28) (78,194.50) 163,832.78

NON-OPERATING REVENUE …
Interest Income 314,600.00 235,953.00 87,234.74 (148,718.26)
Gain on Sale of Fixed Assets 28,000.00 20,997.00 0.00 (20,997.00)

     Total Non-Operating Expe… 342,600.00 256,950.00 87,234.74 (169,715.26)

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 19,870.00 14,922.72 9,040.24 (5,882.48)

Administration
Change In Net Position

For the Nine Months Ending Thursday, December 31, 2020

3 of 12
Change in Net Position Summary - Current

1/28/2021
2:57 PM

26



GL Account Description
Annual
Budget

YTD
Budget

Actual
YTD

YTD
Variance

Over (Under)

OPERATING REVENUE:
Customer Billings $9,027,500.00 $6,770,628.00 $6,740,250.85 ($30,377.15)
Waste Diversion Revenue 969,397.00 727,047.00 189,603.94 (537,443.06)
Grant Revenue 333,312.00 249,984.00 248,245.15 (1,738.85)
Other Income 463,009.00 347,256.00 412,657.40 65,401.40

Total Operating Revenue 10,793,218.00 8,094,915.00 7,590,757.34 (504,157.66)

OPERATING EXPENSES
Depreciation & Amortization 3,560,700.00 2,670,525.00 2,257,779.88 (412,745.12)
Salaries 1,677,258.00 1,257,948.00 1,092,359.09 (165,588.91)
Fringe Benefits 932,013.00 699,012.00 584,794.08 (114,217.92)
Operation & Maintenance 918,076.00 688,563.00 348,069.83 (340,493.17)
Waste Diversion 1,426,000.00 1,069,506.00 823,111.32 (246,394.68)
Recycling Transfer Station 1,234,736.00 926,055.00 247,215.99 (678,839.01)
Wastewater Treatment 354,200.00 265,653.00 168,126.91 (97,526.09)
Closure & Post Closure Costs 803,999.00 603,000.00 452,580.23 (150,419.77)
Community Benefits 780,261.00 585,198.00 564,621.20 (20,576.80)
Office & Administration 102,650.00 76,995.00 45,692.12 (31,302.88)
Insurance 169,600.00 127,197.00 127,199.97 2.97
Utilities 65,000.00 48,744.00 30,598.22 (18,145.78)
Materials & Supplies 282,000.00 211,500.00 187,478.55 (24,021.45)
Professional Fees 26,353.00 19,764.00 18,456.00 (1,308.00)
Repairs & Maintenance 20,000.00 15,003.00 11,956.38 (3,046.62)
Automobile 17,200.00 12,897.00 12,899.97 2.97
Computer Expenses 16,055.00 12,042.00 13,335.33 1,293.33
Admin Allocation 840,523.00 630,396.00 613,145.79 (17,250.21)
Engineering Allocation 31,076.00 23,310.00 22,494.29 (815.71)
NYS Administrative Assessment 52,101.00 39,078.00 0.00 (39,078.00)
Contingency 30,000.00 22,500.00 0.00 (22,500.00)

Total Operating Expenses 13,339,801.00 10,004,886.00 7,621,915.15 (2,382,970.85)

Total Operating Income (2,546,583.00) (1,909,971.00) (31,157.81) 1,878,813.19

NON-OPERATING REVENUE …
Interest Income 721,634.00 541,224.00 345,347.24 (195,876.76)
Gain on Sale of Fixed Assets 45,000.00 33,750.00 0.00 (33,750.00)
Interest Expense (658,144.00) (493,605.00) (450,659.25) 42,945.75

     Total Non-Operating Expe… 108,490.00 81,369.00 (105,312.01) (186,681.01)

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (2,438,093.00) (1,828,602.00) (136,469.82) 1,692,132.18

Materials Management
Change In Net Position

For the Nine Months Ending Thursday, December 31, 2020

4 of 12
Change in Net Position Summary - Current

1/28/2021
2:57 PM

27



GL Account Description
Annual
Budget

YTD
Budget

Actual
YTD

YTD
Variance

Over (Under)

OPERATING REVENUE:
Customer Billings $6,160,090.00 $4,620,069.00 $4,747,185.94 $127,116.94
Other Income 47,050.00 35,289.00 15,133.86 (20,155.14)

Total Operating Revenue 6,207,140.00 4,655,358.00 4,762,319.80 106,961.80

OPERATING EXPENSES
Depreciation & Amortization 3,647,400.00 2,735,550.00 2,681,547.43 (54,002.57)
Salaries 1,237,434.00 928,071.00 920,824.90 (7,246.10)
Fringe Benefits 431,447.00 323,595.00 318,657.94 (4,937.06)
Operation & Maintenance 1,798,984.00 1,349,244.09 1,177,603.53 (171,640.56)
Office & Administration 111,586.00 83,684.97 66,430.78 (17,254.19)
Insurance 122,900.00 92,178.00 92,175.03 (2.97)
Utilities 5,000.00 3,753.00 2,327.41 (1,425.59)
Bad Debt Expense 0.00 0.00 33,252.15 33,252.15
Professional Fees 227,791.00 170,852.94 163,783.08 (7,069.86)
Automobile 101,600.00 76,203.00 64,260.20 (11,942.80)
Computer Expenses 28,605.00 21,458.97 24,654.03 3,195.06
Admin Allocation 616,227.00 462,168.00 449,460.99 (12,707.01)
Engineering Allocation 11,662.00 8,748.00 9,748.21 1,000.21
NYS Administrative Assessment 34,715.00 26,037.00 0.00 (26,037.00)
Contingency 580.00 438.03 0.00 (438.03)

Total Operating Expenses 8,375,931.00 6,281,982.00 6,004,725.68 (277,256.32)

Total Operating Income (2,168,791.00) (1,626,624.00) (1,242,405.88) 384,218.12

NON-OPERATING REVENUE …
Interest Income 250,523.00 187,893.00 80,537.49 (107,355.51)

     Total Non-Operating Expe… 250,523.00 187,893.00 80,537.49 (107,355.51)

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (1,918,268.00) (1,438,731.00) (1,161,868.39) 276,862.61

Telecommunications
Change In Net Position

For the Nine Months Ending Thursday, December 31, 2020

5 of 12
Change in Net Position Summary - Current

1/28/2021
2:57 PM

28



GL Account Description
Annual
Budget

YTD
Budget

Actual
YTD

YTD
Variance

Over (Under)

OPERATING REVENUE:
Customer Billings $5,617,702.00 $4,213,278.00 $4,098,941.53 ($114,336.47)
Other Income 12,501.00 9,378.00 9,375.25 (2.75)

Total Operating Revenue 5,630,203.00 4,222,656.00 4,108,316.78 (114,339.22)

OPERATING EXPENSES
Depreciation & Amortization 708,100.00 531,072.00 578,259.51 47,187.51
Salaries 1,213,298.00 909,963.00 868,730.59 (41,232.41)
Fringe Benefits 621,402.00 466,056.00 435,423.54 (30,632.46)
Operation & Maintenance 174,900.00 131,195.97 92,156.36 (39,039.61)
Wastewater Treatment 1,016,076.00 762,057.00 635,192.87 (126,864.13)
Water Purchases 765,941.00 574,461.00 464,472.62 (109,988.38)
Office & Administration 78,450.00 58,817.97 34,543.60 (24,274.37)
Insurance 84,900.00 63,684.00 63,675.09 (8.91)
Utilities 104,300.00 78,221.97 45,896.92 (32,325.05)
Professional Fees 6,936.00 5,202.00 2,746.45 (2,455.55)
Repairs & Maintenance 153,100.00 114,824.97 99,620.73 (15,204.24)
Automobile 239,720.00 179,793.00 155,118.17 (24,674.83)
Computer Expenses 13,602.00 10,203.03 11,042.92 839.89
Admin Allocation 496,760.00 372,573.00 362,478.73 (10,094.27)
Engineering Allocation 35,958.00 26,973.00 26,078.58 (894.42)
Water Quality Allocation 0.00 (9.00) 0.00 9.00
NYS Administrative Assessment 31,277.00 23,454.00 0.00 (23,454.00)

Total Operating Expenses 5,744,720.00 4,308,542.91 3,875,436.68 (433,106.23)

Total Operating Income (114,517.00) (85,886.91) 232,880.10 318,767.01

NON-OPERATING REVENUE …
Interest Income 67,900.00 50,931.00 47,991.94 (2,939.06)
Interest Expense (59,403.00) (44,550.00) (10,291.82) 34,258.18

     Total Non-Operating Expe… 8,497.00 6,381.00 37,700.12 31,319.12

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (106,020.00) (79,505.91) 270,580.22 350,086.13

Water Quality
Change In Net Position

For the Nine Months Ending Thursday, December 31, 2020

6 of 12
Change in Net Position Summary - Current

1/28/2021
2:57 PM

29



GL Account Description
Annual
Budget

YTD
Budget

Actual
YTD

YTD
Variance

Over (Under)

OPERATING REVENUE:
Customer Billings $2,365,363.00 $1,774,026.00 $1,600,343.39 ($173,682.61)
Other Income 12,501.00 9,378.00 9,375.75 (2.25)

Total Operating Revenue 2,377,864.00 1,783,404.00 1,609,719.14 (173,684.86)

OPERATING EXPENSES
Depreciation & Amortization 275,200.00 206,397.00 225,339.13 18,942.13
Salaries 410,510.00 307,881.00 276,821.83 (31,059.17)
Fringe Benefits 209,827.00 157,374.00 143,587.32 (13,786.68)
Operation & Maintenance 110,000.00 82,503.00 48,781.75 (33,721.25)
Wastewater Treatment 1,016,076.00 762,057.00 635,192.87 (126,864.13)
Water Purchases 3,200.00 2,403.00 2,154.00 (249.00)
Office & Administration 76,200.00 57,134.97 34,543.60 (22,591.37)
Insurance 34,700.00 26,028.00 26,025.03 (2.97)
Utilities 59,750.00 44,811.00 24,130.43 (20,680.57)
Professional Fees 4,179.00 3,132.00 2,305.82 (826.18)
Repairs & Maintenance 85,000.00 63,747.00 52,450.05 (11,296.95)
Automobile 239,720.00 179,793.00 155,118.17 (24,674.83)
Computer Expenses 13,602.00 10,203.03 11,042.92 839.89
Admin Allocation 289,618.00 217,215.00 211,287.77 (5,927.23)
Engineering Allocation 10,720.00 8,037.00 9,035.62 998.62
Water Quality Allocation (210,579.00) (157,932.00) (130,561.15) 27,370.85
NYS Administrative Assessment 13,740.00 10,305.00 0.00 (10,305.00)

Total Operating Expenses 2,641,463.00 1,981,089.00 1,727,255.16 (253,833.84)

Total Operating Income (263,599.00) (197,685.00) (117,536.02) 80,148.98

NON-OPERATING REVENUE …
Interest Income 38,400.00 28,800.00 26,859.20 (1,940.80)

     Total Non-Operating Expe… 38,400.00 28,800.00 26,859.20 (1,940.80)

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (225,199.00) (168,885.00) (90,676.82) 78,208.18

Army Sewer
Change In Net Position

For the Nine Months Ending Thursday, December 31, 2020

7 of 12
Change in Net Position Summary - Current

1/28/2021
2:57 PM

30



GL Account Description
Annual
Budget

YTD
Budget

Actual
YTD

YTD
Variance

Over (Under)

OPERATING REVENUE:
Customer Billings $2,022,314.00 $1,516,734.00 $1,568,798.08 $52,064.08

Total Operating Revenue 2,022,314.00 1,516,734.00 1,568,798.08 52,064.08

OPERATING EXPENSES
Depreciation & Amortization 266,100.00 199,575.00 232,785.92 33,210.92
Salaries 347,210.00 260,406.00 247,526.13 (12,879.87)
Fringe Benefits 177,041.00 132,786.00 124,941.96 (7,844.04)
Operation & Maintenance 7,100.00 5,330.97 4,349.23 (981.74)
Water Purchases 686,300.00 514,728.00 397,823.79 (116,904.21)
Office & Administration 1,100.00 819.00 0.00 (819.00)
Insurance 27,500.00 20,628.00 20,625.03 (2.97)
Utilities 19,550.00 14,663.97 8,244.82 (6,419.15)
Professional Fees 2,257.00 1,692.00 440.63 (1,251.37)
Repairs & Maintenance 35,600.00 26,696.97 33,272.51 6,575.54
Admin Allocation 152,867.00 114,651.00 111,495.43 (3,155.57)
Engineering Allocation 10,197.00 7,650.00 8,748.07 1,098.07
Water Quality Allocation 94,469.00 70,848.00 53,967.43 (16,880.57)
NYS Administrative Assessment 10,851.00 8,136.00 0.00 (8,136.00)

Total Operating Expenses 1,838,142.00 1,378,610.91 1,244,220.95 (134,389.96)

Total Operating Income 184,172.00 138,123.09 324,577.13 186,454.04

NON-OPERATING REVENUE …
Interest Income 20,900.00 15,678.00 14,650.46 (1,027.54)

     Total Non-Operating Expe… 20,900.00 15,678.00 14,650.46 (1,027.54)

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 205,072.00 153,801.09 339,227.59 185,426.50

Army Water Line
Change In Net Position

For the Nine Months Ending Thursday, December 31, 2020

8 of 12
Change in Net Position Summary - Current

1/28/2021
2:57 PM

31



GL Account Description
Annual
Budget

YTD
Budget

Actual
YTD

YTD
Variance

Over (Under)

OPERATING REVENUE:
Customer Billings $350,705.00 $263,025.00 $268,402.23 $5,377.23
Other Income 0.00 0.00 (0.50) (0.50)

Total Operating Revenue 350,705.00 263,025.00 268,401.73 5,376.73

OPERATING EXPENSES
Depreciation & Amortization 166,800.00 125,100.00 120,134.46 (4,965.54)
Salaries 33,211.00 24,912.00 21,544.87 (3,367.13)
Fringe Benefits 16,075.00 12,051.00 10,775.39 (1,275.61)
Operation & Maintenance 6,800.00 5,103.00 4,247.04 (855.96)
Water Purchases 76,441.00 57,330.00 64,494.83 7,164.83
Office & Administration 350.00 261.00 0.00 (261.00)
Insurance 5,400.00 4,050.00 4,050.00 0.00
Utilities 25,000.00 18,747.00 13,521.67 (5,225.33)
Professional Fees 500.00 378.00 0.00 (378.00)
Repairs & Maintenance 32,500.00 24,381.00 13,898.17 (10,482.83)
Admin Allocation 17,717.00 13,284.00 12,968.26 (315.74)
Engineering Allocation 2,747.00 2,061.00 1,448.43 (612.57)
Water Quality Allocation 7,517.00 5,634.00 4,487.94 (1,146.06)
NYS Administrative Assessment 2,149.00 1,611.00 0.00 (1,611.00)

Total Operating Expenses 393,207.00 294,903.00 271,571.06 (23,331.94)

Total Operating Income (42,502.00) (31,878.00) (3,169.33) 28,708.67

NON-OPERATING REVENUE …
Interest Income 8,600.00 6,453.00 6,482.28 29.28
Interest Expense (59,403.00) (44,550.00) (10,291.82) 34,258.18

     Total Non-Operating Expe… (50,803.00) (38,097.00) (3,809.54) 34,287.46

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (93,305.00) (69,975.00) (6,978.87) 62,996.13

Regional Water Line
Change In Net Position

For the Nine Months Ending Thursday, December 31, 2020

9 of 12
Change in Net Position Summary - Current

1/28/2021
2:57 PM

32



GL Account Description
Annual
Budget

YTD
Budget

Actual
YTD

YTD
Variance

Over (Under)

OPERATING REVENUE:
Customer Billings $879,320.00 $659,493.00 $661,397.83 $1,904.83

Total Operating Revenue 879,320.00 659,493.00 661,397.83 1,904.83

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries 422,367.00 316,764.00 322,837.76 6,073.76
Fringe Benefits 218,459.00 163,845.00 156,118.87 (7,726.13)
Operation & Maintenance 51,000.00 38,259.00 34,778.34 (3,480.66)
Office & Administration 800.00 603.00 0.00 (603.00)
Insurance 17,300.00 12,978.00 12,975.03 (2.97)
Admin Allocation 36,558.00 27,423.00 26,727.27 (695.73)
Engineering Allocation 12,294.00 9,225.00 6,846.46 (2,378.54)
Water Quality Allocation 108,593.00 81,441.00 72,105.78 (9,335.22)
NYS Administrative Assessment 4,537.00 3,402.00 0.00 (3,402.00)

Total Operating Expenses 871,908.00 653,940.00 632,389.51 (21,550.49)

Total Operating Income 7,412.00 5,553.00 29,008.32 23,455.32

NON-OPERATING REVENUE …

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 7,412.00 5,553.00 29,008.32 23,455.32

Water Sewer Contracts
Change In Net Position

For the Nine Months Ending Thursday, December 31, 2020

10 of 12
Change in Net Position Summary - Current

1/28/2021
2:57 PM

33



GL Account Description
Annual
Budget

YTD
Budget

Actual
YTD

YTD
Variance

Over (Under)

OPERATING REVENUE:
Customer Billings $1,266,025.00 $949,518.00 $861,851.80 ($87,666.20)

Total Operating Revenue 1,266,025.00 949,518.00 861,851.80 (87,666.20)

OPERATING EXPENSES
Depreciation & Amortization 27,800.00 20,853.00 22,477.78 1,624.78
Salaries 701,261.00 525,942.00 467,699.16 (58,242.84)
Fringe Benefits 310,728.00 233,061.03 217,238.65 (15,822.38)
Operation & Maintenance 89,200.00 66,897.00 40,685.46 (26,211.54)
Office & Administration 69,161.00 51,867.00 24,222.89 (27,644.11)
Insurance 26,600.00 19,953.00 19,950.03 (2.97)
Professional Fees 500.00 378.00 0.00 (378.00)
Automobile 20,377.00 15,282.00 11,133.66 (4,148.34)
Computer Expenses 36,806.00 27,603.00 32,368.17 4,765.17
Admin Allocation 55,463.00 41,598.00 40,486.33 (1,111.67)
Engineering Allocation (82,956.00) (62,217.00) (60,203.94) 2,013.06
NYS Administrative Assessment 6,957.00 5,220.00 0.00 (5,220.00)

Total Operating Expenses 1,261,897.00 946,437.03 816,058.19 (130,378.84)

Total Operating Income 4,128.00 3,080.97 45,793.61 42,712.64

NON-OPERATING REVENUE …

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 4,128.00 3,080.97 45,793.61 42,712.64

Engineering
Change In Net Position

For the Nine Months Ending Thursday, December 31, 2020

11 of 12
Change in Net Position Summary - Current

1/28/2021
2:57 PM

34



GL Account Description
Annual
Budget

YTD
Budget

Actual
YTD

YTD
Variance

Over (Under)

OPERATING REVENUE:
Customer Billings $162,510.00 $121,887.00 $100,192.47 ($21,694.53)
Grant Revenue 1,369,000.00 1,026,747.00 512,994.77 (513,752.23)
Loan Interest Income 697,000.00 522,747.00 495,271.34 (27,475.66)
Other Income 42,500.00 31,869.00 33,560.11 1,691.11

Total Operating Revenue 2,271,010.00 1,703,250.00 1,142,018.69 (561,231.31)

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries 370,516.00 277,884.00 237,531.74 (40,352.26)
Fringe Benefits 161,895.00 121,419.00 106,237.71 (15,181.29)
Operation & Maintenance 12,000.00 9,000.00 3,410.00 (5,590.00)
Community Benefits 103,766.00 77,823.00 103,765.74 25,942.74
Office & Administration 16,200.00 12,190.50 4,193.23 (7,997.27)
Bad Debt Expense 0.00 0.00 (21,596.46) (21,596.46)
Professional Fees 183,627.00 137,740.50 51,683.61 (86,056.89)
Computer Expenses 750.00 567.00 0.00 (567.00)
Grants 1,517,500.00 1,138,122.00 1,107,545.66 (30,576.34)
Admin Allocation 159,176.00 119,385.00 115,923.56 (3,461.44)
Engineering Allocation 4,260.00 3,195.00 1,882.86 (1,312.14)

Total Operating Expenses 2,529,690.00 1,897,326.00 1,710,577.65 (186,748.35)

Total Operating Income (258,680.00) (194,076.00) (568,558.96) (374,482.96)

NON-OPERATING REVENUE …
Interest Income 382,280.00 286,704.00 170,969.20 (115,734.80)
Interest Expense (3,500.00) (2,628.00) 0.00 2,628.00

     Total Non-Operating Expe… 378,780.00 284,076.00 170,969.20 (113,106.80)

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 120,100.00 90,000.00 (397,589.76) (487,589.76)

Regional Development
Change In Net Position

For the Nine Months Ending Thursday, December 31, 2020

12 of 12
Change in Net Position Summary - Current

1/28/2021
2:57 PM

35



 

APPROVING DISPOSITION OF REAL PROPERTY POLICY 
 
 

 Whereas, the Development Authority of the North Country operates according to 
Board policies and administrative guidelines as may be amended from time to time, and 
 
 Whereas, Public Authorities Law requires that the Disposition of Real Property 
Policy of the Development Authority of the North Country be reviewed and approved 
annually, and 
 
 Whereas, the Disposition of Real Property Policy of the Development Authority of 
the  North Country is posted on the Development Authority’s website, and  
 
 Whereas, executive management has reviewed and recommends approval of the 
Disposition of Real Property Policy without modification. 
 
 Now, upon the recommendation of the Governance Committee, therefore be it 
 
 
 RESOLVED, that the Development Authority of the North Country does 
hereby approve the Disposition of Real Property Policy, attached hereto and 
incorporated in this Resolution.   
 
 

Board Resolution No. 2021-02-34 
February 25, 2021 

36



Development Authority of the North Country 
Governance Policies 
 
Subject:  Disposition of Real Property Policy 
Adopted:  February 25, 2021 
Resolution:  2021-02-34  

 

 

 

ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 2896 OF THE PUBLIC AUTHORITIES LAW 

 

 

SECTION 1.  DEFINITIONS 

 
 A. "Contracting officer" shall mean the officer or employee of the Development   
  Authority of the North Country (hereinafter, the "Authority") who shall be 
  appointed by resolution to be responsible for the disposition of property. The designated  
  Contracting Officer for the Authority is the Chief Financial Officer. 
 B. "Dispose" or "disposal" shall mean transfer of title or any other beneficial interest 
  in personal or real property in accordance with section 2897 of the Public Authorities  
  Law. 

C. "Property" shall mean personal property in excess of five thousand dollars ($5,000) in 
value, and real property, and any addition or other interest in such property, to the extent 
that such interest may be conveyed to another person for any purpose, excluding an 
interest securing a loan or other financial obligation of another party. 

 
SECTION 2.  DUTIES 

 

 A. The Authority shall: 
1. maintain adequate inventory controls and accountability systems for all property 

owned by the Authority and under its control; 
2. periodically inventory such property to determine which property shall be 

   disposed of; 
3. produce a written report of such in accordance with subsection B herewith; and 
4. transfer or dispose of such property as promptly and practicably as possible in 

accordance with Section 3 below. 
 
 B. The Authority shall: 

1. publish, not less frequently than annually, a report listing all real property owned 
in fee by the Authority. Such report shall consist of a list and full description of 
all real and personal property disposed of during such period. The report shall 
contain the price received by the Authority and the name of the purchaser for all 
such property sold by the Authority during such period; and 

2. such report shall be published on the Public Authorities Reporting Information 
System (PARIS) within 90 days from the end of the fiscal year.   

 

 

 

 

37



SECTION 3. TRANSFER OR DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY 

 
 A. Supervision and Direction. Except as otherwise provided herein, the duly appointed  
  contracting officer (the "Contracting Officer") shall have supervision and direction  
  over the disposition and sale of property of the Authority. The Authority shall have  
  the right to dispose of its property for any valid corporate purpose. 
 B. Custody and Control. The custody and control of Authority property, pending its   
  disposition, and the disposal of such property, shall be performed by the Authority or  
  by the Commissioner of General Services when so authorized under this section. 
 C. Method of Disposition. Unless otherwise permitted, the Authority shall dispose of  
  property for not less than its fair market value by sale, exchange, or transfer, for cash,  
  credit, or other property, with or without warranty, and upon such other terms and  
  conditions as the Authority and/or Contracting Officer deems proper. The Authority  
  may execute such documents for the transfer of title or other interest in property and  
  take such other action as it deems necessary or proper to dispose of such property   
  under the provisions of this section. Provided, however, except in compliance with all  
  applicable law, no disposition of real property, any interest in real property, or any  
  other property which because of its unique nature is not subject to fair market pricing  
  shall be made unless an appraisal of the value of such property has been made by an  
  independent appraiser and included in the record of the transaction. 
 

Should the Authority deem the property to have no market value, but another government 
entity would have use for the property, for example teaching purposes, the Authority 
would declare a surplus and sell the property for $1.00.   

 
 D. Sales by the Commissioner of General Services (the "Commissioner"). When the 

Authority shall have deemed that transfer of property by the Commissioner will be 
advantageous to the State of New York, the Authority may enter into an agreement with 
the Commissioner who may dispose of property of the Authority under terms and 
conditions agreed to by the Authority and the Commissioner.  In disposing of any such 
property, the Commissioner shall be bound by the terms hereof and references to the 
Contracting Officer shall be deemed to refer to such Commissioner. 

 E. Validity of Deed, Bill of Sale, Lease, or Other Instrument.  A deed, bill of sale, 
  lease, or other instrument executed by or on behalf of the Authority, purporting to  
  transfer title or any other interest in property of the Authority in accordance herewith  
  shall be conclusive evidence of compliance with the provisions of these guidelines  
  and all applicable law insofar as concerns title or other interest of any bona fide   
  grantee or transferee who has given valuable consideration for such title or other   
  interest and has not received actual or constructive notice of lack of such compliance  
  prior to the closing. 
 F. Bids for Disposal; Advertising; Procedure; Disposal by Negotiation; Explanatory 
  Statement. 
 

1. Except as permitted by all applicable law, all disposals or contracts for disposal of 
 property made or authorized by the Authority shall be made after publicly 
 advertising for bids except as provided in subsection (3) of this Section F. 

 
 
 
 

38



  2. Whenever public advertising for bids is required under subsection (1) of this  
   Section F: 
 
    a. the advertisement for bids shall be made at such time prior to the  
     disposal or contract, through such methods, and on such terms and  
     conditions as shall permit full and free competition consistent with  
     the value and nature of the property proposed for disposition; 
    b. all bids shall be publicly disclosed at the time and place stated in  
     the advertisement; and 
    c. the award shall be made with reasonable promptness by notice to  
     the responsible bidder whose bid, conforming to the invitation for  
     bids, will be most advantageous to the Authority, price and other  
     factors  considered; provided, that all bids may be rejected at the  
     Authority's discretion. 
 
  3. Disposals and contracts for disposal of property may be negotiated or made by  
   public auction without regard to subsections (1) and (2) of this Section F but  
   subject to obtaining such competition as is feasible under the circumstances,  
   if: 
 
    a. the personal property involved is of a nature and quantity   
     which, if disposed of under subsections (1) and (2) of this   
     Section F, would adversely affect the state or local market for  
     such property, and the estimated fair market value of such   
     property and other satisfactory terms of disposal can be   
     obtained by negotiation; 
    b. the fair market value of the property does not exceed fifteen  
     thousand dollars; 
    c. bid prices after advertising therefore are not reasonable, either  
     as to all or some part of the property, or have not been   
     independently arrived at in open competition; 
    d. the disposal will be to the state or any political subdivision, and  
     the estimated fair market value of the property and other   
     satisfactory terms of disposal are obtained by negotiation; 
    e. the disposal is for an amount less than the estimated fair market  
     value of the property, the terms of such disposal are obtained  
     by public auction or negotiation, the disposal of the property is  
     intended to further the public health, safety or welfare or an  
     economic development interest of the Authority, the state or a  
     political subdivision (to include but not limited to, the prevention  
     or remediation of a substantial threat to public health or safety, the  
     creation or retention of a substantial number of job opportunities,  
     or the creation or retention of a substantial source of revenues, or  
     where the authority's enabling legislation permits or other   
     economic development initiatives), the purpose and the terms of  
     such disposal are documented in writing and approved by   
     resolution of the board of the Authority; or     
   
    f. such action is otherwise authorized by law. 
 
 

39



 
 
 
 
  4. A. An explanatory statement shall be prepared of the circumstances of 
    each disposal by negotiation of: 
 
    1. any personal property which has an estimated fair market value in  
     excess of fifteen thousand dollars; 
    2. any real property that has an estimated fair market value in excess  
     of one hundred thousand dollars, except that any real property  
     disposed of by lease or exchange shall only be subject to clauses  
     (3) through (5) of this subparagraph; 
    3. any real property disposed of by lease for a term of five years or  
     less, if the estimated fair annual rent is in excess of one hundred  
     thousand dollars for any of such years; 
    4. any real property disposed of by lease for a term of more than five  
     years, if the total estimated rent over the term of the lease is in  
     excess of one hundred thousand dollars; or 
    5. any real property or real and related personal property disposed of  
     by exchange, regardless of value, or any property any part of the  
     consideration for which is real property. 
 

B. Each such statement shall be transmitted to the persons entitled to receive 
 copies of the report required under all applicable law not less than ninety 
 (90) days in advance of such disposal, and a copy thereof shall be 
 preserved in the files of the Authority making such disposal. 

 
 
The Guidelines are subject to modification and amendment at the discretion of the Authority board and 
shall be filed annually with all local and state agencies as required under all applicable law. 
 
 
 
Revision/Review Approval Date:  April 10, 2007 
Revision/Review Approval Date:  March 27, 2008 
Revision/Review Approval Date:  March 13, 2009 
Revision/Review Approval Date:  May 26, 2011 
Revision Date:  March 22, 2012; Resolution No. 2012-03-02 
Revision Date:  March 21, 2013; Resolution No. 2013-03-02 
Revision Date:  March 20, 2014; Resolution No. 2014-03-09 
Revision Date:  March 19, 2015; Resolution No. 2015-03-31 
Revision Date:  March 31, 2016; Resolution No. 2016-03-38 
Revision Date:  March 23, 2017; Resolution No. 2017-03-28 
Revision Date:  March 28, 2018; Resolution No. 2018-03-34 
Revision Date:  February 28, 2019; Resolution No. 2019-02-03 
Revision Date:  May 28, 2020; Resolution No. 2020-05-51 
Revision Date:  February 25, 2021; Resolution No. 2021-02-34 
 
 
 

40



 

APPROVING INVESTMENT POLICY 
 

 Whereas, the Development Authority of the North Country operates according to 
Board policies and administrative guidelines as may be amended from time to time, and 
 
 Whereas, Public Authorities Law requires that the Investment Policy of the 
Development Authority of the North Country be reviewed and approved annually, and 
 
 Whereas, the Investment Policy of the Development Authority of the North Country 
is posted on the Development Authority’s website, and 
 
 Whereas, executive management has reviewed and recommends approval of the 
Investment Policy as amended. 
 
 Now, upon the recommendation of the Governance Committee, therefore be it 
 
 RESOLVED, that the Development Authority of the North Country does 
hereby approve the Investment Policy, attached hereto and incorporated in this 
Resolution.   
 
 
 

Board Resolution No. 2021-02-35 
February 25, 2021 

41



Development Authority of the North Country 
Governance Policies 
 
Subject:  Investment Policy 
Adopted:  February 25, 2021 
Resolution: 2021-02-35 

 

Table of Contents 
 
SECTION 1.0  TITLE..................................................................................................................... 2 

SECTION 2.0  PURPOSE .............................................................................................................. 2 

SECTION 3.0  DEFINITIONS ....................................................................................................... 2 

SECTION 4.0  PERMITTED INVESTMENTS ............................................................................ 2 

SECTION 5.0  SECURITY OF INVESTMENTS ......................................................................... 3 

SECTION 6.0  WRITTEN CONTRACTS AND PROCEDURES ................................................ 4 

SECTION 7.0  COLLATERAL, INSURANCE AND VALUATION OF COLLATERAL ......... 4 

SECTION 8.0  STANDARDS FOR DIVERSIFICATION OF INVESTMENTS ........................ 5 

SECTION 9.0  STANDARDS FOR THE QUALIFICATION OF INVESTMENT BANKERS, 
BROKERS, AGENTS, DEALERS AND OTHER INVESTMENT ADVISORS 
AND AGENTS TRANSACTING BUSINESS WITH THE DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY OF THE NORTH COUNTRY; CONFLICTS OF INTEREST .... 6 

SECTION 10.0  OPERATIONS AND MANAGEMENT ............................................................. 7 

SECTION 11.0  ANNUAL AUDIT OF INVESTMENTS ............................................................ 8 

SECTION 12.0  INVESTMENT MANAGER REPORTS ............................................................ 8 

SECTION 13.0  PUBLIC AUTHORITY REPORTING INFORMATION SYSTEM 
REPORTING ....................................................................................................... 9 

SECTION 14.0  THIRD PARTY RIGHTS; VALIDITY OF CONTRACTS; ETC. ..................... 9 

SECTION 15.0  EFFECTIVE DATE; ANNUAL REVIEW ....................................................... 10 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

42



GUIDELINES FOR INVESTMENTS 
 BY THE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE NORTH COUNTRY 

 
 

SECTION 1.0  TITLE 
 

The policy shall be known as the “Investment Policy by the Development Authority 
of the North Country”, “ or the “Investment Policy”.   

 
SECTION 2.0  PURPOSE 
 

The purpose of the Investment Policy is to establish comprehensive guidelines 
which detail the operative policy and instructions to officers and staff of the 
Development Authority of the North Country regarding the investing, monitoring 
and reporting of Funds.  Its purpose is to comply with Title VII of the New York 
Public Authorities Law, and to create a reasonable rate of return to the 
Development Authority in accordance with sound investment practices.   

 
SECTION 3.0  DEFINITIONS 
 

1. “Funds” means all monies and other financial resources available for 
investment by the Development Authority of the North Country on its own 
behalf or on the behalf of any other entity or individual.  Funds shall not include 
pension funds, which are separately administered pursuant to State and 
Federal law. 

 
2. “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Development Authority of the 

North Country. 
 
3. “State” means the State of New York.   

 
SECTION 4.0  PERMITTED INVESTMENTS 
 

The following is a list of the permitted investments that may be made by the 
Development Authority of the North Country with the Funds, all of which 
investments must be made in a manner and upon such terms as are consistent 
with the appropriate provisions of law relating to the Development Authority of the 
North Country, Board policy directives, and the limitations contained in contracts 
with bond or note holders:   

 
1. Obligations of the United States of America or the State; 
 
2. Obligations, the principal and interest of which are guaranteed, or insured by 

the United States of America or the State; 
 
3. Government Agency Bonds; 
 

 

43



 
4. Bankers’ acceptances of, or certificates of deposit or other interest bearing 

depository accounts issued by, or time deposits with, any bank or trust 
company or national banking association secured by obligations of the United 
States or the State, of a market value equal at all times to or greater than the 
amount of the investment; 

 
5. Repurchase agreements with any bank or trust company, national banking 

association or government bond broker dealer reporting to, trading with, and 
recognized as a primary government securities dealer by the Federal Reserve 
Bank of New York (listed on the then-current “List of the Government 
Securities Dealers Reporting to the Market Reports Division of the Federal 
Reserve of Bank of New York”), which agreement is secured by obligations of 
the United States or the State of a market value equal at all times to the 
amount of the investment.   

 
6. General obligation bonds or notes of a municipality issued pursuant to the New 

York State Local Finance Law. Investments will be limited to municipalities 
located within the Development Authority’s service area as defined by statute 
and are participants in the Solid Waste Management Participation Agreement 
dated August 26, 1993 and as amended. 

 
SECTION 5.0  SECURITY OF INVESTMENTS 
 
The following procedures shall be followed in order to fully secure the Development 
Authority of the North Country’s financial interest in investment:   
 

1. Investments shall be guaranteed or insured by the United States of America or 
the State, or be secured with the securities of the same.   

 
2. Investments may also be made with such security as may be permitted to be 

made by agencies and public benefit corporations of the State from time to 
time.  

  
3. An investment of Funds may be less than fully secured in the event that any 

one of the following occurs: 
 

a. in the opinion of the Board, the yield on the investment outweighs the risk 
of loss;  
 

b. it involves an investment of less than $25,000;  
 
c. it is an investment with a duration of less than one (1) week 

 
d. it involves the purchase of general obligation bonds or notes of a 

municipality issued pursuant to the New York State Local Finance Law 
approved by the Board. 

 
 

44



SECTION 6.0  WRITTEN CONTRACTS AND PROCEDURES 
 
The Development Authority of the North Country shall enter into written contracts 
pursuant to which investments are made, except if the Executive Director or Chief 
Financial Officer, shall determine that: 
 

1. a written contract is not practical; or 
 

2. there is no regular business practice of executing written contracts with 
respect to a particular investment or transaction.   

 
3. In situations where there is no written contract for a particular investment, the 

Development Authority of the North Country shall follow such procedures as 
are appropriate to protect its financial interest.  

 
4. Such written contracts or procedures shall include provisions so that: 

 
a. The Development Authority of the North Country’s financial interest in an 

investment or transaction is secured in an appropriate manner; 
 
b. The use, type and amount of collateral or insurance is established; 
 
c. There is an established method for valuation of collateral and procedures 

for monitoring such valuation on a regular basis; 
 
d. There is an established mechanism for the monitoring, control, deposit and 

retention of investments and collateral including, in the case of a 
repurchase agreement, that obligations purchased be physically delivered 
for retention to the Development Authority of the North Country or its agent 
(which shall not be an agent of the party with whom the Development 
Authority of the North Country enters the repurchase agreement), unless 
such obligations are issued in book-entry form, in which case the 
Development Authority of the North Country shall take such other action as 
may be necessary to obtain title to, or a perfected security interest in, such 
obligations.  “Open” or continuing agreements shall not be made.  

 
SECTION 7.0  COLLATERAL, INSURANCE AND VALUATION OF COLLATERAL 
 

1. The use, type and amount of collateral or insurance for each investment shall 
equal or exceed the amount of such Investment, except upon resolution by the 
Board. 

 
2. Collateral held by the Development Authority of the North Country or its agent 

shall be valued either at its current value on regularly traded money market or 
stock market exchange and shall be one year or less in maturity.  The 
valuation of such collateral shall be monitored on a regular basis, as 
determined by the Executive Director or Chief Financial Officer of the 
Development Authority of the North Country.  

  

45



3. All investments and collateral shall be controlled and managed by the 
Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer or Accountant IComptroller of the 
Development Authority of the North Country and shall, if practicable, be 
deposited and secured in fire-proof or other safe locations. 

 
4. Except where such an arrangement is impractical or not done in the ordinary 

course of business for investment transactions of that kind, payment of Funds 
should only be made against the delivery of collateral or other acceptable form 
of security, the delivery of government obligations when such obligations are 
purchased outright, or the delivery of the underlying securities when a 
repurchase agreement is involved.  Custodians should be required to report 
periodically as appropriate on transactions involving the Development 
Authority of the North Country, and must have the written consent of the 
Development Authority of the North Country to transfer collateral.  Telephonic 
communications should be confirmed in writing within a commercially 
acceptable period of time.    

 
5. On a monthly basis, staff designated by the Executive Director or Chief 

Financial Officer shall verify the status of investments (and collateral if 
necessary) to determine that the financial interests of the Development 
Authority of the North Country are adequately protected.   

 
6. Where appropriate, specific guidelines regarding margin maintenance should 

be established, taking into consideration (1) the size and terms of the 
transaction, (2) the type of underlying security, (3) the maturity of the 
underlying collateral, (4) the capitalization, financial status and type of 
purchaser and/or seller and (5) the method by which additional margin will be 
maintained.   

 
SECTION 8.0  STANDARDS FOR DIVERSIFICATION OF INVESTMENTS 
 

1. Investments of the Development Authority of the North Country shall be 
reasonably diversified, as shall the investment firms or banks with which the 
Development Authority of the North Country transacts investment business.  
This Section 8 shall not be construed so as to mandate absolute diversification 
in the event that the Board, Executive Director or Chief Financial Officer of the 
Development Authority of the North Country considers, in a certain instance, 
that diversification is not in the best interests of the Development Authority of 
the North Country.   

 
2. In making permitted investments, selection of investment shall be 

competitively based except in the case of the purchase of general obligation 
bonds or notes issued by a municipality that are approved by the Board.  A 
complete and continuous record of all bids or quotes, both solicited and 
unsolicited, shall be maintained.  Not less than three (3), if possible, 
investment options with similar risk and term should be considered, and the 
investment should be made in the one offering the highest yield.   

 

46



3. The process of initiating, reviewing and approving requests to buy and sell 
investments shall be documented by the Executive Director, Chief Financial 
Officer or Accountant IComptroller of the Development Authority of the North 
Country.  Telephonic communications must be confirmed in writing within a 
commercially acceptable period of time.   
 

 
SECTION 9.0  STANDARDS FOR THE QUALIFICATION OF INVESTMENT 

BANKERS, BROKERS, AGENTS, DEALERS AND OTHER 
INVESTMENT ADVISORS AND AGENTS TRANSACTING BUSINESS 
WITH THE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE NORTH COUNTRY; 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

 
1. The Development Authority of the North Country shall transact business only 

with qualified, certified or licensed investment bankers, brokers, agents, 
dealers and other investment advisors and agents.  The Development 
Authority of the North Country shall consider the quality, reliability, experience, 
capitalization, size and any other appropriate factors that, in the judgment of 
the Development Authority of the North Country, make an individual or firm 
qualified to transact business with the Development Authority of the North 
Country on investment matters.  

 
2. Specifically, but without limitation, the following shall be considered qualified: 

 
a. As investment bankers, brokers, agents and dealers:  any bank or trust 

company organized under the laws of the State or the United States of 
America, or any government bond broker dealer reporting to, trading with, 
and recognized as a primary government securities dealer by the Federal 
Reserve Bank of New York (listed on the then current “List of the 
Government Securities Dealers Reporting to the Market Reports Division of 
the Federal Reserve Bank of New York”. 

 
b. As investment advisors:  any bank or trust company organized under the 

laws of the State or the United States of America, and any person, firm or 
corporation that is:  (a) Registered with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission under the Investment Advisor Act of 1940, (b) Registered with 
the Secretary of State as an Investment Advisor, and (c) A member in good 
standing of the Investment Counsel Association of America.   

 
c. As Custodian:  any bank or trust company organized under the laws of the 

State or the United States of America.   
 

3. An approved list of dealers may be established by the Board. 
 

4. Investment business may not be transacted with any institution or dealers of 
which a Board member, a senior Development Authority of the North Country 
officer, or any other officer or employee of the Development Authority of the 
North Country authorized to participate in the selection of such institutions or 
dealers is an officer, director, stockholders, member or partner, if such 

47



transaction would violate the prohibitions of Section 73 of the New York Public 
Officers Law or other applicable provisions of law.   

 
 
SECTION 10.0  OPERATIONS AND MANAGEMENT 
 

1. Within the Development Authority of the North Country, the Executive Director 
approves, in writing, all investment transactions.  Purchases of general 
obligation bonds or notes of a municipality issued pursuant to the New York 
State Finance Law must be approved in advance by the Board.  The Chief 
Financial Officer or Accountant IComptroller executes the approved 
transactions.  The Accountant I tracks, reconciles and records entries to the 
General Ledger on a monthly basis and reconciles the bank statements on a 
monthly basis.  The Chief Financial OfficerComptroller reviews in detail, the 
deposits and withdrawals of each of the reconciled bank statements and 
supporting documentation, on a monthly basis, and approves.   Custodial 
functions shall be separately maintained.  The Executive Director, Chief 
Financial Officer, and Deputy Comptroller are the management staff that has 
board authorization as bank signatories.  The Chief Financial Officer and 
Accountant IComptroller do not have the board authorization to solely make 
investments.   

 
2. All investment transactions, including (1) the disbursement of Funds for 

investment, (2) the delivery of securities, and (3) the corresponding receipt of 
securities or Funds, shall be approved in writing, by the Executive Director, 
and the actual, approved transfer, completed by the Chief Financial Officer or 
Accountant IComptroller. 

 
3. The Investment Policy hereby prohibits any and all Third Party transactions 

from any of the Development Authority investment accounts.  Inter-company 
transfers and bond indenture requirements will be permitted.     

 
4. Testing of the investment practices and controls (including proper execution 

and completion of required documentation) shall be periodically done by the 
Compliance OfficerComptroller, or designee and independent auditors. 

 
5. Collateral should be verified at least annuallymonthly by the Chief Financial 

Officer or Accountant IComptroller, designated for such purpose by the 
Executive Director.   

 
6. The Investment Policy or policies of the Development Authority of the North 

Country should be subject to continual review and revised as necessary to 
reflect changes in market conditions.   

 
7. Review of compliance with Investment Policy and related procedures should 

be part of the annual certification by independent auditors.  This should include 
confirmation letters from each bank verifying the obligations securing the 
Development Authority of the North Country deposits. 

 

48



8. The Investment Manager is required to provide the Finance & Budget 
Committee with the actual costs associated with managing the Development 
Authority of the North Country accounts upon request and no more frequently 
than annually. 

 
9. The Investment Manager is required to disclose the turnover on the 

Development Authority of the North Country accounts on an annual basis. 
 
10. The Investment Manager is required to provide the Chief Financial Officer 

Finance & Budget Committee with Benchmarks and Index comparisons on a 
quarterly basis.  The Chief Financial Officer shall report such index 
comparisions to the Finance & Budget CommitteeBoard of Directors yearly. 

 
11. The Management Staff is required to complete an annual comparison of costs. 
 
12. The Management Staff is required to review turnover to determine if there is 

excessive buying and selling which would increase costs. 
 
13. An examination of the market is required every five years to determine if the 

costs associated with managing the Development Authority of the North 
Country’s accounts is in line.   

 
 

SECTION 11.0  ANNUAL AUDIT OF INVESTMENTS 
 

The Development Authority of the North Country shall annually engage a firm 
qualified to conduct an independent audit of all investments.  The results of the 
audit shall be made available to the Board within 90 days of the end of the fiscal 
year.  The Development Authority’s financial statements should contain note 
disclosures on deposits with financial institutions and investments, as required by 
Government Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 3, effective for financial 
statements for periods ending after December 15, 1986. 
 

 
SECTION 12.0  INVESTMENT MANAGER REPORTS 
 

Quarterly reports or reports covering such other period as may be approved by 
the Board shall be prepared by the Investment Manager and filed by the 
Executive Director or Chief Financial Officer with the Authority Treasurer and 
Finance Committee regarding:  

   
1. The maximization/performance of investments 

 
2. The inventory of existing investments (available upon request) 

 
3.  The selection of investment bankers, brokers, agents, dealers or auditors, if      

appropriate, since the last report. 
 

49



On an annual basis, a formal presentation will be made to the Board by the 
Investment Manager as to the current Investment status. 
 

 
SECTION 13.0  PUBLIC AUTHORITY REPORTING INFORMATION SYSTEM 
REPORTING 
 

The Development Authority of the North Country shall prepare and submit an 
annual investment report as required under Public Authority law; which will 
include: 

 
1. These Investment Guidelines as then currently amended. 
 
2. A description of any amendments to these Investment Guidelines since the 

last annual investment report. 
 
3. An explanation of these Investment Guidelines as amended. 
 
4. The results of the annual independent audit.   
 
5. The investment income of the Development Authority of the North Country for 

the previous year. 
 
6. A list of the total fees, commissions or other charges paid to each investment 

banker, broker, agent, dealer and advisor that or who rendered investment 
associated services to the Development Authority of the North Country since 
the last annual investment report.  The annual investment report may be a part 
of any other annual report that the Development Authority of the North Country 
is required to make.  

 
Such report shall be submitted electronically in the Public Authority Information 
System within 90 days from the end of the Authority’s Fiscal Year. 

 
SECTION 14.0  THIRD PARTY RIGHTS; VALIDITY OF CONTRACTS; ETC. 
 

1. The Investment Policy is intended for the guidance of the Board, officers and 
employees of the Development Authority of the North Country only, and 
nothing contained herein is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any 
person, firm or corporation any right, remedy, claim or benefit under, or by 
reason of any requirement or provision hereof. 

 
2. Nothing contained in the Investment Policy shall be deemed to alter, affect the 

validity of, modify the terms of or impair any contract or agreement made or 
entered into in violation of, or without compliance with, the provisions of these 
Guidelines.   

 
3. Where applicable Federal, State or local laws or regulations contain 

requirements that are in conflict with, or that impose greater obligations upon 
the Development Authority of the North Country than the Investment Policy, 

50



then such laws or regulations shall take precedence over those contained 
herein.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
SECTION 15.0  EFFECTIVE DATE; ANNUAL REVIEW 
 

The Investment Policy shall be effective as of the 1st day of January, 1986, may 
be amended from time to time, and shall be reviewed and approved on an annual 
basis by the Board.   

 
 
 
Revised:  November 10, 2005 
Revision/Review Approval Date:  April 10, 2007 
Revision/Review Approval Date:  March 27, 2008 
Revision Date:  March 31, 2009 
Revision Date:  July 2, 2009; Resolution No. 2009-07-06 
Revision Date:  October 25, 2010; Resolution No. 2010-10-04 
Revision Date:  May 26, 2011; Resolution No. 2011-05-04 
Revision Date:  March 22, 2012; Resolution No. 2012-03-01 
Revision Date:  March 21, 2013; Resolution No. 2013-03-01 
Revision Date:  March 20, 2014; Resolution No. 2014-03-08 
Revision Date:  March 19, 2015; Resolution No. 2015-03-30 
Revision Date:  March 31, 2016; Resolution No. 2016-03-37 
Revision Date:  March 23, 2017; Resolution No. 2017-03-24 
Revision Date:  March 28, 2018; Resolution No. 2018-03-31 
Revision Date:  February 28, 2019; Resolution No. 2019-02-01 
Revision Date:  May 28., 2020; Resolution No. 2020-05-49 
Revision Date:  February 25, 2021; Resolution No. 2021-02-35 
 

51



Board Resolution No. 2021-02-36 
February 25, 2021 

  
 

APPROVING PROCUREMENT POLICY 
 
 
 

 Whereas, the Development Authority of the North Country operates according to Board 
policies and administrative guidelines as may be amended from time to time, and 
 
 Whereas, Public Authorities Law requires that the Procurement Policy of the 
Development Authority of the North Country be reviewed and approved annually, and 
 
 Whereas, the Procurement Policy of the Development Authority of the North Country is 
posted on the Development Authority’s website, and 
 
 Whereas, executive management has reviewed and recommends approval of the 
Procurement Policy without modification. 
 
 Now, upon the recommendation of the Governance Committee, therefore be it 
 
 RESOLVED, that the Development Authority of the North Country does hereby 
approve the Procurement Policy, attached hereto and incorporated in this Resolution.   
 
 

52



Development Authority of the North Country Governance 
Policies 
 
Subject:  Procurement Policy 
Adopted:  February 25, 2021 
Resolution:  2021-02-36 

 

 

PROCUREMENT POLICY 

Table of Contents 
 

SECTION 1.0 PURPOSE ....................................................................................................................................... 2 

SECTION 2.0 DEFINITIONOF TERMS .............................................................................................................. 2 

SECTION 3.0 COMPETITIVE PROCUREMENT METHODS ........................................................................... 3 

SECTION 4.0 NON-COMPETITIVE PROCUREMENT METHODS ................................................................. 5 

SECTION 5.0 MONETARY PURCHASING THRESHOLDS ............................................................................ 6 

SECTION 6.0 PUBLICATION REQUIREMENTS FOR SOURCE SELECTION METHODS ......................... 6 

SECTION 7.0 REQUIREMENTS REGARDING THE SELECTION OF PROCUREMENT CONTRACTORS
 ................................................................................................................................................................................ 7 

SECTION 8.0 STANDARD PROVISIONS FOR PROCUREMENT CONTRACTS ........................................ 11 

SECTION 9.0  REPORT ON PROCUREMENT CONTRACTS ........................................................................ 12 

SECTION 10.0 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS .......................................................................................... 12 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

53



 
 
 
 
 

 

Procurement Policy 

 
 
SECTION 1.0 PURPOSE 
 

It is the policy of the Development Authority of the North Country (“the Authority”) to procure 
goods and services in a manner which assures: (i)  compliance with all applicable provisions of 
law governing procurements by the Authority; (ii)  the acquisition of quality goods and services 
which meet the Authority’s needs; (iii) fairness and  open competition; (iv) the wise and prudent 
use of the resources of the Authority; (v)  opportunities for certified Minority and Women-Owned 
Business Enterprises  in accordance with law; and (vi)  the avoidance of favoritism, 
extravagance, fraud and corruption. 
 
The Authority shall maintain written procedures consistent with this Policy concerning the 
solicitation, evaluation and selection of Contractors. These procedures shall  among other things, 
provide for the utilization of certified Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises, Service-
Disabled Veteran Owned Businesses, New York State Business Enterprises, New York State 
Residents and Small Businesses. Such procedures shall be developed by the Finance Division 
and recommended to the Executive Director for approval.    
 
This Policy is adopted in accordance with the Act (as defined below); applicable provisions of 
Public Authorities Law; and applicable Federal and State laws.  
 
 
 

SECTION 2.0 DEFINITION OF TERMS  
 

The following terms shall, for purposes of this Policy, have the following meanings unless the 
context shall clearly indicate otherwise: 

  
1. “Act” shall mean the Development Authority of the North Country Act found at Title 29, Article 

8 of the New York State Public Authorities Law. 
  
2.  “Authority” shall mean the Development Authority of the North Country.  

 
3.  “Competitive Basis” shall mean the utilization of any of the competitive procurement methods 

enumerated in Section 3.1 of this Policy. 
 

4. “Contract for Professional Services” shall mean any written agreement for services involving 
the exercise of discretion, knowledge or expertise that are performed for fee, commission or 
other compensation by persons or organizations, not providing such services in their 
capacities as an Officer or employee of the Authority. Professional Services include, but are 
not limited to, legal, accounting, management consulting, investment banking, financial 
services, insurance, planning, training, statistical research, public relations, architectural, 
engineering, surveying or any other services of a consulting, technical or professional nature.   

 

54



5. “Contractor” shall mean any contractor, consultant or vendor who enters into a Procurement 
Contract to provide goods, materials, equipment or services to the Authority. 

 
6. “Exempt Contracts” shall mean any written agreement for goods or services for which a 

procurement process is impractical and may be awarded on other than a competitive 
basis.  Such exempt contacts may include services provided by legal monopolies, for 
example utilities. Exempt Contracts require the approval of the Executive Director or his or 
her designee. 

 
7. “Minority-Owned Business Enterprise” shall have the same meaning ascribed thereto by 

Article 15-A of the Executive Law, as same may be amended.  
  

8. “New York State Business Enterprise” shall mean a business enterprise, including a sole 
proprietorship, partnership, or corporation, which offers for sale or lease or other form of 
exchange, goods which are substantially manufactured, produced or assembled in New York 
State, or services which are substantially performed within New York State. For purposes of 
construction services, a New York State Business Enterprise shall mean a business 
enterprise, including a sole proprietorship, partnership or corporation, which has its principal 
place of business in New York State.  
 

9. “New York Resident” shall mean a natural person who maintains a fixed, permanent and 
principal home located within New York State and to which such person, whenever 
temporarily located elsewhere, always intends to return.  

 
10. “Officer” shall mean any person so defined in the By-Laws of the Authority. 

 
11. “Procurement Contract” shall mean any written agreement to which the Authority is a party 

for the acquisition of goods or services of any kind, including construction and public works.  
 
12. “Procurement Policy” shall mean the Procurement Policy of the Authority that is developed 

and authorized by the Board of Directors of the Authority. 
 

13. “Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business” shall have the same meaning ascribed 
thereto by Article 17-B of the Executive Law, as same may be amended. 

 
14. “Small Business” shall have the same meaning ascribed thereto by Article 15-A of the 

Executive Law, as same may be amended, and shall include a business which has a 
significant business presence in the State of New York, is independently owned and 
operated, not dominant in its field and employs, based on its industry, a certain number of 
persons as determined by the Director of the Division of Minority and Women’s Business 
Development, but not to exceed three hundred, taking into consideration factors which 
include, but are not limited to, Federal small business administration standards pursuant to 
13 CFR part 121 and any amendments thereto.  
 

15. “Women-Owned Business Enterprise” shall have the same meaning ascribed thereto by 
Article 15-A of the Executive Law as same may be amended. 

 
  SECTION 3.0 COMPETITIVE PROCUREMENT METHODS 
   
3.1  All procurements of goods and services shall be made by the Authority on a Competitive Basis 

except as otherwise provided in this Policy.  The competitive methods used to make 
procurements shall include: 

 

55

file://///admin-fs/Share/Procurement%20Committee/Procurement%20Policy%20Revisions/NYS%20Guidelines%20&%20%20Regs/ARTICLE%2015%20%20WMBE%20Respect%20to%20State%20Contracts.pdf
file://///admin-fs/Share/Procurement%20Committee/Procurement%20Policy%20Revisions/NYS%20Guidelines%20&%20%20Regs/ARTICLE%2015%20%20WMBE%20Respect%20to%20State%20Contracts.pdf
file://///admin-fs/Share/Procurement%20Committee/Procurement%20Policy%20Revisions/NYS%20Guidelines%20&%20%20Regs/ARTICLE%2015%20%20WMBE%20Respect%20to%20State%20Contracts.pdf
file://///admin-fs/Share/Procurement%20Committee/Procurement%20Policy%20Revisions/NYS%20Guidelines%20&%20%20Regs/ARTICLE%2015%20%20WMBE%20Respect%20to%20State%20Contracts.pdf


A.  Centralized Contracts. Services, goods or materials may be obtained through contracts or other 
arrangements of the New York State Office of General Services or the United States General 
Services Administration or contracts or other arrangements of local government provided that 
the procurement complies with applicable procurement laws, regulations and guidelines for the 
use of such contracts. 

  
B.   Comparative Pricing. Solicitation and compilation of qualified potential contractor quotes and 

comparative analysis of the cost of each good, material or service required. 
  
C.   Sealed Competitive Bid. Solicitation of sealed price bids by invitation and advertising for 

specified services (other than Professional Services), goods, materials, to be awarded to the 
lowest responsible bidder after the submission of a responsive bid.  

 
D.   Requests for Proposals. Solicitation of specific proposals for services and materials to 

determine the proposer’s understanding of identified financial, organizational, logistical and 
technical requirements.  Request for Proposals may also be used when there are problems 
detailing elements of performance including techniques and procedures as well as prices. Award 
of a Procurement Contract using this method is made on the basis of a formal evaluation of the 
qualifications of the proposers and the characteristics, quality and cost of such proposals. 

 
E.   Other Competitive Method. Any other competitive method of procurement that is consistent 

with the purposes of this Policy. 
 
3.2    For every contract awarded pursuant to sealed competitive bids, the Authority shall maintain 

procedures designed to ensure that the contract is awarded to the lowest responsible bidder 
submitting a bid that meets the specifications.  In determining responsibility, staff shall consider 
factors such as financial responsibility, reliability, skill, past performance by the contractor on 
Authority projects, judgment and integrity.  The written procedures shall further require, among 
other things, that: (i) to the extent required by law, there be separate specifications for major 
categories for work; (ii) all advertisements for sealed bids be published in the manner required 
by law and in such other publications as are appropriate to ensure reasonable competition; and 
(iii) the rationale for awarding the contract to other than the apparent low bidder be documented 
and retained in the procurement file.      

 
3.3   For every contract awarded pursuant to a request for proposal process, the Authority shall 

maintain procedures governing the solicitation, evaluation and selection of consultants and 
contractors designed to ensure that the contract is awarded to a responsible contractor 
evidencing proven experience with projects of the scope, magnitude and complexity of the type 
that are the subject of the contract and that the contractor has the ability to perform all work 
required in a professional and timely manner.  The written procedures shall require, among other 
things, that: (i) there be a written request for proposals setting forth the criteria and standards 
upon which the award is to be based;  (ii) the notice of request for proposals be published in the 
manner required by law and in such other publications as are appropriate to ensure reasonable 
competition; (iii) the rationale for awarding the contract be documented and retained in the 
procurement file; and (iv) any competitive negotiations with a proposer be in the best interests 
of the procurement and documented in the procurement file. 

 
3.4  The Authority shall, in addition to the procedures required above, maintain written procedures 

for any other method of competitive procurement to be used by the Authority.  These procedures 
shall, among other things: (i) identify the category of procurement to which the procedure 
relates; (ii) ensure reasonable competition given the cost and type of procurement; and (iii) 
require written documentation of the rationale for awarding the procurement. 

 

56



3.5   The Authority shall implement and maintain a procedure for reviewing inquiries from 
unsuccessful bidders and proposers.  Such process shall ensure that unsuccessful bidders and 
proposers are treated in a fair and equitable manner. 

 
 
SECTION 4.0 NON-COMPETITIVE PROCUREMENT METHODS 
 
4.1  The Authority, subject to the provisions of Section 4.2 of this Policy, shall not be required to use 

a competitive method of procurement in the following instances: 
 
A. Emergency Purchase.  In the case of an emergency arising out of an accident or other 

unforeseen occurrence or condition whereby circumstances affecting property or other interests 
of the Authority, or the life, health or safety of persons require immediate action, the Executive 
Director or his or her designee may authorize the procurement on other than a competitive 
basis.  For each such procurement, there shall be a written record setting forth the basis for 
concluding that there was an emergency and the methods used to identify the selected 
contractor. 

  
B. Discretionary Purchases  - SB/MWBE/SDVOB.  In accordance with New York State 

Procurement Guidelines, the Executive Director, or designee, of the Authority may authorize 
the purchase of commodities or services from Small Business concerns, certified Minority or 
Women-Owned Business Enterprises, Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business 
Enterprises, or commodities or technology that are recycled or remanufactured, in an amount 
not exceeding the threshold established per State Finance Law §163-6 without a formal 
competitive process. 

 
C. Discretionary Purchases – Small Purchases. The Authority may purchase commodities or 

services costing less than fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000), in the aggregate during the fiscal 
year, without requiring competitive quotations. 

 

D. Preferred Sources.  Goods or materials may be obtained from any provider which has been 
afforded Preferred Source status in accordance with Section 162 of the State Finance Law, such 
as the New York State Department of Correctional Services Division of Industries-Corcraft, 
Industries of the Blind of New York State, New York State Industries for the Disabled and New 
York State Office of Mental Health, which, by law, are exempt from competitive bidding or similar 
requirements.  
 

E. Single Source: A procurement in which, even though two or more firms can supply the required 
commodities or services, the  Executive Director, or designee, upon written findings setting forth 
the material and substantial reasons therefore, may award the contract to one offerer over the 
other.  For each such procurement, there shall be documented in the procurement record the 
circumstances leading to the selection of the vendor, including the alternatives considered, the 
rationale for selecting the specific vendor, and the basis upon which it determined the cost was 
reasonable (State Finance Law § 163(h)).  

 
F. Sole Source. A procurement in which only one offerer is capable of supplying the required 

commodities or services (State Finance Law § 163 (g)). The Executive Director, or designee, 
may authorize the award of a contract for that commodity or service on other than a competitive 
basis. A written record shall be made of the facts supporting such a sole source determination. 

 
G. Exempt Contracts. Other types of goods or services for which a competitive procurement 

process is impractical may be solicited on other than a competitive basis.  Such exempt contacts 
may include; services provided by legal monopolies, for example utilities.  Exempt Contracts 
require the approval of the Executive Director or his or her designee. 

 

57



 4.2    All procurements made pursuant to this Section shall be done in accordance with law and in 
furtherance of the purposes enumerated in Section 1.0 of this Policy.  In addition, even if 
procurements need not be made on a competitive basis under this Policy, the Authority will seek 
competition to the maximum extent practicable under the circumstances. 

 
 
SECTION 5.0 MONETARY THRESHOLDS FOR PROCUREMENT METHODS 
 
 The table below represents the minimum procurement methods that must be utilized with the 
associated monetary thresholds for purchases, unless using a non-competitive procurement method 
per Section 4.1 

 
 

Estimated Amount of Purchase 
 

 
Procurement Method 

Discretionary Purchases – Small Purchase: 
aggregate purchase < $15,000 

Non – Competitive Procurement 
 

Medium Purchase: aggregate purchase: ≥$15,000 
and <$50,000 

Written Quote(s)  

Large Purchase:  aggregate ≥ $50,000.00 Formal Bid, Request for Proposals, Centralized 
Contract, Preferred Source 

 
 
 
SECTION 6.0 PUBLICATION REQUIREMENTS FOR PROCUREMENT METHODS  
 
6.1   The following publication requirements shall apply to solicitations for Procurement Contracts: 
  
A.  Methods of obtaining Bids and Proposals. The solicitation of bids, proposals or submissions 

of qualification data or offers for Procurement Contracts shall be made by the Authority in a 
manner determined by the Authority to be the most cost effective or providing reasonable 
competition. For Procurement Contracts that must be awarded on a Competitive Basis, the 
requirements may include advertisement in appropriate newspapers or trade journals and may 
also include direct mailings to firms considered qualified and such other outreach mechanisms 
as are consistent with this Policy, including the Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprise 
and Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprise provisions herein. 

   
B.  New York State Contract Reporter – Contracts $50,000 or More. In the case of Procurement 

Contracts in the actual or estimated amount of fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) or more, the 
Authority will place a notice of all such opportunities in the New York State Contract Reporter.   
Procurement Contracts under $50,000 may be posted to New York State Contract Reporter if 
deemed beneficial to the Procurement.  

 
 The link to the NYS Contract Reporter is:  www.nyscr.org  
 
C.  Exemptions from Publication Requirement - The requirements above, relative to publications 

in the Contract Reporter, shall not apply to Procurement Contracts awarded pursuant to; 1) 
Centralized Contracts,  2) Emergency Contracts, 3) Exempt Contracts, 4) Preferred Sources, 5) 
Single Source, or 6) Sole Source.  

 
 
 
 

58

http://www.nyscr.org/


SECTION 7.0 REQUIREMENTS REGARDING THE SELECTION OF PROCUREMENT 
CONTRACTORS 
  
7.1   Contracts for Professional Services. The Authority shall award Contracts for Professional 

Services on a Competitive Basis unless the Procurement Contract is an Exempt Contract or is 
awarded using any of the non-competitive Source Selection Methods. Before entering into a 
Procurement Contract for Professional Services, the Authority should consider whether the 
contemplated services are best provided by Authority staff or external consultants. Capacity, 
expertise and cost shall be considered in making the determination. In addition, the Authority 
shall assure that the award of such contract is made to a Procurement Contractor evidencing 
proven experience with projects of the scope, magnitude and complexity that are the subject of 
the contract and that such contractor has the ability to perform all work required in a professional 
and timely manner. The Authority shall also consider factors such as financial responsibility, 
reliability, skill, past performance on Authority projects, judgment and integrity. As part of the 
competitive process, the Authority shall: 

  
1. Solicit proposals from several firms known to be qualified in the area of the service to be 

provided;  
 

2. Evaluate those proposals received on the basis of the proposers’ qualifications and other 
appropriate factors recited in the Request for Proposals. Contract price and fee may be the 
subject of Competitive Negotiation;  

 
3. Document the deliberative processes by which Contractors providing Professional Services 

are selected;   
 

4. Maintain written procedures to be used in connection with Requests for Proposals and 
Competitive Negotiations that are consistent with this Policy and that contain provisions 
relating to the solicitation, evaluation and selection of service contractors to which 
Procurement Contracts for Professional Services are to be awarded.  
 

5. Document the deliberative process in which the Procurement Contractor was determined to 
be Responsive and Responsible.  Request contractors to submit completed New York State 
Vendor Responsibility Questionnaires.  
 

7.2   Contracts for Construction. The award of construction contracts by the Authority will require 
contracts to be awarded pursuant to Competitive Bids. The award of separate contracts for the 
major categories of work, i.e., general contracting; plumbing; electrical, and heating, ventilating, 
and air conditioning, may be required. The Authority shall select its construction contractors 
competitively unless the Procurement Contract is an Exempt Contract or is made using any of 
the following Source Selection Methods: Emergency Contract or Sole Source. In addition, all 
Public Works Contracts will require compliance by contractors and subcontractors with the 
provisions of the Labor Law requiring the payment of prevailing wage rates.  

 
 Any method of procurement employed for any construction contract shall assure that the work is 

done by qualified and experienced Contractors at the lowest price to the Authority. If a contract 
is awarded on a Competitive Basis, the Authority shall assure that the award of such contract is 
made to a Contractor evidencing proven experience with projects of the scope, magnitude and 
complexity that are the subject of the contract and that such contractor has the ability to perform 
all work required in a professional and timely manner. In addition, the Authority shall consider 
factors such as financial responsibility, reliability, skill, past performance on Authority projects, 
judgment and integrity.  

 

59



 The Authority shall document the deliberative process in which the Contractor was determined 
to be responsive and responsible, and shall request contractors to submit completed New York 
State Vendor Responsibility Questionnaires.  

 
 The Authority shall maintain written procedures that are consistent with this Policy concerning 

the solicitation, evaluation and selection of Contractors to which Procurement Contracts for 
construction services are to be awarded. These procedures shall also provide for, among other 
things, the promotion of Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises, Service-Disabled 
Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises, New York State Business Enterprises, New York State 
Residents and Small Businesses.  

 
7.3   Procurement Contracts for Goods and Materials. The Authority shall award Procurement 

Contracts for goods, materials, fixtures, furnishings, equipment and service contracts such as 
maintenance services and waste disposal (other than for Professional Services and construction) 
on a Competitive Basis (including Competitive Bids) unless the Procurement Contract is an 
Exempt Contract or is made using one of the following Source Selection Methods: Centralized 
Contracts, Emergency Contracts, Preferred Source, Discretionary Purchases, Single Source or 
Sole Source.  
 

 The Authority shall maintain written procedures that are consistent with this Policy concerning 
the solicitation, evaluation and selection of vendors and suppliers to which Procurement 
Contracts for goods and materials shall be awarded. These procedures shall also provide for, 
among other things, the promotion of Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises, 
Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises, New York State Business Enterprises, 
New York State Residents and Small Businesses.  
 

7.4 Standardization. Where the Authority has determined that it is in its best interests to standardize 
on a particular make, manufacturer, model or licensed product for the efficient operation of its 
business, the Board may resolve to standardize on the specified make, manufacturer, model or 
licensed product for purchase. In that event any competitive procurement will identify in the bid 
or proposal’s specifications the standardized items that must be provided by the vendor, or 
source. 

 
7.5   Bidder Debriefing. In the event that an unsuccessful bidder or proposer requests the Authority 

to review the award of a Contract, the Authority shall afford the unsuccessful bidder or proposer 
the opportunity to review its bid or proposal with the Authority and provide the unsuccessful 
bidder or proposer with the basis for decision and award of the Procurement Contract. In the 
process of reviewing the bid or proposal of an unsuccessful bidder or proposer the Authority shall 
treat each bidder or proposer in a fair and equitable manner.  

 
7.6   Promotion of Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises. It is the goal of the 

Authority to (a) promote and assist participation by Certified Minority and Women-Owned 
Business Enterprises in competition for Procurement Contracts and to (b) award a fair share of 
Procurement Contracts to Certified Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises. It is also 
the Authority’s goal to award contracts to those contractors who have evidenced compliance with 
the laws of the State of New York prohibiting discrimination in employment. The Authority 
recognizes that this goal may be achieved by awarding Procurement Contracts to those firms 
who have demonstrated that they do not discriminate in employment. Furthermore, if a 
Contractor utilizes a subcontractor(s) in the performance of any Procurement Contract, said 
Procurement Contract, where required pursuant to Article 15-A of the Executive Law, shall 
require the Contractor to act affirmatively to secure participation by Certified Minority and 
Women-Owned Business Enterprises in such subcontract and to report the nature and extent of 
such efforts to the Authority. All Procurement Contracts, where required, shall be in compliance 
with Article 15-A of the Executive Law, as same may be amended.  

60

file://///admin-fs/Share/Procurement%20Committee/Procurement%20Policy%20Revisions/NYS%20Guidelines%20&%20%20Regs/ARTICLE%2015%20%20WMBE%20Respect%20to%20State%20Contracts.pdf
file://///admin-fs/Share/Procurement%20Committee/Procurement%20Policy%20Revisions/NYS%20Guidelines%20&%20%20Regs/ARTICLE%2015%20%20WMBE%20Respect%20to%20State%20Contracts.pdf


 
A.   In furtherance of the above, and to promote the use of Certified Minority and Women-Owned 

Enterprises in Procurement Contracts, the Authority shall: 
 

1. Establish appropriate goals for participation of Minority and Women-Owned Business 
Enterprises in Procurement Contracts and for the utilization of Minority and Women-Owned 
Business Enterprises as subcontractors and suppliers by entities having Procurement 
Contracts with the Authority in accordance with Article 15-A of the Executive Law, as same 
may be amended.  
 

2. Solicit offers from Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises known to have 
experience in the area of the goods or service to be provided on Procurement Contracts in 
accordance with Article 15-A of the Executive Law, as same may be amended. 

 
3.  Provide notice of any procurement to appropriate professional organizations that serve 

Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises so that members of these organizations 
are apprised of potential opportunities to contract with the Authority.  

 
4. Consult any list maintained by any State agency or department known to the Authority, 

including the Department of Economic Development, which identifies Minority and Women-
Owned Business Enterprises by area of expertise and shall contact appropriate Certified 
Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises listed therein to solicit their offers.  

 
5. Designate appropriate staff to oversee the Authority’s programs established to promote and 

assist: (i) participation by certified Minority or Women-owned Business Enterprises in the 
Authority’s procurement opportunities and facilitation of the award of procurement contracts 
to such enterprises; (ii) the utilization of certified Minority and Women-Owned Business 
Enterprises as subcontractors and suppliers by entities having procurement contracts with 
the Authority; and (iii) the utilization of partnerships, joint ventures or other similar 
arrangements between certified Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises and 
other entities having procurement contracts with the Authority. Such staff shall be familiar 
with the procurement of the types of construction, financial, legal or professional services 
utilized by the Authority either directly or through their designees participation in the 
procurement process.  
 

6.   Establish requirements to conduct procurements in a manner that will enable the Authority 
to achieve the maximum feasible portion of the goals established pursuant to subsection A.1 
above and that eliminates barriers to participation by Minority and Women-Owned Business 
Enterprises on Procurement Contracts.  

 
7.7 Promotion of Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises.  It is the goal of the 

Authority to (a) promote and assist participation by Certified Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned 
Business Enterprises in competition for Procurement Contracts and to (b) award a fair share of 
Procurement Contracts to Certified Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises.  All 
Procurement Contracts, where required, shall be in compliance with Article 17-B of the Executive 
Law, as same may be amended. 

 
A. In furtherance of the above, and to promote the use of Certified Service-Disabled Veteran-

Owned Business Enterprises in Procurement Contracts, the Authority shall: 
1. Establish appropriate goals for participation with Service-Disabled Veteran-

Owned Business Enterprises as subcontractors and suppliers by entities 
having Procurement Contracts with the Authority in accordance with Article 17-
B of the Executive Law, as same may be amended. 

61

file://///admin-fs/Share/Procurement%20Committee/Procurement%20Policy%20Revisions/NYS%20Guidelines%20&%20%20Regs/ARTICLE%2015%20%20WMBE%20Respect%20to%20State%20Contracts.pdf


2. Solicit offers from Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises 
known to have experience in the area of goods or service to be provided on 
Procurement Contracts in accordance with Article 17-B of the Executive Law, 
as same may be amended. 

3. Provide notice of any procurement to appropriate professional organizations 
that serve Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises so that 
members of these organizations are apprised of potential opportunities to 
contract with the Authority. 

4. Consult any list maintained by any State agency or department known to the 
Authority, including the Office of General Services, which identifies Service-
Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises by area of expertise and shall  
contact appropriate Certified Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business 
Enterprises listed therein to solicit their offers. 

5. Designate appropriate staff to oversee the Authority’s programs established to 
promote and assist:  (1) participation by Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned 
Business Enterprises in the Authority’s procurement opportunities and 
facilitation of the award of procurement contracts to such enterprises; (2) the 
utilization of certified Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises 
as subcontractors and suppliers by entities having procurement contracts with 
the Authority; and (3) the utilization of partnerships, joint ventures or other 
similar arrangements between certified Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned 
Business Enterprises and other entities having procurement contracts with the 
Authority.  Such staff shall be familiar with the procurement of the types of 
construction, financial, legal or professional services utilized by the Authority 
either directly or through their designees participation in the procurement 
process. 

6. Establish requirements to conduct procurements in a manner that will enable 
the Authority to achieve the maximum feasible portion of the goals established 
pursuant to subsection A.i above. 

 
7.8 Promotion of New York State Business Enterprises and New York State Residents. It is 

the goal of the Authority to promote the participation of New York State Business Enterprises 
and New York State Residents in Procurement Contracts. Accordingly, the following procedures 
shall apply: 

 
A.   The Authority shall collect and consult the specifications of New York State Business Enterprises 

in developing specifications for any Procurement Contract for the purchase of goods where 
possible, practicable, feasible and consistent with open bidding.  

   
B.  The Authority shall include in all bid documents provided to potential bidders a statement that 

information concerning the availability of New York State subcontractors and suppliers is 
available from the New York State Department of Economic Development and it is the policy of 
New York State to encourage the use of New York State subcontractors and suppliers.  

    
7.9 Approval and Annual Review of Certain Contracts. The Authority may enter into Procurement 

Contracts for Professional Services for periods of longer than one year in accordance with this 
Policy provided such contractors are presented to the Board of the Authority for approval and 
reviewed annually as part of the approval of the Annual Report on Procurement Contracts. Such 
Procurement Contracts may also be terminated by the Board of the Authority.  

62



 
7.10 Budget. The Authority Board of Directors shall approve budgets on an annual basis.  The 

Authority shall not enter into a Procurement Contracts where budgeted funds are not available.    
 
7.11 Limitations on Contracts with Former Officers and Employees. The Authority shall not enter 

into a Procurement Contract with a former Officer or employee of the Authority or any entity in 
which such Officer or employee has an interest (including a position of employment with such 
entity) unless there has been compliance with the applicable provisions of the Public Officers 
Law.  

 
 
SECTION 8.0 STANDARD PROVISIONS FOR PROCUREMENT CONTRACTS 
  
8.1 Procurement Contracts for Professional Services. Procurement Contracts for Professional 

Services shall detail the scope of services to be performed and the time frame for performance, 
the monitoring or reviewing of that performance by Authority personnel and, where appropriate, 
any permitted use of Authority supplies, facilities or personnel. Such contracts shall also state 
the compensation for the services, the schedule of payment, the pre-conditions for receiving 
payment from the Authority, procedures for termination of the contract and any other provisions 
deemed necessary or appropriate for each particular Contract.  

 
8.2 All Procurement Contracts which require a formal competitive solicitation (Competitive Bid, 

Request for Proposal) under this Policy shall include the current Authority's ”Standard Terms, 
Conditions and Mandatory Clauses”. 

   
8.3 Compliance with State Finance Law §§ 139-j and 139-k (the Procurement Lobbying Law). 

In order to comply with the Procurement Lobbying Law, the Authority has established Policy and 
Procedures pertaining to contacts regarding Procurement Contracts. Consistent with the 
Procurement Lobbying Law and the Authority’s Policies and Procedures, the Authority shall 
designate one or more persons who may be contacted by Contractors regarding a given 
procurement and shall require disclosure from Contractors of persons or organizations 
designated, retained or employed to attempt to influence the procurement process. The Authority 
shall incorporate a summary of the Policy and Procedures in all solicitation of proposals, bid 
documents or specifications. Procurement Contracts must contain a certification by the 
Contractor that all information provided to the Authority with respect to the Procurement Lobbying 
Law is complete, true and accurate, and a provision authorizing termination of the Procurement 
Contract where it is found that the Contractor intentionally violated the Procurement Lobbying 
Law. The Authority shall consider as part of its determination of responsibility of a Contractor 
whether there has been past or present non-compliance with the Procurement Lobbying Law.  

 
8.4  Pursuant to Public Authorities Law (PAL) section 2879-a and Title 2 of New York Code of Rules 

and Regulation (NYCRR) Part 206, the Comptroller of the State of New York, at his or her 
discretion and upon notification to a public Authority, is authorized to review and approve such 
Authority’s contracts in excess of one million dollars ($1,000,000) which are awarded 
noncompetitively or which are to be paid in whole or part from monies appropriated by the State 
of New York.  The Comptroller of the State of New York has provided official notification to the 
Authority that such statutory authority is being exercised and that all contracts meeting the 
requirements specified in Public Authorities Law (PAL) section 2879-a and Title 2 of New York 
Code of Rules and Regulation (NYCRR) Part 206 shall be subject to prior approval by the 
Comptroller of the State of New York. 

 
   
 
 

63



SECTION 9.0 REPORT ON PROCUREMENT CONTRACTS  
 
9.1 Within ninety (90) days after the end of its fiscal year, the Authority shall prepare a report on 

Procurement Contracts pursuant to Public Authority Law 2879.  Such a report may be a part 
of any other annual report that the Authority is required to make, such as the Public 
Authorities Reporting Information System (PARIS) report.  The Authority Chief Financial 
Officer and Compliance Officer are responsible for completing and submitting the PARIS 
report to the Office of the State Comptroller and the Authority Budget Office.  The report shall 
include: 

 
a. A copy of the Procurement Policy of the Development Authority of the North Country, 
b. An annual report on procurement contracts which is available to the public. 
c. An annual report explaining this Policy on Procurement Contracts and any amendments 

hereto. 
d. Any other reports required by law. 

 
9.2 Availability to Public. Copies of the annual report on Procurement Contracts shall also be 

available to the public on the Authority’s website or upon reasonable request at the Authority’s 
main office.  

 
 
9.3  Pursuant to PAL 2879-a and NYCRR 206.3, the Authority is required to submit a report to the 

Office of the State Comptroller annually within 30 days prior to the end of its fiscal year.  The 
report will include a description of every eligible contract and eligible contract amendment which 
the Authority reasonably anticipates awarding in the following fiscal year.   This requirement 
relates specifically to Authority contracts in excess of one million dollars ($1,000,000) which are 
awarded noncompetitively or which are to be paid in whole or part from monies appropriated by 
the State of New York.      

 
  
SECTION 10.0 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
10.1   Amendment of Policy. Any modification or amendment of this Policy may be made by a 

Supplemental Resolution adopted at any duly constituted meeting of the Board of the Authority; 
provided, however, that no such modification or amendment shall abrogate the rights and duties 
of existing Authority contracts, the terms of which were established pursuant to this Policy. 

  
10.2    No Recourse under this Policy. No provision contained solely in this Policy shall be the basis 

for any claim against any member, Officer or employee of the Authority or the Authority itself.  
 
10.3   Effect of Noncompliance of Policy.  Nothing contained solely in this Policy shall be deemed to 

alter, invalidate, modify, or impair the terms of any contract or agreement made or entered into 
in violation of, or not in compliance with, the provisions of this Policy. 

 
10.4 In furtherance of this Policy, the Board of the Authority shall annually review this Policy, and may 

amend same at its pleasure. 
 
10.5   The Authority shall utilize Executive Order No. 4, Establishing a State Green Procurement and 

Agency Sustainability Program, which directs state agencies, public authorities and public benefit 
corporations to green their procurements and implement sustainability initiatives.  

 
 

 

64



Revision/Review Approval Date: September 13, 2011 
Revision Date:  March 22, 2012; Resolution No. 2012-03-03 
Revision Date:  March 21, 2013: Resolution No. 2013-03-03 
Revision Date:  March 20, 2014: Resolution No. 2014-03-10 
Revision Date:  March 19, 2015; Resolution No. 2015-03-32 
Revision Date:  March 31, 2016; Resolution No. 2016-03-39 
Revision Date:  March 23, 2017; Resolution No. 2017-03-27 
Revision Date:  March 28, 2018; Resolution No. 2018-03-33 
Revision Date:  February 28, 2019; Resolution No. 2019-02-02 
Revision Date:  May 28, 2020; Resoution No. 2020-05-50 
Revision Date:  February 25, 2021; Resolution No. 2021-02-36 
 
 
 

65



Board Resolution No. 2021-02-37 
February 25, 2021 

 

 
LEACHATE TREATMENT AGREEMENT 

CITY OF WATERTOWN 
 
 

 Whereas, the Development Authority of the North Country has purchased 
leachate treatment services from the City of Watertown for leachate generated by the 
Materials Management Facility pursuant to an agreement dated August 15, 1989 and as 
amended in 1999, and an agreement dated April 1, 2009, and 
 
 Whereas, it is in the best interest of the Authority and the Authority’s customers, 
to secure leachate treatment services from the City of Watertown, for a 20 year period, 
and 
 
 Whereas, City of Watertown and Authority staff have agreed upon the terms and 
conditions specified in the attached Leachate Treatment Agreement to commence on 
April 1, 2021, and 
 
 Whereas, Authority counsel has reviewed said Leachate Treatment regarding its 
form. 
 
 Now, upon the recommendation of the Governance Committee, therefore be it  
 
 RESOLVED, that the Leachate Treatment Agreement, by and between the 
Authority and the City of Watertown, is hereby approved. The Executive Director 
is hereby authorized and directed to execute said Agreement for a period of 20 
years.  
 
 

66



LEACHATE TREATMENT AGREEMENT 

 
 

This Leachate Treatment Agreement made as of    , 2021 by and between 
the Development Authority of the North Country with offices at Dulles State Office Building, 
Watertown, New York (“Authority”) and the City of Watertown with offices at 245 Washington 
Street, Watertown, New York (“City”). 

 
RECITALS 

1. Authority owns and operates a solid waste management facility in the Town of 
Rodman, New York in accordance with the New York Environmental Conservation Law and 
Part 360 of Title 6 of the N.Y.C.R.R., which requires construction of a double liner and leachate 
collection and detection systems. 

 
2. The leachate generated by the solid waste management facility must be properly 

disposed of through a wastewater treatment facility capable of accepting the leachate for 
treatment. 

 
3. The wastewater treatment facility owned and operated by the City has the reserve 

capacity to treat the projected quantity and quality of such leachate and the City desires to 
undertake such treatment subject to certain terms and conditions and other environmental 
regulations. 

 
4. This contract is authorized pursuant to Section 2706 of the Public Authorities Law. 

 
 

AGREEMENT 
 

In consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties agree as follows: 
 

Section 1. Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence on April 1, 2021 and shall 
continue for a term of twenty years. 

 
Section 2. Acceptance and Treatment of Leachate. The City shall accept from Authority, 

at the wastewater treatment facility, all leachate generated by the Authority’s solid waste 
management facility and properly treat and dispose of the same. Authority shall deliver such 
leachate to the City’s wastewater treatment facility by tank truck and discharge the same into the 
City’s facility in accordance with the City’s requirements and procedures. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the City reserves the right to reject such leachate if its acceptance would place the 
City in violation of any Federal, State or Local environmental quality, safety, and discharge 
standards then in effect.  

 
Section 3. Measuring and Recording. The City shall measure the quantity of each 

delivery of leachate as the full rated capacity of the tanker truck. If, at the time of delivery, 
Authority provides evidence of actual volume, City will accept such evidence as accurate. 

67



Section 4. Prohibited Deliveries. Authority shall not deliver to City any wastes not 
generated by the Authority’s solid waste management facility. 

 
Section 5. Testing. The City shall provide and use reliable devices, methods, and 

procedures for determining, from time to time as necessary, the quality and other characteristics 
of Authority’s leachate. A copy of every such determination made by the City shall be mailed to 
the Authority upon request. The City shall make and keep permanent records of the volume, 
and, when ascertained, the quality and other characteristics of leachate delivered by the 
Authority. Any detailed analysis of the quality of the Authority’s leachate shall be performed by 
private independent certified laboratories with the cost of said testing to be borne by the 
Authority. 

 
Section 6. Payment for Service. For all leachate deliveries made by the Authority to the 

City’s treatment facility, Authority shall pay $.03015 per gallon from April 1, 2021 to March 
31, 2022. 

 
The rate per gallon shall increase by one percent (1%), starting on April 1 of each 

subsequent year. At no time during the term of this Agreement shall the per gallon rate charged 
for leachate exceed 80% of the City’s codified per gallon rate for tanker hauled leachate. 

 
Section 7. Billing. Monthly charges for leachate treatment services shall be billed by the 

City to the Authority.  All billings shall be paid within twenty (20) days of the issuance of the 
bill and late payments will be subject to the City’s late payment charges as defined by City Code. 

 
Section 8. No Accruals of Causes of Action. The Authority acknowledges the 

continuing nature of the services provided by the City under this Agreement and that billings by 
the City do not affect the Authority’s obligations to pay for services provided during the term of 
this Agreement. The City billings shall not be construed as accruals for purposes of asserting 
claims against the Authority for amounts owed. 

 
Section 9. Accounts. The City will keep proper books of record and account in which 

complete and correct entries shall be made of its transactions relating to the treatment plant or 
any part thereof, and which, together with all other books and papers of the City, shall at all 
reasonable times be subject to public inspection, as required by law. The City will cause its 
books and accounts to be audited annually, and within thirty (30) days after the completion of 
such audit, copies of the reports of such audits so made shall be furnished to the Authority. 

 
Section 10. Liability. The City shall use reasonable diligence to provide regular 

uninterrupted treatment of leachate, but shall not be liable for damages, breach of contract, or 
otherwise, for failure, suspension, diminution, or other variations of service occasioned by any 
cause beyond the control of the City. Such causes may include, but are not restricted to, acts of 
the State or federal government, acts of God or of the public enemy, acts of the Government in 
either its sovereign or contractual capacity, fires, floods, epidemics, riots, civil disturbance, 
quarantine, restrictions, inability to obtain equipment or supplies strikes, or failure or breakdown 
of facilities. 

68



Section 11. Effect of Breach. Failure on the part of the City or the Authority in any 
instance or under any circumstances to observe or fully perform any obligation assumed by or 
imposed upon it by this Agreement or by law shall not relieve the Authority from making any 
payment to the City or fully performing any other obligation required of it under this Agreement, 
but the Authority may have and pursue any and all other remedies provided by law for 
compelling performance by the City of said obligation assumed by or imposed upon the City if 
performance is not otherwise excused by the terms of this Agreement. 

 
Section 12. Certain Acts Not a Waiver. Acceptance by the City of the treatment of 

leachate with characteristics exceeding or violating any limit or restriction provided for by or 
pursuant to this Agreement in one or more instances or under one or more circumstances shall 
not constitute a waiver of such limit or restriction or of any provisions of this Agreement and 
shall not in any way obligate the City thereafter to accept or make provision for leachate 
delivered into the treatment plant with characteristics exceeding or violating any such limit or 
restriction in any other instance or under any other circumstance. 

 
Section 13. Entire Agreement. This Agreement shall be in full force and effect and be 

legally binding upon the City and the Authority and contains the entire agreement between the 
parties. It may be modified or amended only by the written agreement thereto signed by the 
parties. 

 
Section 14. Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number 

of counterparts each of which shall be executed by the City and the Authority and all of which 
shall be regarded for all purposes as one original and shall constitute and be but one and the 
same. 

 
Section 15. Supercedence. This Agreement supercedes in all respects the Leachate 

Treatment Agreement between the parties dated August 15, 1989, the July 14, 1999 amendment 
to that Agreement and the Agreement dated April 1, 2009. 

 
Section 16. Re-Opener for Certain Changes Imposed upon the Parties. If the City is 

required by operation of Federal or State law, regulation, or permit to undertake steps or employ 
methods which materially increase the City’s cost of treating leachate, the City shall have the 
right to reopen negotiations under this Agreement to address such issues, and each party shall 
have the obligation to negotiate a continuance of the Agreement in good faith. For purposes of 
this paragraph, material increases in cost to treat leachate may be claimed by the City, but shall 
be deemed to exist if the increase necessitated by changed requirements exceeds 15% of the 
previous year’s costs to treat the leachate. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in 
the foregoing, the Parties agree that the City must provide the Authority with notice of any such 
claimed material cost increase along with documentary evidence reasonably sufficient to prove 
the material cost increase. The parties agree that subsequent to such notice, they will work 
diligently to negotiate the continuance of the Agreement in good faith.  

69



All of the above is established by the following signatures for the respective parties. 
 
 

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE NORTH COUNTRY 
 

Date:   By:    

Carl E. Farone Jr, Executive Director 

 
 
 
 

CITY OF WATERTOWN 
 

Date:   By:    

Jeffrey M. Smith, Mayor 

70



  
AUTHORIZING EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

TO IMPLEMENT COMPENSATION PLAN 
 

 Whereas, the Authority Budget was adopted reflecting appropriations for compensation 
and benefits, and 
   

 Whereas, consistent with the provisions of the personnel policies manual adopted by the 
Board an annual adjustment pool was reflected in the budget as a percentage of anticipated 
base salaries for the provision of annual adjustments, reclassifications, promotions, longevity, 
merit for performance, and  
 

 Whereas, the aggregate of adjustments will not exceed the pool established by the Board. 
 
 Now, upon recommendation of the Governance Committee, therefore be it 
 

  
 

 RESOLVED, the Development Authority herewith authorizes the Executive Director 
to approve compensation adjustments, effective for the fiscal year 2021-2022, 
commencing April 4, 2021 within the budgetary authorizations and consistent with 
Authority personnel policies authorized by the Board. 
 
 

Board Resolution No. 2021-02-38 
February 25, 2021 

71



 
APPROVING FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 ADMINISTRATIVE BUDGET, 

CAPITAL PROJECTS, ADMINISTRATIVE ALLOCATIONS 
AND AUDIT COMMITTEE BUDGET 

 
Whereas, the Development Authority of the North Country has caused to be prepared 

and has reviewed the Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Administrative Budget detailed by the attached 
Appendix A, and  

 
Whereas, upon recommendation by staff, it is determined that certain capital projects are 

necessary as set forth on the capital projects schedule as Appendix B, and 
 
Whereas, it is necessary for the Development Authority of the North Country to restrict 

certain funds, as detailed by the attached Appendix C, and to, upon request, receive legislative 
initiatives to administer, and 
 

Whereas, the Development Authority of the North Country allocates gross administrative 
charges to operating companies as detailed by the attached Appendix D, and  

 
 Whereas, the Audit Committee retains Certified Public Accountants to perform audits of 
the financial statements and internal controls and requires a budget for such services as follows: 
 
 Financial Audit $38,200 
 Miscellaneous Accounting Services $  5,000 
  $43,200 
 
 Now, upon recommendation of the Finance & Budget Committee, therefore be it  
 
 

RESOLVED, by the Development Authority of the North Country that: 
 
1. The Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Administrative Budget and line items contained therein, as 

proposed and set forth in Appendix A, is hereby approved and adopted. 
 

2. The Administrative capital projects for the Fiscal Year 2021-2022, as set forth in 
Appendix B, are hereby approved and the Executive Director is hereby authorized and 
directed to undertake and pay for such projects, including contracting, therefore, on 
such terms and conditions as he shall determine.  Further, capital funds that were 
previously approved but not fully expended are carried forward for use in Fiscal Year 
2021-2022. 

Board Resolution No. 2021-02-39 
February 25, 2021 

72



3. The Schedule of Restricted / Board Designated Reserves, as proposed and set forth 
in Appendix C, is hereby approved and adopted.  Further, to enhance the Authority’s 
ability to manage such reserves, the Authority to create and manage reserves is 
hereby delegated to the Executive Director who shall report such actions to the 
Finance Committee on a timely basis. 
 

4. The Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Administrative Allocations as proposed and set forth in 
Appendix D are hereby approved and adopted.  

 
5. The Audit Committee Budget, as proposed and set forth, is hereby approved and 

adopted. 
 
6. The Executive Director is authorized to receive legislative initiatives on behalf of the 

Authority and to execute grant agreements and related documents with grant 
recipients as appropriate. 

 
 

 
 

 

73



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget
Grant Revenue

4183 NY State Grants $8,916.25 $10,000.00 $5,851.25 $4,000.00
Total Grant Revenue 8,916.25 10,000.00 5,851.25 4,000.00

Other Income
4164 Miscellaneous 192,300.65 212,700.00 143,581.80 211,300.00

Total Other Income 192,300.65 212,700.00 143,581.80 211,300.00

4201 Gain on Sale of Assets 34,266.40 28,000.00 0.00 21,000.00

Interest Income
4102 Investment Interest Income 302,999.95 314,600.00 79,502.75 98,400.00
420… Mark to Market Adjustment 87,766.80 0.00 (2,081.42) 0.00

Total Interest Income 390,766.75 314,600.00 77,421.33 98,400.00
Total Income 626,250.05 565,300.00 226,854.38 334,700.00

Salaries
500… Administrative Wages 1,133,338.47 1,234,732.00 771,304.52 1,212,691.00
500… Engineering Wages 0.00 0.00 1,235.12 0.00
500… WQ Wages 813.31 0.00 0.00 0.00
500… Overtime Wages 876.63 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00

Total Salaries 1,135,028.41 1,235,732.00 772,539.64 1,213,691.00

Fringe Benefits
503… FICA Expense 75,927.52 94,457.00 58,032.10 82,432.00
503… Pension Expense 162,517.64 171,365.00 101,978.77 145,280.00
503… Health Insurance 123,701.58 135,879.00 71,755.48 135,154.00
504… Retiree Health Insurance 59,297.81 80,330.00 44,676.67 85,343.00
503… Workers Comp 3,379.30 2,194.00 1,377.53 2,032.00
503… Disability Insurance 891.78 1,045.00 696.80 2,797.00
5036 Unemployment 0.00 10,000.00 6,592.94 10,000.00
504… Post Retire Overhead (30,397.60) 81,751.00 51,966.30 81,254.00
5051 Benefit Admin. Fees 9,585.55 11,020.00 3,251.34 13,730.00
5054 Employee Physicals & Screening 1,141.25 1,575.00 926.25 1,787.00

Total Fringe Benefits 406,044.83 589,616.00 341,254.18 559,809.00

Operations & Maintenance
5134 Maintenance Contracts 2,132.57 3,355.00 604.61 2,720.00
5403 Safety Equipment & Supplies 3,650.49 14,000.00 12,006.34 14,046.00

Total O & M 5,783.06 17,355.00 12,610.95 16,766.00

Office & Administrative
5053 Misc Employee Costs 4,934.93 5,370.00 1,677.47 5,215.00
5102 Office Rent 74,216.84 107,900.00 67,588.36 121,936.00
5104 Office Supplies 8,311.19 10,000.00 7,052.58 10,000.00
5110 Postage & Shipping 5,211.02 6,000.00 4,128.41 6,000.00
5112 Telephone 3,656.44 4,020.00 1,996.49 5,310.00
5114 Cellular Services 4,328.14 5,800.00 3,207.58 5,500.00
5118 Other Communications 8,003.76 9,480.00 5,857.29 9,600.00
5120 Dues & Subscriptions 4,844.48 5,000.00 941.00 4,415.00
5122 Public Info & Advertising 3,677.34 9,500.00 8,777.48 4,590.00
5123 Promotional Materials 2,327.01 2,500.00 0.00 2,500.00
5130 Office Equipment 6,079.67 6,295.38 3,171.16 10,000.00
5170 Other Office Expenses 1,075.10 1,600.00 761.20 1,600.00
5173 Credit Card Processing Fees 623.59 600.00 357.40 600.00
5202 Employee Mileage Reimbursement 4,821.13 1,500.00 486.45 5,000.00
5204 Empl. Meals & Incidental 1,697.23 2,700.00 0.00 2,700.00

Administration 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

74



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget
5206 Empl. Lodging 3,102.00 445.72 0.00 5,400.00
5270 Travel & Meeting Expense 2,664.83 3,550.00 2,270.10 3,550.00
5370 Training & Development 13,870.30 9,980.00 2,211.45 14,100.00
5402 Employee Uniforms 981.09 1,425.00 0.00 1,425.00
5404 Safety Training 0.00 5,000.00 0.00 10,000.00
5508 Cleaning Services 3,880.00 10,000.00 5,970.00 13,900.00
6102 Board Member Travel & Expenses 650.84 1,750.00 621.00 1,750.00
6104 Sponsorships 8,982.00 7,500.00 1,000.00 9,000.00

Total Office & Admin 167,938.93 217,916.10 118,075.42 254,091.00

Professional Fees
5924 Legal 23,857.20 59,190.00 48,568.75 35,000.00
5926 Investment Banking Fees 7,334.96 9,800.00 4,843.47 6,900.00
592… Accounting Fees 38,900.00 42,500.00 29,500.00 43,200.00
5970 Consulting 10,161.50 3,500.00 0.00 45,600.00

Total Professional Fees 80,253.66 114,990.00 82,912.22 130,700.00

Automobile
5601 Auto/Light Truck Rep. & Maint. 651.26 1,000.00 159.92 640.00
5602 Auto/Light Truck Fuel 198.85 1,750.00 0.00 1,250.00

Total Automobile 850.11 2,750.00 159.92 1,890.00

Computer
5124 Computer Equipment 25,637.00 50,468.40 16,091.51 29,320.00
5126 Computer Maintenance 12,273.00 8,500.00 3,966.44 8,500.00
5128 Programming & Software 103,221.79 148,893.89 74,318.94 168,258.00
5129 ECMS Expense 18,655.92 28,305.61 22,305.61 29,000.00
6108 Web Page Design & Maintenance 2,359.88 2,752.00 0.00 5,252.00

Total Computer 162,147.59 238,919.90 116,682.50 240,330.00

6114 Insurance 17,614.61 18,700.00 12,466.64 19,200.00
619… Admin Allocation (1,985,649.29) (2,168,149.00) (1,418,599.17) (2,332,132.00)
7032 Depreciation 248,337.72 277,600.00 169,286.80 279,900.00
6901 Contingency 0.00 0.00 0.00 25,000.00

Total Expenses 238,349.63 545,430.00 207,389.10 409,245.00

Change in Net Position 387,900.42 19,870.00 19,465.28 (74,545.00)

Administration 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

75



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW  FROM OPERATIONS
(This presentation of Cash Flow does not take into account changes in accruals)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (74,545.00)

PLUS DEPRECIATION & AMORTIZATION 279,900.00

- 25… LESS PRINCIPAL PAYMENTS (50,000.00)

RESERVE/CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS
- 1440 ADMIN CAPITAL PROJECTS (180,800.00)

TOTAL RESERVE/CAPITAL REQUIRED (180,800.00)

CASH FLOW (25,445.00)

Administration 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

76



Project 
Number Project Description Fund

Budget FYE 
2022

Budget FYE 
2023

Budget FYE 
2024

Budget FYE 
2025

Budget FYE 
2026

Fleet Vehicles O 130,800$           207,600$          159,500$          187,000$      255,400$      
Voice Upgrade O 50,000$             -$                 -$                  -$              -$              
Server Replacement O -$                  6,200$              40,000$            16,000$        12,000$        

TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE 180,800$           213,800$          199,500$          203,000$      267,400$      

APPENDIX B
ADMINISTRATIVE CAPITAL PROJECTS

77



Balance Estimated Balance
Restricted Fund Balance: 3/31/2020 3/31/2021

Community Rental Housing Program 14,250,786$                    13,287,385$                     
Community Development Loan Fund 8,182,062$                      8,592,523$                      
Housing Loan Revolving Fund 22,583,026$                    22,748,492$                     
Army Water & Sewer 1,800,000$                      1,800,000$                      
Regional Waterline 512,052$                         512,052$                         
Wetlands Mitigation Reserve 1,292,626$                      1,308,034$                      
SWMF Replacement Reserve 5,642,140$                      5,425,795$                      
SWMF Liner Reserve 7,000,000$                      7,000,000$                      
Telecom Repair & Replacement Reserve 6,718,693$                      6,782,327$                      

67,981,385$                    67,456,608$                     

Balance Estimated Balance
Board Designated Reserves: 3/31/2020 3/31/2021

Administrative / Supplemental Insurance 4,000,000$                      4,000,000$                      
Infrastructure Development 223,107$                         223,107$                         
Solid Waste Capital Reserve 12,212,738$                    8,707,446$                      
Tip Fee Stabilization Reserve 4,362,020$                      4,437,314$                      
Landfill Gas Reserve 1,628,366$                      1,656,214$                      
Economic Development Loan Fund 5,581,377$                      5,533,621$                      

 Affordable Housing Program 3,000,000$                      3,000,000$                      
31,007,608$                    27,557,702$                     

APPENDIX C
Development Authority of the North Country

Restricted/ Board Designated Reserves
Fiscal Year Ending March 31, 2021

The Development Authority of the North Country recognizes the following restricted reserves as detailed 
below,

Further, it is necessary for the Development Authority of the North Country to designate a portion of its fund 
balance for the purposes detailed below,

78



Administrative Allocations
Budget - FYE March 31, 2022

Budgeted Budgeted Increase or 
FYE 3/31/21 FYE 3/31/22 Decrease

Administrative Costs:

Salaries & Fringes 1,739,434$               1,685,797$                (53,637)$                 
Administrative Overhead 685,226$                  750,494$                   65,268$                   

Total Administrative Costs 2,424,660$               2,436,291$                11,631$                   

Budgeted Budgeted Increase or 
Administrative Allocation: FYE 3/31/21 FYE 3/31/22 Decrease

Army Sewer 289,618$                  281,576$                   (8,042)$                   
Army Water 152,867$                  165,070$                   12,203$                   
Regional Water 17,717$                    17,426$                     (291)$                      
Water Quality Contracts 36,558$                    36,745$                     187$                        
Engineering 55,463$                    55,784$                     321$                        
Materials Mgt 840,523$                  993,394$                   152,871$                 
Telecommunications 616,227$                  617,820$                   1,593$                     
Regional Development Contracts 50,697$                    30,190$                     (20,507)$                 
Affordable Housing Program 61,484$                    88,350$                     26,866$                   
Community Development Loan Fund -$                         4,151$                       4,151$                     
Authority Economic Development Fund 56,009$                    56,837$                     828$                        
Community Rental Housing Program 8,997$                     8,947$                       (50)$                        
Internal Subsidy 238,500$                  80,000$                     (158,500)$               

Total 2,424,660$               2,436,291$                11,631$                   

APPENDIX D

79



 
APPROVING FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 ENGINEERING DIVISION OPERATING 

BUDGET, CAPITAL PROJECTS AND RESERVE DESIGNATION 
 

Whereas, the Development Authority of the North Country has caused to be prepared and 
has reviewed the proposed Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Engineering Budget, attached to this Resolution 
as Appendix A, and 

 
Whereas, upon recommendation by staff, it is determined that certain capital projects are 

necessary as set forth on the capital projects schedule as Appendix B. 
 
Now, upon recommendation of the Finance & Budget Committee, therefore be it 
 

 
 RESOLVED, by the Development Authority of the North Country that: 
 
1. The Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Engineering Budget and line items contained therein, as 

proposed and set forth in Appendices A, are hereby approved and adopted. 
 
2. The Engineering capital projects for the Fiscal Year 2021-2022, as set forth in Appendix 

B, are hereby approved and the Executive Director is hereby authorized and directed 
to undertake and pay for such projects, including contracting, therefore, on such 
terms and conditions as he shall determine.  Further, capital funds that were 
previously approved but not fully expended are carried forward for use in Fiscal Year 
2021-2022.  

 
3. To enhance the Authority’s ability to respond promptly to customer requirements, the 

authority to negotiate contracts is hereby delegated to the Executive Director who will 
report such actions to the Board of Directors in a timely manner. 
 

 

Board Resolution No. 2021-02-40 
February 25, 2021 

80



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget
Customer Billings

4001 Customer Billings $1,444,830.58 $1,266,025.00 $751,493.41 $1,203,271.00
Total Customer Billings 1,444,830.58 1,266,025.00 751,493.41 1,203,271.00

Grant Revenue
4181 Federal Grant Income 8,995.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total Grant Revenue 8,995.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total Income 1,453,825.58 1,266,025.00 751,493.41 1,203,271.00

Salaries
500… Engineering Wages 740,351.62 700,886.00 422,849.97 704,088.00
500… MMF Wages 0.00 0.00 88.92 0.00
500… WQ Wages 2,190.58 0.00 173.36 0.00
500… Overtime Wages 2,063.24 375.00 296.56 0.00

Total Salaries 744,605.44 701,261.00 423,408.81 704,088.00

Fringe Benefits
503… FICA Expense 53,537.60 53,647.00 31,217.22 45,832.00
503… Pension Expense 93,339.39 82,542.00 51,654.96 87,744.00
503… Health Insurance 114,710.73 93,189.00 64,650.25 104,971.00
503… Workers Comp 32,395.92 29,179.00 19,142.17 27,545.00
503… Disability Insurance 373.37 445.00 296.64 1,617.00
504… Post Retire Overhead 56,861.79 51,226.00 32,240.52 46,975.00
5054 Employee Physicals & Screening 364.00 500.00 0.00 500.00

Total Fringe Benefits 351,582.80 310,728.00 199,201.76 315,184.00

Operations & Maintenance
5403 Safety Equipment & Supplies 1,289.78 1,000.00 206.91 1,000.00
5904 SCADA 16,903.01 22,200.00 10,071.85 19,550.00
8090 Purchases for Resale 90,857.60 66,000.00 30,256.70 38,500.00

Total O & M 109,050.39 89,200.00 40,535.46 59,050.00

Office & Administrative
5053 Misc Employee Costs 219.25 1,000.00 963.20 800.00
5102 Office Rent 10,761.00 10,761.00 7,174.00 5,389.00
5104 Office Supplies 1,547.38 2,800.00 239.36 2,500.00
5112 Telephone 3,656.26 4,020.00 2,223.64 1,960.00
5114 Cellular Services 5,690.07 6,700.00 3,094.56 6,800.00
5120 Dues & Subscriptions 618.00 1,000.00 470.00 600.00
5122 Public Info & Advertising 0.00 2,180.00 880.00 500.00
5130 Office Equipment 2,796.39 5,000.00 445.00 4,000.00
5202 Employee Mileage Reimbursement 16,518.33 12,820.00 2,827.29 10,000.00
5204 Empl. Meals & Incidental 453.30 2,500.00 0.00 2,500.00
5206 Empl. Lodging 1,715.00 6,500.00 572.00 5,000.00
5312 Continuing Education 0.00 5,000.00 0.00 12,800.00
5370 Training & Development 7,994.00 7,580.00 (66.00) 8,000.00
5402 Employee Uniforms 753.00 1,300.00 139.90 1,200.00

Total Office & Admin 52,721.98 69,161.00 18,962.95 62,049.00

Professional Fees
5924 Legal 29,426.88 500.00 0.00 500.00

Total Professional Fees 29,426.88 500.00 0.00 500.00

Automobile
5601 Auto/Light Truck Rep. & Maint. 479.76 2,777.00 1,884.00 2,500.00
5602 Auto/Light Truck Fuel 3,265.01 6,000.00 1,445.78 5,000.00

Engineering 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

81



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget
5603 Auto/Light Truck Rental/Lease 8,600.04 8,400.00 5,600.00 6,700.00
5605 Vehicle Ins 1,195.88 3,200.00 2,133.36 2,200.00

Total Automobile 13,540.69 20,377.00 11,063.14 16,400.00

Computer
5124 Computer Equipment 5,020.61 6,500.00 4,823.28 6,000.00
5128 Programming & Software 11.10 1,300.00 613.80 1,200.00
5906 GIS 34,220.54 29,006.00 24,887.72 29,200.00

Total Computer 39,252.25 36,806.00 30,324.80 36,400.00

6114 Insurance 24,687.51 26,600.00 17,733.36 26,300.00
619… Admin Allocation 53,703.05 55,463.00 36,316.18 55,784.00
619… Engineering Allocation (67,192.98) (82,956.00) (56,964.42) (79,552.00)
6208 NYS Administrative Assessment 6,535.00 6,957.00 0.00 7,173.00
890… Water Quality Allocation 1,184.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
7032 Depreciation 34,865.10 27,800.00 20,585.58 12,700.00

Total Expenses 1,393,962.11 1,261,897.00 741,167.62 1,216,076.00

Change in Net Position 59,863.47 4,128.00 10,325.79 (12,805.00)

Engineering 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

82



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW  FROM OPERATIONS
(This presentation of Cash Flow does not take into account changes in accruals)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (12,805.00)

PLUS DEPRECIATION & AMORTIZATION 12,700.00

CASH FLOW (105.00)

Engineering 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

83



ENGINEERING
Project 
Number Project Description Fund

Budget FYE 
2022

Budget FYE 
2023

Budget FYE 
2024

Budget FYE 
2025

Budget FYE 
2026

GIS Equipment O -$                  30,000$            -$              -$              
GIS ESRI Software & Internet Mapping 
Application Upgrade O -$                  -$                 50,000$            -$              -$              

TOTAL ENGINEERING -$                  30,000$            50,000$            -$              -$              

APPENDIX B
ENGINEERING

84



 
APPROVING FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 MATERIALS MANAGEMENT 

DIVISION OPERATING BUDGET, CAPITAL PROJECTS,  
RESERVE REQUIREMENTS, AND TIPPING FEES 

 
Whereas, the Development Authority of the North Country has caused to be prepared 

and has reviewed the proposed Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Materials Management Budget based 
on anticipated waste volumes, said proposed Budget being attached to this resolution as 
Appendix A, and 
 

 Whereas, upon recommendation by staff and consulting engineers, it is determined that 
certain capital projects are necessary, as set forth on the capital projects’ schedule attached as 
Appendix B, and 
 

 Whereas, it is necessary to establish reserve requirements, tipping fees and related 
understandings for Fiscal Year 2021-2022 in support of said Budget. 
 

Now, upon recommendation of the Finance & Budget Committee, therefore be it 
 
 
 RESOLVED, by the Development Authority of the North Country that: 
 
1. The Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Materials Management Budget and line items contained 

therein, as proposed and set forth in Appendix A, are hereby approved and adopted. 
 
2. The Materials Management capital projects for the Fiscal Year 2021-2022, as set forth 

in Appendix B, are hereby approved, with the stated cost thereof to be charged against 
indicated reserves, and the Executive Director is hereby authorized and directed to 
undertake and pay for such projects, including contracting therefore on such terms 
and conditions as he shall determine.  Further, capital funds that were previously 
approved but not fully expended are carried forward for use in Fiscal Year 2021-2022. 

 
3. Based upon receipt at the Facility of anticipated waste volumes, the tipping fee for the 

Fiscal Year 2021-2022 shall be $46.00 per ton for municipal solid waste, construction 
and demolition waste, and ash; $36.00 per ton for non-beneficial use sludge, industrial 
waste and sewage sludge; $18.00 per ton for non-hazardous petroleum contaminated 
soil; $17.50 per ton for beneficial use sludge; $200 per ton for friable asbestos (one 
ton minimum); $80.00 per ton for friable asbestos-contaminated construction debris 
or other waste that requires special handling protocol during disposal.  The Authority 
shall offer a $2.00 per ton discount on municipal solid waste (MSW) and construction 
and demolition waste (C&D) to haulers entering into a contract with the Authority. 

Board Resolution No. 2021-02-41 
February 25, 2021 

85



4. The Community Improvement Program shall be extended for Fiscal Year 2021-2022 at 
$31.50 per ton for up to 15,000 tons of demolition waste.  The Residential Cleanup 
Program shall be extended for Fiscal Year 2021-2022 at $36.00 per ton for up to 2,500 
tons.  Reserve requirements for such year (included in the tipping fees) shall be, per 
ton: 

 
Replacement  $1.00  
Closure   $2.75  
   
 

Pursuant to the Host Community Agreement with the Town of Rodman, estimated host 
community benefit fees and gas to energy revenue sharing, totaling $763,172 will be 
paid for the Fiscal Year 2021-2022. 

 
5. To enhance the Authority’s ability to respond promptly to changing conditions in the 

competitive solid waste disposal market, the authority to establish tipping fees, 
special condition fees, manage reserves, establish host community agreements and 
negotiate hauler contracts is hereby delegated to the Executive Director who shall 
report such actions to the Facilities Committee in a timely manner. 

 
 
 

86



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget
Customer Billings

4001 Customer Billings $7,219,027.58 $7,613,000.00 $5,140,756.10 $8,153,431.00
4006 Replacement Reserve Tip Income 511,134.88 678,960.00 439,283.22 216,245.00
4008 Closure Reserve Tip Income 454,342.10 452,640.00 292,855.48 594,674.00
4012 Capital Reserve Tip Income 454,342.10 282,900.00 183,034.68 0.00
4013 Landfill Gas Tip Income 454,342.10 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total Customer Billings 9,093,188.76 9,027,500.00 6,055,929.48 8,964,350.00

Waste Diversion Revenue
4050 RTS Revenue 0.00 715,500.00 0.00 476,000.00
4060 Recycling Revenue - Tires 0.00 140,000.00 88,998.00 140,000.00
4061 Recycling Revenue - Mattresses 0.00 113,897.00 74,744.00 110,000.00

Total Waste Diversion Revenue 0.00 969,397.00 163,742.00 726,000.00

Grant Revenue
4183 NY State Grants 0.00 333,312.00 248,245.15 81,319.00

Total Grant Revenue 0.00 333,312.00 248,245.15 81,319.00

Other Income
4164 Miscellaneous 50,143.61 25,000.00 11,615.53 25,000.00
4166 LFGTE Revenue 657,210.81 438,009.00 346,714.36 462,054.00

Total Other Income 707,354.42 463,009.00 358,329.89 487,054.00

4201 Gain on Sale of Assets 47,025.00 45,000.00 0.00 45,000.00

Interest Income
410… Trustee Interest 375,959.79 134,138.00 48,728.73 128,585.00
4108 Reserve Interest 131,211.11 111,110.00 46,369.27 75,379.00
4116 Replace Reserve Interest Income 123,604.30 102,931.00 76,054.81 90,981.00
4118 Closure Reserve Interest Income 186,047.91 200,275.00 82,982.37 85,205.00
4119 Post Close Interest Income 163,850.95 151,084.00 52,224.98 64,278.00
4120 Wetlands Mitigation Interest Income 39,965.97 22,096.00 13,928.78 18,071.00
420… Mark to Market Adjustment 472,652.33 0.00 (4,806.52) 0.00

Total Interest Income 1,493,292.36 721,634.00 315,482.42 462,499.00
Total Income 11,340,860.54 11,559,852.00 7,141,728.94 10,766,222.00

Salaries
500… Engineering Wages 45,616.86 114,958.00 79,379.34 124,791.00
500… Technology Wages 0.00 0.00 656.64 0.00
500… MMF Wages 1,338,259.50 1,517,731.00 886,830.22 1,461,066.00
500… Overtime Wages 20,081.22 36,769.00 10,367.08 37,362.00
5005 On-Call Stipend 7,650.00 7,800.00 5,400.00 7,800.00

Total Salaries 1,411,607.58 1,677,258.00 982,633.28 1,631,019.00

Fringe Benefits
503… FICA Expense 98,631.15 128,270.00 71,679.60 104,733.00
503… Pension Expense 195,455.15 239,399.00 142,769.73 252,435.00
503… Health Insurance 238,013.50 294,049.00 159,360.93 268,579.00
503… Workers Comp 100,036.23 103,620.00 59,785.11 93,022.00
503… Disability Insurance 1,079.30 1,079.00 719.36 5,193.00
504… Post Retire Overhead 137,716.12 157,596.00 94,978.74 145,342.00
5054 Employee Physicals & Screening 8,202.10 8,000.00 1,072.40 8,000.00

Total Fringe Benefits 779,133.55 932,013.00 530,365.87 877,304.00

Operations & Maintenance
5062 Third Party Temporary - O&M 34,898.43 50,976.00 0.00 35,000.00
5403 Safety Equipment & Supplies 10,679.78 14,000.00 4,724.02 14,000.00
5702 Large Parts 84,352.14 100,000.00 62,845.79 120,000.00

Materials Management 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

87



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget
5703 Small Equipment 13,198.90 30,000.00 2,235.00 30,000.00
5704 O&M Supplies 13,927.00 20,000.00 5,317.81 20,000.00
5708 Fuels 214,111.53 335,000.00 83,370.79 250,000.00
5710 Lubricants 9,044.37 20,000.00 4,713.90 20,000.00
5712 Purchased Maintenance & Repair 89,927.55 65,000.00 46,315.76 80,000.00
5716 Equipment Rental 6,329.10 15,000.00 0.00 15,000.00
5718 Tires 33,519.22 30,000.00 5,492.62 20,000.00
5770 Other Tool, Equip & O&M 2,499.61 2,500.00 2,060.94 5,000.00
5815 Chemicals 16,969.55 10,000.00 3,223.20 5,000.00
5818 Leachate System  Expense 0.00 15,000.00 686.88 15,000.00
5820 LFG Maintenance 65,440.49 75,000.00 7,782.18 75,000.00
5870 Natural Habitat Enhancements 0.00 0.00 0.00 50,000.00
5932 Monitoring & Testing 114,077.01 115,600.00 50,506.65 151,060.00
6008 Contract Hauling 12,065.00 20,000.00 15,200.00 30,000.00

Total O & M 721,039.68 918,076.00 294,475.54 935,060.00

Recycling Transfer Station
500… Material Reprocessing Wages 66,144.00 134,551.00 83,494.67 235,603.00
500… Overtime Wages 464.58 0.00 1,425.63 6,419.00
503… FICA Expense 4,767.10 10,293.00 6,770.41 16,273.00
503… Pension Expense 5,709.87 12,917.00 8,942.54 32,531.00
503… Health Insurance 12,978.28 25,155.00 9,338.50 29,297.00
503… Workers Comp 7,507.88 12,311.00 7,781.39 18,663.00
503… Disability Insurance 0.00 74.00 0.00 893.00
504… Post Retire Overhead 8,987.00 16,560.00 11,020.50 25,944.00
6300 RTS -Safety Equipment & Supplies 1,853.43 2,500.00 1,709.58 2,500.00
6305 RTS - Large Parts 3,522.38 7,500.00 3,007.21 7,500.00
6310 RTS - Small Equipment 6,130.99 4,005.00 3,898.96 4,000.00
6315 RTS - O&M Supplies 10,502.05 14,000.00 3,323.40 10,000.00
6320 RTS - Fuels 2,287.67 10,000.00 3,082.85 10,000.00
6325 RTS - Purchased Maintenance & Repair 4,936.81 7,500.00 5,735.40 7,500.00
6329 RTS - Disposal Costs 0.00 715,500.00 0.00 476,000.00
6330 RTS - Contract Hauling 0.00 230,000.00 63,905.00 133,000.00
6335 RTS - Office Supplies 128.62 1,000.00 10.81 1,000.00
6340 RTS - Cellular Services 0.00 1,020.00 0.00 1,050.00
6345 RTS - Other Communications 374.91 2,400.00 1,204.82 2,400.00
6350 RTS - Office Equipment Maintenance 0.00 500.00 0.00 500.00
6355 RTS - Employee Mileage Reimbursement 0.00 150.00 0.00 50.00
6360 RTS - Employee Uniforms 368.24 950.00 658.15 1,000.00
6365 RTS - Gas & Electric 3,120.48 5,000.00 2,659.41 6,000.00
6370 RTS - Propane 4,425.57 4,000.00 1,110.98 4,000.00
6375 RTS - Building Supplies 1,387.35 1,000.00 199.99 1,000.00
6380 RTS - Site Supplies 706.59 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00
6385 RTS - Building Maintenance & Repair 1,688.07 3,000.00 1,665.87 3,000.00
6390 RTS - Site Maintenance & Repair 3,020.59 3,350.00 0.00 4,000.00
6395 RTS - Auto/Light Truck Rep. & Maint. 450.00 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00
6400 RTS - Auto/Light Truck Fuel 0.00 1,500.00 127.92 500.00
6410 RTS - Programming & Software 0.00 5,000.00 0.00 1,155.00

Total Recycling Transfer Station 151,462.46 1,234,736.00 221,073.99 1,044,778.00

Waste Diversion
5125 Promotional Materials - RRR 50,463.18 75,000.00 2,976.95 75,000.00
6009 Household Hazardous Waste 66,479.75 75,000.00 58,466.60 75,000.00
6011 Recycling Incentive 64,894.10 116,000.00 30,965.70 70,000.00
6012 Recycling Incentive-County Capital 337,679.93 555,000.00 64,745.00 238,814.00
6013 CRT Recycling 104,398.17 90,000.00 46,177.96 0.00
6017 Book Debinding 5,369.63 5,000.00 3,046.16 3,000.00
6018 Mattress Recycling - All Counties 171,825.00 370,000.00 230,990.50 350,000.00
6020 Waste Audit 34,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Materials Management 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

88



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget
6021 Regional Tire Recycling 53,393.76 140,000.00 86,657.76 140,000.00

Total Waste Diversion 888,503.52 1,426,000.00 524,026.63 951,814.00

6002 Sewage Treatment 335,294.80 354,200.00 152,471.47 603,000.00
601… Closure & Post Closure Care 851,891.25 803,999.00 408,767.36 744,157.00
6006 Host Community Benefits 772,063.15 780,261.00 506,639.97 763,172.00

Office & Administrative
5053 Misc Employee Costs 751.99 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00
5104 Office Supplies 1,367.02 5,000.00 2,623.68 5,000.00
5112 Telephone 7,537.05 8,000.00 5,031.08 8,500.00
5114 Cellular Services 6,932.37 10,000.00 3,524.52 6,750.00
5120 Dues & Subscriptions 1,981.99 3,000.00 52.50 3,000.00
5122 Public Info & Advertising 1,333.72 2,500.00 1,035.75 2,500.00
5123 Promotional Materials 5,187.79 8,000.00 3,090.00 8,000.00
5130 Office Equipment 210.67 1,000.00 1,000.77 1,000.00
5132 Office Equip Maintenance 529.20 1,200.00 0.00 1,200.00
5202 Employee Mileage Reimbursement 1,011.26 5,000.00 122.48 2,500.00
5204 Empl. Meals & Incidental 35.47 1,800.00 0.00 1,800.00
5206 Empl. Lodging 1,894.00 4,800.00 0.00 4,800.00
5270 Travel & Meeting Expense 0.00 750.00 0.00 750.00
5312 Continuing Education 0.00 3,000.00 0.00 3,500.00
5370 Training & Development 2,090.41 8,000.00 0.00 8,000.00
5402 Employee Uniforms 13,806.50 20,100.00 7,542.11 15,000.00
5508 Cleaning Services 9,540.00 12,000.00 7,260.00 12,000.00
6210 Trustee Fees 3,500.00 7,500.00 7,000.00 7,500.00

Total Office & Admin 57,709.44 102,650.00 38,282.89 92,800.00

Utilities
5802 Gas & Electric 34,773.66 40,000.00 21,959.17 40,000.00
5803 Propane 16,366.84 25,000.00 3,898.75 25,000.00

Total Utilities 51,140.50 65,000.00 25,857.92 65,000.00

Materials & Supplies
5806 Building Supplies 3,531.01 7,000.00 2,273.94 7,000.00
5810 Site Supplies 13,356.26 40,000.00 4,799.17 40,000.00
5824 Sand, Gravel & Stone 195,500.03 200,000.00 139,456.08 220,000.00
5826 Seed & Mulch 27,262.90 35,000.00 21,111.00 35,000.00

Total Materials & Supplies 239,650.20 282,000.00 167,640.19 302,000.00

Professional Fees
5924 Legal 2,550.00 5,500.00 3,500.00 5,500.00
5926 Investment Banking Fees 14,974.87 17,353.00 12,711.00 21,300.00
5970 Consulting 180.00 3,500.00 2,245.00 15,000.00

Total Professional Fees 17,704.87 26,353.00 18,456.00 41,800.00

Repairs & Maintenance
5804 Building Maintenance & Repair 22,771.36 20,000.00 5,478.49 20,000.00

Total Repairs & Maintenance 22,771.36 20,000.00 5,478.49 20,000.00

Automobile
5603 Auto/Light Truck Rental/Lease 23,399.96 17,200.00 11,466.64 14,400.00

Total Automobile 23,399.96 17,200.00 11,466.64 14,400.00

Computer
5124 Computer Equipment 8,116.28 9,900.00 7,958.27 18,700.00
5128 Programming & Software 5,039.84 6,155.00 5,239.06 7,500.00

Total Computer 13,156.12 16,055.00 13,197.33 26,200.00

Materials Management 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

89



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget
6114 Insurance 171,307.63 169,600.00 113,066.64 170,700.00
619… Admin Allocation 784,408.75 840,523.00 549,990.92 993,394.00
619… Engineering Allocation 19,175.02 31,076.00 21,153.04 30,524.00
6208 NYS Administrative Assessment 50,941.00 52,101.00 0.00 51,147.00
890… Water Quality Allocation 23.03 0.00 0.00 0.00
7032 Depreciation 3,914,217.22 3,560,700.00 2,011,943.63 3,537,500.00
6202 Interest Expense 453,588.02 658,144.00 400,586.00 658,144.00
7170 Bond Issuance Costs 128,847.57 0.00 0.00 0.00
6901 Contingency 0.00 30,000.00 0.00 30,000.00

Total Expenses 11,859,036.68 13,997,945.00 6,997,573.80 13,583,913.00

Change in Net Position (518,176.14) (2,438,093.00) 144,155.14 (2,817,691.00)

Materials Management 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

90



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW  FROM OPERATIONS
(This presentation of Cash Flow does not take into account changes in accruals)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (2,817,691.00)

PLUS DEPRECIATION & AMORTIZATION 3,537,500.00
6016 PLUS CLOSURE & P. CLOSURE COSTS 744,157.00

- 25… LESS PRINCIPAL PAYMENTS (520,000.00)

RESERVE/CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS
- 40… REPLACEMENT RESERVE (307,226.00)
- 40… CLOSURE RESERVE (679,879.00)
- 40… POST CLOSURE RESERVE (64,278.00)
3151 MMF CAPITAL RESERVE 110,229.00

TOTAL RESERVE/CAPITAL REQUIRED (941,154.00)

CASH FLOW 2,812.00

Materials Management 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

91



Project 
Number Project Description Fund

Budget FYE 
2022

Budget FYE 
2023

Budget FYE 
2024

Budget FYE 
2025

Budget FYE 
2026

O&M Building Door Replacement R 40,000$             
O&M Building Roof Assessment & Replacement R 180,000$           
Main Flare Siting and Sizing R 7,500$               350,000$          
LFG Wellfield Expansion Project LGR 300,000$           200,000$      
Equipment: Sewer Jet/Vacuum Truck R 460,000$           
Waste Heat Recovery Report/Study R 30,000$             
RTS Material Recovery Facility or Move TBD
Equipment: Waste Dozer R 550,000$          600,000$          
O&M Building Parking Lot Paving R 200,000$          
Equipment: Hydraulic Excavator R 400,000$          475,000$      
Equipment: Leachate Tank Trailer R 90,000$            95,000$            100,000$      105,000$      
Equipment: Articulated Hauler R 550,000$          625,000$      
Closure V Phase 1 & 2 C 500,000$          5,000,000$   
Design and Construction for Cell 14 LR 500,000$          7,500,000$   
Equipment: Landfill Compactor R 650,000$          
On-site Leachate Treatment - Planning & 
Development R 750,000$          
Equipment: Leachate Truck Tractor R 170,000$      180,000$      
Closure VI (Phase 1: Design & Bidding, Phase 
2: Construction) C 600,000$      

TOTAL MMF 1,017,500$        1,590,000$       3,645,000$       13,445,000$ 1,510,000$   

APPENDIX B
MATERIALS MANAGEMENT FACILITY CAPITAL PROJECTS

92



 
APPROVING FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022  
REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT BUDGET 

 
 

Whereas, the Development Authority of the North Country has caused to be prepared 
and has reviewed Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Regional Development Budget, detailed by the 
attached Appendix A. 

 
Now, upon recommendation of the Finance & Budget Committee, therefore be it 

 
RESOLVED, that the Development Authority of the North Country that: 
 

1. The Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Regional Development Budget and line items contained 
therein, as proposed and set forth in Appendix A, are hereby approved and adopted. 

 
2. To enhance the Authority’s ability to respond promptly to customer requirements, the 

authority to negotiate contracts is hereby delegated to the Executive Director who will 
report such actions to the Board of Directors in a timely manner. 

 
 
 

Board Resolution No. 2021-02-42 
February 25, 2021 

93



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget
Customer Billings

4001 Customer Billings $145,500.47 $162,510.00 $91,021.53 $134,876.00
Total Customer Billings 145,500.47 162,510.00 91,021.53 134,876.00

Grant Revenue
4181 Federal Grant Income 214,514.58 90,000.00 9,578.94 114,211.00
4183 NY State Grants 2,164,333.97 1,239,000.00 493,001.15 963,581.00
4184 Other Grants 0.00 40,000.00 0.00 40,000.00

Total Grant Revenue 2,378,848.55 1,369,000.00 502,580.09 1,117,792.00

4104 Loan Interest Income 635,971.21 612,000.00 271,487.21 488,000.00

Other Income
4162 Processing Fees 39,950.00 25,000.00 9,500.00 10,000.00
4164 Miscellaneous 7,717.42 17,000.00 7,196.73 10,300.00
4185 Grant Recapture 16,350.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
4190 Recovery of Bad Debts 0.00 0.00 13,763.38 0.00

Total Other Income 64,017.42 42,000.00 30,460.11 20,300.00

Interest Income
4102 Investment Interest Income 291,044.17 240,080.00 106,880.51 114,243.00
420… Mark to Market Adjustment 18,806.22 0.00 (14,625.23) 0.00

Total Interest Income 309,850.39 240,080.00 92,255.28 114,243.00
Total Income 3,534,188.04 2,425,590.00 987,804.22 1,875,211.00

Salaries
500… Administrative Wages 16,052.90 12,669.00 8,565.04 17,585.00
500… Engineering Wages 24,258.44 25,094.00 5,752.69 22,453.00
500… Regional Development Wages 312,180.79 332,753.00 195,761.98 347,175.00
500… Overtime Wages 17.82 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total Salaries 352,509.95 370,516.00 210,079.71 387,213.00

Fringe Benefits
503… FICA Expense 23,768.34 28,344.00 14,933.55 25,246.00
503… Pension Expense 54,750.16 54,377.00 33,458.05 63,855.00
503… Health Insurance 56,095.72 52,972.00 32,668.82 57,204.00
503… Workers Comp 728.97 765.00 389.80 739.00
503… Disability Insurance 302.17 321.00 258.64 1,255.00
504… Post Retire Overhead 25,226.85 25,116.00 14,297.31 25,667.00

Total Fringe Benefits 160,872.21 161,895.00 96,006.17 173,966.00

Operations & Maintenance
6110 Marketing 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 5,000.00
8090 Purchases for Resale 500.00 7,000.00 2,420.00 7,000.00

Total O & M 5,500.00 12,000.00 2,420.00 12,000.00

6006 Host Community Benefits 88,942.88 103,766.00 103,765.74 133,411.00

Office & Administrative
5114 Cellular Services 0.00 0.00 680.00 800.00
5120 Dues & Subscriptions 125.00 625.00 500.00 625.00
5122 Public Info & Advertising 230.12 2,000.00 190.00 1,750.00
5172 Filing Fees 580.00 1,100.00 600.00 600.00
5202 Employee Mileage Reimbursement 443.00 1,750.00 395.06 2,000.00
5204 Empl. Meals & Incidental 350.02 1,625.00 0.00 1,625.00
5206 Empl. Lodging 2,280.06 3,300.00 0.00 3,300.00
5270 Travel & Meeting Expense 611.74 1,800.00 300.00 2,300.00
5370 Training & Development 1,749.00 1,800.00 0.00 5,300.00

Regional Development 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

94



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget
5570 Other General Expense 1,293.90 2,200.00 806.25 2,250.00

Total Office & Admin 7,662.84 16,200.00 3,471.31 20,550.00

Professional Fees
5924 Legal 6,480.95 11,400.00 3,160.50 11,000.00
5926 Investment Banking Fees 7,795.79 8,320.00 5,608.80 8,206.00
5970 Consulting 117,020.40 149,850.00 15,984.41 159,500.00

Total Professional Fees 131,297.14 169,570.00 24,753.71 178,706.00

Computer
6108 Web Page Design & Maintenance 0.00 750.00 0.00 750.00

Total Computer 0.00 750.00 0.00 750.00

6122 Bad Debt Expense 499,921.46 0.00 (3,051.85) 0.00
6120 Grants 731,174.64 1,517,500.00 1,089,796.57 284,570.00
619… Admin Allocation 152,342.64 159,176.00 103,983.27 164,317.00
619… Engineering Allocation 5,306.24 4,260.00 1,529.92 3,763.00
6202 Interest Expense 2,277.79 3,500.00 0.00 0.00

Total Expenses 2,137,807.79 2,519,133.00 1,632,754.55 1,359,246.00

Change in Net Position 1,396,380.25 (93,543.00) (644,950.33) 515,965.00

Regional Development 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

95



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW  FROM OPERATIONS
(This presentation of Cash Flow does not take into account changes in accruals)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 515,965.00

- 25… LESS PRINCIPAL PAYMENTS 0.00

CASH FLOW 515,965.00

Regional Development 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

96



 
APPROVING FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 TELECOMUNICATIONS DIVISION 

OPERATING BUDGET, CAPITAL PROJECTS, 
RESERVE DESIGNATIONS, AND TARIFF 

 
 Whereas, the Development Authority of the North Country has caused to be prepared and 
has reviewed the proposed Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Telecommunications Division Budget based on 
anticipated circuit demand, said proposed Budget being attached to this resolution as Appendix A, 
and 
  
 Whereas, upon recommendation by staff, it is determined that certain capital projects are 
necessary as set forth on the capital projects schedule attached as Appendix B, and 
 
 Whereas, it is necessary to ratify tariff pricing and establish reserve requirements for the 
Fiscal Year 2021-2022 in support of said Budget. 
 

Now, upon recommendation of the Finance & Budget Committee, therefore be it 
 
 RESOLVED, by the Development Authority of the North Country that: 
 
1. The Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Telecommunications Division Budget and the line items 

contained therein, as proposed and set forth in Appendix A, are hereby approved and 
adopted. 

 
2. The Telecommunications Division capital projects for the Fiscal Year 2021-2022, as set 

forth in Appendix B, are hereby approved, and the Executive Director is hereby 
authorized and directed to undertake and pay for such projects, including contracting 
therefore on such terms and conditions as he shall determine.  Further, capital funds 
that were previously approved but not fully expended are carried forward for use in 
Fiscal Year 2021-2022. 

 
3. Based upon anticipated circuit volume, a tariff was filed with and accepted by the Public 

Services Commission (May 1, 2004) and will remain in effect for Fiscal Year 2021-2022. 
 
4.  Reserves previously authorized have been created and capitalized as of December 31,
 2020 in the following amounts: 
 
 Operating  $   973,793 
 Repair and Upgrade $5,808,534 
   
 For Fiscal Year 2021-2022, reserves will be maintained on an on-going basis as follows: 
  
 Operating 16.7% of Revenue  
 Repair & Upgrade 18% of Equipment Replacement Cost 
    20% of OSP Replacement Cost 

Board Resolution No. 2021-02-43 
February 25, 2021 

97



  
 
5.  To enhance the Authority’s ability to respond promptly to changing conditions in the 

competitive telecommunications market, the authority to create and manage reserves, 
establish agreements and negotiate contracts is hereby delegated to the Executive 
Director who shall report such actions to the Board of Directors on a timely basis. 

 
 

98



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget
Customer Billings

4001 Customer Billings $5,903,569.24 $5,720,074.00 $3,911,245.23 $5,664,117.00
4004 Dark Fiber Billings 541,561.92 440,016.00 319,880.67 591,569.00

Total Customer Billings 6,445,131.16 6,160,090.00 4,231,125.90 6,255,686.00

Grant Revenue
4181 Federal Grant Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 200,000.00

Total Grant Revenue 0.00 0.00 0.00 200,000.00

Other Income
4164 Miscellaneous 58,051.63 47,050.00 13,450.76 47,050.00

Total Other Income 58,051.63 47,050.00 13,450.76 47,050.00

Interest Income
4102 Investment Interest Income 38,672.95 38,890.00 16,058.57 9,773.00
4108 Reserve Interest 232,789.01 211,633.00 67,259.08 84,786.00
420… Mark to Market Adjustment 119,234.09 0.00 (11,591.25) 0.00

Total Interest Income 390,696.05 250,523.00 71,726.40 94,559.00
Total Income 6,893,878.84 6,457,663.00 4,316,303.06 6,597,295.00

Salaries
500… Engineering Wages 26,749.74 28,419.00 21,464.78 28,644.00
500… Technology Wages 1,151,172.70 1,206,515.00 805,887.50 1,269,135.00
500… Overtime Wages 2,376.15 2,500.00 1,002.38 2,500.00

Total Salaries 1,180,298.59 1,237,434.00 828,354.66 1,300,279.00

Fringe Benefits
503… FICA Expense 86,810.21 94,474.00 63,511.77 92,438.00
503… Pension Expense 160,747.56 179,435.00 114,135.53 172,232.00
503… Health Insurance 90,959.35 85,255.00 60,231.98 92,741.00
503… Workers Comp 2,272.74 2,328.00 1,540.33 2,437.00
503… Disability Insurance 396.43 400.00 266.64 2,204.00
504… Post Retire Overhead 72,420.33 69,055.00 50,499.81 69,552.00
5054 Employee Physicals & Screening 271.25 500.00 0.00 500.00

Total Fringe Benefits 413,877.87 431,447.00 290,186.06 432,104.00

Operations & Maintenance
5062 Third Party Temporary - O&M 0.00 500.00 0.00 1,000.00
5133 Equipment Maintenance Contracts 308,874.87 325,144.00 227,424.31 340,194.00
5134 Maintenance Contracts 125,677.67 167,705.00 69,897.28 155,800.00
5135 Underground Locating 44,162.73 67,000.00 29,837.16 70,000.00
5403 Safety Equipment & Supplies 310.27 900.00 0.00 900.00
5704 O&M Supplies 4,612.32 4,500.00 1,603.52 4,500.00
5712 Purchased Maintenance & Repair 20,159.64 53,500.00 24,636.26 55,000.00
5720 Offnet Circuit Lease 566,865.33 630,812.00 390,001.53 677,772.00
5770 Other Tool, Equip & O&M 8,208.20 6,000.00 5,213.89 6,000.00
5830 Collo Expense 151,986.62 183,348.00 112,417.68 171,720.00
5834 Permitting 269.00 9,400.00 119.00 6,000.00
5835 NYS DOT Fee 0.00 5,500.00 0.00 10,000.00
5836 Pole Attachment Fees 261,486.12 319,979.00 174,452.79 310,643.00
5838 Conduit Lease 16,069.78 24,696.00 10,632.42 22,195.00

Total O & M 1,508,682.55 1,798,984.00 1,046,235.84 1,831,724.00

Office & Administrative
5053 Misc Employee Costs 1,458.36 2,400.00 938.91 2,400.00
5102 Office Rent 46,725.20 44,279.00 35,258.99 44,279.00
5104 Office Supplies 2,199.31 2,200.00 1,036.53 2,200.00

Telecommunications
BUDGET FYE 2022

APPENDIX A

2/8/2021
3:49 PM

99



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget
5110 Postage & Shipping 234.38 1,000.00 238.21 1,000.00
5112 Telephone 11,602.42 12,420.00 7,632.03 11,500.00
5114 Cellular Services 5,793.42 5,600.00 3,011.86 5,600.00
5118 Other Communications 1,373.40 1,600.00 955.60 1,600.00
5120 Dues & Subscriptions 0.00 500.00 60.00 500.00
5122 Public Info & Advertising 0.00 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00
5123 Promotional Materials 250.00 1,000.00 14.24 5,000.00
5130 Office Equipment 3,317.33 1,000.00 999.13 3,000.00
5170 Other Office Expenses 3,925.32 6,000.00 5,450.04 6,000.00
5172 Filing Fees 2,476.93 16,600.00 1,524.14 24,000.00
5202 Employee Mileage Reimbursement 1,107.06 1,962.00 128.80 2,016.00
5204 Empl. Meals & Incidental 5,309.98 4,500.00 601.62 8,500.00
5206 Empl. Lodging 10,358.34 5,000.00 1,771.64 15,000.00
5270 Travel & Meeting Expense 327.48 500.00 0.00 500.00
5370 Training & Development 7,978.86 800.00 0.00 9,300.00
5402 Employee Uniforms 912.00 1,225.00 0.00 1,225.00
5570 Other General Expense 0.00 1,000.00 599.10 1,000.00

Total Office & Admin 105,349.79 111,586.00 60,220.84 146,620.00

Utilities
5802 Gas & Electric 3,411.23 5,000.00 2,299.67 5,000.00

Total Utilities 3,411.23 5,000.00 2,299.67 5,000.00

Professional Fees
5924 Legal 19,215.00 109,000.00 86,634.75 45,000.00
5926 Investment Banking Fees 5,050.73 5,791.00 3,528.33 5,734.00
5970 Consulting 6,400.00 113,000.00 48,545.00 25,000.00

Total Professional Fees 30,665.73 227,791.00 138,708.08 75,734.00

Automobile
5601 Auto/Light Truck Rep. & Maint. 12,328.02 12,000.00 3,599.56 12,000.00
5602 Auto/Light Truck Fuel 21,716.88 17,000.00 5,906.76 22,000.00
5603 Auto/Light Truck Rental/Lease 43,300.06 59,700.00 39,800.00 58,000.00
5605 Vehicle Ins 10,544.55 12,900.00 8,600.00 12,100.00

Total Automobile 87,889.51 101,600.00 57,906.32 104,100.00

Computer
5124 Computer Equipment 4,611.95 11,100.00 9,773.32 9,500.00
5128 Programming & Software 11,546.71 17,505.00 14,036.93 18,750.00

Total Computer 16,158.66 28,605.00 23,810.25 28,250.00

6122 Bad Debt Expense 130,302.40 0.00 34,288.63 0.00
6114 Insurance 122,004.98 122,900.00 81,933.36 130,200.00
619… Admin Allocation 572,416.46 616,227.00 403,165.88 617,820.00
619… Engineering Allocation 13,644.31 11,662.00 9,334.38 11,730.00
6208 NYS Administrative Assessment 33,942.00 34,715.00 0.00 34,901.00
7032 Depreciation 3,474,403.72 3,647,400.00 2,383,212.21 3,732,600.00
6901 Contingency 0.00 580.00 0.00 25,000.00

Total Expenses 7,693,047.80 8,375,931.00 5,359,656.18 8,476,062.00

Change in Net Position (799,168.96) (1,918,268.00) (1,043,353.12) (1,878,767.00)

Telecommunications
BUDGET FYE 2022

APPENDIX A

2/8/2021
3:49 PM

100



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW  FROM OPERATIONS
(This presentation of Cash Flow does not take into account changes in accruals)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (1,878,767.00)

PLUS DEPRECIATION & AMORTIZATION 3,732,600.00

RESERVE/CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS
- 3143 TELECO REPAIR/UPGRADE RESERVE 0.00
- 14?? TELECOM CAPITAL PROJECTS (1,520,000.00)

TOTAL RESERVE/CAPITAL REQUIRED (1,520,000.00)

CASH FLOW 333,833.00

Telecommunications
BUDGET FYE 2022

APPENDIX A

2/8/2021
3:49 PM

101



Fund Description

R Replacement Reserve

Project 
Number Project Description Fund

Budget FYE 
2022

Budget FYE 
2023

Budget FYE 
2024

Budget FYE 
2025

Budget FYE 
2026

DWDM Upgrade (Dense Wave Division Multiplexing) R 120,000$           100,000$          -$  200,000$      100,000$      
Customer Network Construction R 550,000$           600,000$          650,000$          700,000$      700,000$      
Ethernet Enhancements R 100,000$           350,000$          300,000$          250,000$      250,000$      
Wireless Tower Service R 350,000$           200,000$          200,000$          200,000$      200,000$      
Emergency Restoration R 150,000$           157,500$          165,375$          173,644$      182,326$      
Central Office Enhancements R 120,000$           125,000$          125,000$          125,000$      125,000$      
DOT Road Projects R 50,000$             80,000$            80,000$            75,000$        75,000$        
Fiber Augments R 80,000$             85,000$            100,000$          100,000$      100,000$      

TOTAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS 1,520,000$        1,697,500$       1,620,375$       1,823,644$   1,732,326$   

APPENDIX B
TELECOMMUNICATIONS CAPITAL PROJECTS

102



 
APPROVING FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 WATER QUALITY MANAGEMENT 

DIVISION OPERATING BUDGET, CAPITAL PROJECTS 
AND USER CHARGES 

 
Whereas, the Development Authority of the North Country has caused to be prepared and 

has reviewed the proposed Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Water Quality Management Budgets, attached 
to this Resolution as Appendices A(1) – A(4), and 
 
 Whereas, upon recommendation by staff and consulting engineers, it is determined that 
certain capital projects are necessary to be undertaken for the continued efficient operation of the 
Facilities, as set forth on the Capital Projects Schedule attached to this Resolution as Appendix B, 
and 
 
 Whereas, it is necessary to establish outside user charges for use of Water Quality 
Management for the Fiscal Year 2021-2022 as proposed in the User Charges Schedule set forth 
in Appendix C, and 
 
 Whereas, it is necessary to maintain required reserves for the Army Waterline and 
Sewerline, and Regional Waterline projects. 
 
 Now, upon recommendation of the Finance & Budget Committee, therefore be it 
 
 
 RESOLVED, by the Development Authority of the North Country that: 
 
1. The Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Water Quality Management Budgets and line items contained 

therein, as proposed and set forth in Appendices A(1)-A(4), are hereby approved and 
adopted. 

 
2. The Water Quality Management’s capital projects for the Fiscal Year 2021-2022, as 

proposed and set forth in Appendix B are hereby approved.  The Executive Director is 
hereby authorized and directed to undertake and pay for such projects, including 
contracting therefore on such terms and conditions as he shall determine. Further, 
capital funds that were previously approved but not fully expended are carried forward 
for use in Fiscal Year 2021-2022.   

 
3. The user charges for Water Quality Management for Fiscal Year 2021-2022, as proposed 

and set forth in Appendix C, are hereby approved and adopted. 
 

4. The Executive Director is authorized and directed to manage reserves for the Army 
Waterline and Sewerline, and Regional Waterline projects consistent with contractual 
requirements.  To enhance the Authority’s ability to respond promptly to customer 
requirements, the authority to negotiate contracts is hereby delegated to the Executive 
Director who will report such actions to the Board of Directors in a timely manner. 

 

Board Resolution No. 2021-02-44 
February 25, 2021 

 

103



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget
Customer Billings

4001 Customer Billings $2,174,515.06 $2,365,363.00 $1,434,698.63 $2,779,184.00
Total Customer Billings 2,174,515.06 2,365,363.00 1,434,698.63 2,779,184.00

Other Income
4164 Miscellaneous 12,501.00 12,501.00 8,334.00 7,129.00

Total Other Income 12,501.00 12,501.00 8,334.00 7,129.00

Interest Income
4108 Reserve Interest 37,899.40 38,400.00 15,391.02 27,800.00
420… Mark to Market Adjustment 32,527.58 0.00 8,775.96 0.00

Total Interest Income 70,426.98 38,400.00 24,166.98 27,800.00
Total Income 2,257,443.04 2,416,264.00 1,467,199.61 2,814,113.00

Salaries
500… Engineering Wages 17,899.39 37,764.00 32,140.21 39,529.00
500… WQ Wages 299,589.94 343,288.00 192,230.16 369,119.00
500… Overtime Wages 27,395.49 25,618.00 18,797.24 26,392.00
5005 On-Call Stipend 3,060.00 3,840.00 2,160.00 3,840.00

Total Salaries 347,944.82 410,510.00 245,327.61 438,880.00

Fringe Benefits
503… FICA Expense 24,608.34 31,403.00 18,356.76 28,846.00
503… Pension Expense 46,929.24 54,524.00 32,750.09 65,048.00
503… Health Insurance 55,983.63 58,334.00 36,175.71 63,471.00
503… Workers Comp 27,596.80 26,785.00 17,794.35 25,264.00
503… Disability Insurance 194.06 204.00 136.00 1,249.00
504… Post Retire Overhead 32,000.94 35,577.00 22,505.85 36,292.00
5054 Employee Physicals & Screening 1,993.75 3,000.00 585.00 2,750.00

Total Fringe Benefits 189,306.76 209,827.00 128,303.76 222,920.00

Operations & Maintenance
5062 Third Party Temporary - O&M 0.00 7,500.00 0.00 0.00
5403 Safety Equipment & Supplies 13,139.19 15,000.00 3,183.01 7,500.00
5706 Shop Tools 11,403.46 12,000.00 3,366.92 10,000.00
5815 Chemicals 44,420.68 75,000.00 37,427.82 60,000.00
5902 Lab Fees 0.00 500.00 0.00 0.00

Total O & M 68,963.33 110,000.00 43,977.75 77,500.00

6002 Sewage Treatment 937,678.09 1,016,076.00 542,181.98 1,234,029.00
6004 Water Purchases 2,872.00 3,200.00 2,154.00 3,200.00

Office & Administrative
5053 Misc Employee Costs 0.00 100.00 59.39 100.00
5104 Office Supplies 5,068.84 5,500.00 2,847.02 5,500.00
5110 Postage & Shipping 340.00 1,500.00 190.40 1,000.00
5112 Telephone 9,011.73 10,000.00 5,047.53 10,000.00
5114 Cellular Services 12,107.98 14,600.00 6,627.98 13,900.00
5120 Dues & Subscriptions 1,332.20 2,000.00 781.00 1,500.00
5122 Public Info & Advertising 1,087.54 1,500.00 584.25 1,500.00
5130 Office Equipment 0.00 1,000.00 259.99 1,000.00
5202 Employee Mileage Reimbursement 0.00 1,000.00 0.00 500.00
5204 Empl. Meals & Incidental 655.25 3,000.00 0.00 2,500.00
5206 Empl. Lodging 2,513.60 5,000.00 0.00 5,000.00
5370 Training & Development 5,074.77 10,000.00 2,260.40 8,000.00
5402 Employee Uniforms 6,456.60 9,000.00 1,264.82 7,500.00
5508 Cleaning Services 11,055.00 12,000.00 8,760.00 12,000.00

Total Office & Admin 54,703.51 76,200.00 28,682.78 70,000.00

Army Sewer 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A-1

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

104



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget

Utilities
5802 Gas & Electric 49,999.00 59,750.00 20,736.76 54,980.00

Total Utilities 49,999.00 59,750.00 20,736.76 54,980.00

Professional Fees
5924 Legal 0.00 3,000.00 1,487.50 3,000.00
5926 Investment Banking Fees 1,063.72 1,179.00 818.32 1,197.00

Total Professional Fees 1,063.72 4,179.00 2,305.82 4,197.00

Repairs & Maintenance
5804 Building Maintenance & Repair 18,527.12 15,000.00 6,270.66 15,000.00
5808 Site Maint & Repair 22,418.64 25,000.00 11,640.16 25,000.00
5812 Pipeline Maintenance 35,939.75 45,000.00 31,163.19 45,000.00

Total Repairs & Maintenance 76,885.51 85,000.00 49,074.01 85,000.00

Automobile
5601 Auto/Light Truck Rep. & Maint. 9,948.19 19,000.00 7,530.52 19,000.00
5602 Auto/Light Truck Fuel 44,393.19 58,020.00 22,663.65 50,000.00
5603 Auto/Light Truck Rental/Lease 116,999.86 127,400.00 84,933.36 132,200.00
5605 Vehicle Ins 19,607.48 35,300.00 23,533.36 27,900.00

Total Automobile 190,948.72 239,720.00 138,660.89 229,100.00

Computer
5124 Computer Equipment 11,720.46 6,000.00 5,873.71 12,500.00
5128 Programming & Software 29,455.00 7,602.00 5,101.93 7,602.00

Total Computer 41,175.46 13,602.00 10,975.64 20,102.00

6114 Insurance 31,874.62 34,700.00 23,133.36 34,100.00
619… Admin Allocation 232,206.12 289,618.00 189,524.84 281,576.00
619… Engineering Allocation 7,768.75 10,720.00 8,558.38 10,490.00
6208 NYS Administrative Assessment 13,434.00 13,740.00 0.00 13,401.00
890… Water Quality Allocation (173,854.32) (210,579.00) (116,621.52) (205,362.00)
7032 Depreciation 270,790.21 275,200.00 200,301.51 303,500.00

Total Expenses 2,343,760.30 2,641,463.00 1,517,277.57 2,877,613.00

Change in Net Position (86,317.26) (225,199.00) (50,077.96) (63,500.00)

Army Sewer 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A-1

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

105



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW  FROM OPERATIONS
(This presentation of Cash Flow does not take into account changes in accruals)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (63,500.00)

PLUS DEPRECIATION & AMORTIZATION 303,500.00

RESERVE/CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS
- 14?? ASL CAPITAL PROJECTS (240,000.00)

TOTAL RESERVE/CAPITAL REQUIRED (240,000.00)

CASH FLOW 0.00

Army Sewer 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A-1

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

106



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget
Customer Billings

4001 Customer Billings $1,759,065.56 $2,022,314.00 $1,397,316.17 $2,015,330.00
Total Customer Billings 1,759,065.56 2,022,314.00 1,397,316.17 2,015,330.00

Grant Revenue
4181 Federal Grant Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 900,000.00

Total Grant Revenue 0.00 0.00 0.00 900,000.00

Interest Income
4108 Reserve Interest 20,672.44 20,900.00 8,395.10 15,100.00
420… Mark to Market Adjustment 17,742.32 0.00 4,786.89 0.00

Total Interest Income 38,414.76 20,900.00 13,181.99 15,100.00
Total Income 1,797,480.32 2,043,214.00 1,410,498.16 2,930,430.00

Salaries
500… Engineering Wages 17,525.04 36,898.00 31,547.81 38,266.00
500… MMF Wages 0.00 0.00 154.73 0.00
500… WQ Wages 255,312.06 295,190.00 182,071.66 330,353.00
500… Overtime Wages 8,446.01 11,282.00 5,700.49 11,632.00
5005 On-Call Stipend 3,060.00 3,840.00 2,160.00 3,840.00

Total Salaries 284,343.11 347,210.00 221,634.69 384,091.00

Fringe Benefits
503… FICA Expense 20,065.38 26,562.00 16,525.73 25,254.00
503… Pension Expense 38,228.33 46,070.00 30,501.48 56,937.00
503… Health Insurance 44,455.44 49,390.00 35,764.55 55,640.00
503… Workers Comp 12,605.42 22,316.00 9,540.61 21,763.00
503… Disability Insurance 159.90 174.00 116.00 1,088.00
504… Post Retire Overhead 25,086.72 30,029.00 19,689.27 31,630.00
5054 Employee Physicals & Screening 1,892.50 2,500.00 332.50 2,250.00

Total Fringe Benefits 142,493.69 177,041.00 112,470.14 194,562.00

Operations & Maintenance
5706 Shop Tools 0.00 2,100.00 0.00 5,000.00
5902 Lab Fees 3,598.00 5,000.00 3,210.00 5,000.00

Total O & M 3,598.00 7,100.00 3,210.00 10,000.00

6004 Water Purchases 486,929.77 686,300.00 343,904.03 664,255.00

Office & Administrative
5122 Public Info & Advertising 0.00 1,000.00 0.00 981.00
5202 Employee Mileage Reimbursement 0.00 100.00 0.00 100.00

Total Office & Admin 0.00 1,100.00 0.00 1,081.00

Utilities
5802 Gas & Electric 14,131.25 19,550.00 7,031.66 21,250.00

Total Utilities 14,131.25 19,550.00 7,031.66 21,250.00

Professional Fees
5924 Legal 0.00 1,500.00 0.00 1,500.00
5926 Investment Banking Fees 572.78 757.00 440.63 766.00

Total Professional Fees 572.78 2,257.00 440.63 2,266.00

Repairs & Maintenance
5804 Building Maintenance & Repair 2,037.54 4,000.00 3,230.40 4,000.00
5808 Site Maint & Repair 3,355.00 11,600.00 10,641.00 7,000.00
5812 Pipeline Maintenance 15,632.91 20,000.00 18,716.16 20,000.00

Total Repairs & Maintenance 21,025.45 35,600.00 32,587.56 31,000.00

Army Water Line 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A-2

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

107



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget

Computer
5128 Programming & Software 19,980.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total Computer 19,980.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

6114 Insurance 25,236.34 27,500.00 18,333.36 29,200.00
619… Admin Allocation 135,879.88 152,867.00 100,011.24 165,070.00
619… Engineering Allocation 7,479.08 10,197.00 8,260.18 9,964.00
6208 NYS Administrative Assessment 10,609.00 10,851.00 0.00 11,458.00
890… Water Quality Allocation 62,727.10 94,469.00 48,024.11 85,061.00
7032 Depreciation 157,623.60 266,100.00 206,879.17 354,600.00

Total Expenses 1,372,629.05 1,838,142.00 1,102,786.77 1,963,858.00

Change in Net Position 424,851.27 205,072.00 307,711.39 966,572.00

Army Water Line 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A-2

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

108



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW  FROM OPERATIONS
(This presentation of Cash Flow does not take into account changes in accruals)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 966,572.00

PLUS DEPRECIATION & AMORTIZATION 354,600.00

- 25… LESS PRINCIPAL PAYMENTS (371,172.00)

RESERVE/CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS
- 14?? AWL CAPITAL PROJECTS (950,000.00)

TOTAL RESERVE/CAPITAL REQUIRED (950,000.00)

CASH FLOW 0.00

Army Water Line 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A-2

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

109



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget
Customer Billings

4001 Customer Billings $88,223.52 $76,441.00 $57,082.05 $85,065.00
4005 Capital Billings 277,287.52 274,264.00 182,842.60 278,587.00

Total Customer Billings 365,511.04 350,705.00 239,924.65 363,652.00

Interest Income
4102 Investment Interest Income 8,773.53 8,600.00 5,747.19 2,000.00

Total Interest Income 8,773.53 8,600.00 5,747.19 2,000.00
Total Income 374,284.57 359,305.00 245,671.84 365,652.00

Salaries
500… Engineering Wages 4,054.81 8,690.00 4,946.42 8,892.00
500… WQ Wages 19,575.50 21,018.00 12,977.37 21,625.00
500… Overtime Wages 1,046.21 1,583.00 605.04 1,626.00
5005 On-Call Stipend 1,530.00 1,920.00 1,080.00 1,920.00

Total Salaries 26,206.52 33,211.00 19,608.83 34,063.00

Fringe Benefits
503… FICA Expense 1,876.87 2,541.00 1,427.91 2,214.00
503… Pension Expense 3,545.28 4,370.00 2,722.98 5,078.00
503… Health Insurance 5,149.08 4,552.00 2,861.82 5,122.00
503… Workers Comp 1,168.33 1,776.00 962.02 1,667.00
503… Disability Insurance 15.75 17.00 11.36 98.00
504… Post Retire Overhead 2,378.79 2,819.00 1,833.75 2,828.00

Total Fringe Benefits 14,134.10 16,075.00 9,819.84 17,007.00

Operations & Maintenance
5706 Shop Tools 0.00 500.00 0.00 500.00
5815 Chemicals 1,109.70 2,000.00 1,068.00 2,000.00
5902 Lab Fees 3,273.00 3,600.00 1,755.00 3,600.00
6010 Cape Vincent Reserve 700.00 700.00 700.00 700.00

Total O & M 5,082.70 6,800.00 3,523.00 6,800.00

6004 Water Purchases 79,091.00 76,441.00 58,548.15 85,065.00

Office & Administrative
5122 Public Info & Advertising 0.00 250.00 0.00 250.00
5202 Employee Mileage Reimbursement 0.00 100.00 0.00 0.00

Total Office & Admin 0.00 350.00 0.00 250.00

Utilities
5802 Gas & Electric 18,716.06 25,000.00 13,126.35 22,995.00

Total Utilities 18,716.06 25,000.00 13,126.35 22,995.00

Professional Fees
5924 Legal 0.00 500.00 0.00 500.00

Total Professional Fees 0.00 500.00 0.00 500.00

Repairs & Maintenance
5804 Building Maintenance & Repair 8,889.15 9,000.00 2,206.35 9,000.00
5808 Site Maint & Repair 2,642.79 3,500.00 1,605.52 3,500.00
5812 Pipeline Maintenance 18,399.51 20,000.00 7,886.22 20,000.00

Total Repairs & Maintenance 29,931.45 32,500.00 11,698.09 32,500.00

6114 Insurance 4,938.84 5,400.00 3,600.00 5,000.00
619… Admin Allocation 17,193.15 17,717.00 11,632.51 17,426.00
619… Engineering Allocation 3,597.60 2,747.00 1,409.47 2,531.00

Regional Water Line 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A-3

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

110



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget
6208 NYS Administrative Assessment 2,102.00 2,149.00 0.00 1,987.00
890… Water Quality Allocation 5,503.59 7,517.00 4,045.39 6,665.00
7032 Depreciation 141,719.51 142,400.00 90,541.64 143,600.00
7002 Amortization 24,366.75 24,400.00 16,244.52 24,400.00
6202 Interest Expense 61,902.02 59,403.00 9,262.59 56,806.00

Total Expenses 434,485.29 452,610.00 253,060.38 457,595.00

Change in Net Position (60,200.72) (93,305.00) (7,388.54) (91,943.00)

Regional Water Line 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A-3

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

111



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW  FROM OPERATIONS
(This presentation of Cash Flow does not take into account changes in accruals)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (91,943.00)

PLUS DEPRECIATION & AMORTIZATION 168,000.00

- 25… LESS PRINCIPAL PAYMENTS (76,057.00)

RESERVE/CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS
3151 RWL CAPITAL RESERVE 130,000.00
- 14?? RWL CAPITAL PROJECTS (130,000.00)

TOTAL RESERVE/CAPITAL REQUIRED 0.00

CASH FLOW 0.00

Regional Water Line 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A-3

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

112



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget
Customer Billings

4001 Customer Billings $782,810.17 $879,320.00 $591,619.11 $896,185.00
Total Customer Billings 782,810.17 879,320.00 591,619.11 896,185.00

Total Income 782,810.17 879,320.00 591,619.11 896,185.00

Salaries
500… Engineering Wages 10,043.81 19,025.00 14,534.32 18,377.00
500… WQ Wages 307,525.99 310,157.00 212,784.17 319,463.00
500… Overtime Wages 76,811.96 84,785.00 58,028.48 86,662.00
5005 On-Call Stipend 7,650.00 8,400.00 5,400.00 8,400.00

Total Salaries 402,031.76 422,367.00 290,746.97 432,902.00

Fringe Benefits
503… FICA Expense 28,729.49 32,265.00 21,425.50 28,265.00
503… Pension Expense 54,924.19 54,266.00 39,819.48 64,231.00
503… Health Insurance 54,196.30 63,330.00 35,712.05 62,833.00
503… Workers Comp 27,194.54 29,726.00 19,596.24 27,084.00
503… Disability Insurance 184.83 209.00 122.64 1,277.00
504… Post Retire Overhead 34,535.25 38,663.00 24,450.75 37,110.00

Total Fringe Benefits 199,764.60 218,459.00 141,126.66 220,800.00

Operations & Maintenance
5704 O&M Supplies 0.00 500.00 0.00 500.00
5770 Other Tool, Equip & O&M 0.00 500.00 0.00 500.00
8090 Purchases for Resale 27,474.16 50,000.00 31,098.07 50,000.00

Total O & M 27,474.16 51,000.00 31,098.07 51,000.00

Office & Administrative
5053 Misc Employee Costs 10.75 0.00 0.00 0.00
5202 Employee Mileage Reimbursement 0.00 500.00 0.00 500.00
5270 Travel & Meeting Expense 73.00 300.00 0.00 300.00

Total Office & Admin 83.75 800.00 0.00 800.00

6114 Insurance 16,102.09 17,300.00 11,533.36 18,300.00
619… Admin Allocation 37,499.24 36,558.00 23,974.33 36,745.00
619… Engineering Allocation 10,221.98 12,294.00 6,719.05 10,551.00
6208 NYS Administrative Assessment 4,437.00 4,537.00 0.00 4,982.00
890… Water Quality Allocation 104,416.60 108,593.00 64,552.02 113,636.00

Total Expenses 802,031.18 871,908.00 569,750.46 889,716.00

Change in Net Position (19,221.01) 7,412.00 21,868.65 6,469.00

Water Sewer Contracts 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A-4

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

113



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW  FROM OPERATIONS
(This presentation of Cash Flow does not take into account changes in accruals)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 6,469.00

CASH FLOW 6,469.00

Water Sewer Contracts 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A-4

1/26/2021
2:54 PM

114



ARMY SEWER LINE

Project 
Number Project Description Fund

Budget FYE 
2022

Budget FYE 
2023

Budget FYE 
2024

Budget FYE 
2025

Budget FYE 
2026

WPS HVAC Evaluation/Design & Improv. REV 190,000$           -$                 -$                  -$              -$              
WPS WWTP Prelim Eng Report REV 50,000$             -$                 -$                  -$              -$              
WPS Gen. Maint. For Upgrade & Rehab. TBD -$                  -$                 -$                  2,000,000$   -$              

WPS ASL Contract 6 Expansion TBD -$                  -$                 -$                  -$              7,850,000$   

TOTAL ARMY SEWER LINE 240,000$           -$                 -$                  2,000,000$   7,850,000$   

ARMY WATER LINE
Project 
Number Project Description Fund

Budget FYE 
2022

Budget FYE 
2023

Budget FYE 
2024

Budget FYE 
2025

Budget FYE 
2026

AWL Alternative Water Source REV 50,000$             -$                 -$                  -$              -$              
AWL BPS1/2 SCADA Upgrade REV  $                    -   -$                 40,000$            -$               $               -   

TOTAL ARMY WATER LINE 50,000$             -$                 40,000$            -$              -$              

REGIONAL WATER LINE

Project 
Number Project Description Fund

Budget FYE 
2022

Budget FYE 
2023

Budget FYE 
2024

Budget FYE 
2025

Budget FYE 
2026

43111
RWL Mainline Valve Bolt Replacement-
Carryover $5,000 CR* 5,000$               -$                 -$                  -$              -$              

43109 RWL TOCV Pump Station Generator 
Replacement-Carryover $25,000 CR*

25,000$             
RWL Connection to Village of Dexter CR 100,000$           
RWL Water Tower TBD -$                  -$                 -$                  -$              2,500,000$   
RWL Limerick Booster Pump Station Genset 
Replacement TBD -$                  -$                 -$                  -$              200,000$      

TOTAL REGIONAL WATER LINE 130,000$           -$                 -$                  -$              2,700,000$   

Fund Description(s)
REV Revenue

O Operating Investments
CR Capital Reserve

TBD To Be Determined

APPENDIX B
WATER QUALITY MANAGEMENT CAPITAL PROJECTS

115



2020-2021 2021-2022 Change

Army Sewer 4.41 5.14 0.73

Army Water 6.63 6.58 -0.05

Sewer Connection Rates:
Town of LeRay - Sanford Corners 3.14 3.31 0.17
Town of Pamelia SD9 3.18 3.35 0.17
Town of LeRay - North Entry 3.14 3.31 0.17
Town of Leray SD 4 3.55 3.72 0.17
Town of Pamelia SD3 3.25 3.31 0.06
Route 3 Sewer 3.39 3.34 -0.05
Route 12 3.16 3.33 0.17

Water Connection Rates:
Pamelia District #2, LeRay District #1 2.92 2.91 -0.01
Pamelia District #1 2.98 2.97 -0.01
Pamelia District #4 & #5 3.04 3.04 0.00
LeRay District #2 3.25 3.25 0.00
Champion 3.68 3.73 0.05

Regional Water Line (COST COMPARISON FY21 / FY22) 

Municipality

FY 2021 
Quarterly Fixed 

Cost

FY2021 
Variable Cost 

/ KGAL

FY 2022 
Quarterly Fixed 

Cost

FY2022 
Variable Cost 

/ KGAL
T/Cape Vincent (WD 2,3) 1,490.57$          1.63$              1,514.06$         1.70$             
Lyme (incl Bus Garage) 12,669.80$        1.63$              12,869.49$       1.70$             
Chaumont 11,924.52$        1.63$              12,112.47$       1.70$             
Dexter 9,688.67$          1.63$              9,841.38$         1.70$             
T/Brownville (incl GBHS) 12,669.80$        1.63$              12,869.49$       1.70$             
V/Brownville 20,122.63$        1.63$              20,439.79$       1.70$             

APPENDIX C
Development Authority of the North Country

Army Sewer Line/Army Water Line/Regional Water Line 
2021-2022 User Charges Schedule

116



 
APPROVING FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022  

NORTH COUNTRY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND BUDGET 
 
 

Whereas, the Development Authority of the North Country has caused to be prepared 
and has reviewed Fiscal Year 2021-2022 North Country Economic Development Fund Budget, 
detailed by the attached Appendix A. 

 
Whereas, Resolution No. 2014-08-12 authorizes the execution of Program Agreement 

to establish the North Country Economic Development Fund with $10 million that the New York 
Power Authority (NYPA) received from Alcoa, and 

 
Whereas, pursuant to Resolution No. 2014-08-14, the Authority Board authorized the 

creation of a new Authority Division in order to budget and account for North Country Economic 
Development Funds accordingly, and 

 
Whereas, the North Country Economic Development Fund Board ratified the budget at 

its meeting on February 8, 2021, and  
 

RESOLVED, that the Development Authority of the North Country approves and 
adopts the Fiscal Year 2021-2022 North Country Economic Development Fund Budget 
and line items contained therein, as proposed and set forth in Appendix A. 

 
 
 

Board Resolution No. 2021-02-45 
February 25, 2021 

 

117



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget
4104 Loan Interest Income $0.00 $85,000.00 $44,899.93 $76,000.00

Other Income
4164 Miscellaneous 0.00 500.00 0.00 250.00

Total Other Income 0.00 500.00 0.00 250.00

Interest Income
4102 Investment Interest Income 0.00 142,200.00 62,365.80 83,800.00
420… Mark to Market Adjustment 0.00 0.00 (990.66) 0.00

Total Interest Income 0.00 142,200.00 61,375.14 83,800.00
Total Income 0.00 227,700.00 106,275.07 160,050.00

Professional Fees
5924 Legal 0.00 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00
5926 Investment Banking Fees 0.00 4,057.00 2,542.32 4,113.00
5970 Consulting 0.00 8,000.00 8,000.00 8,000.00

Total Professional Fees 0.00 14,057.00 10,542.32 14,113.00

Total Expenses 0.00 14,057.00 10,542.32 14,113.00

Change in Net Position 0.00 213,643.00 95,732.75 145,937.00

North Country EDF 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A

1/26/2021
2:57 PM

118



Account Description

FYE
3/31/2020

Actual

FYE
3/31/2021

Amended Budget
Actual

11/30/2020

FYE
3/31/2022

Budget

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW  FROM OPERATIONS
(This presentation of Cash Flow does not take into account changes in accruals)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 145,937.00

CASH FLOW 145,937.00

North Country EDF 
BUDGET FYE 2022 

APPENDIX A

1/26/2021
2:57 PM

119



 

MANAGEMENT SERVICES AGREEMENT AMENDMENT 2 
CITY OF OGDENSBURG 

WATER AND WASTEWATER FACILITIES 
 

 
Whereas, pursuant to Resolution No. 2016-03-41, the Development Authority of 

the North Country (Authority) and the City of Ogdensburg (City) entered into an 
Agreement dated May 16, 2016 to provide Management Services for the City’s 
Wastewater Treatment Facilities, and 

 
Whereas, pursuant to Resolution No. 2017-03-33, the Authority and the City 

agreed to Amendment 1 to provide Management Services for the City’s Water Treatment 
Facilities, and 

 
Whereas, the existing Management Services Contract and Amendment 1 will 

expire on May 15th 2021, and the City has requested the Authority extend the existing 
contract until December 31st, 2021; and  
 

Whereas, the additional cost for the Authority to provide Management Services for 
the City’s Facilities shall be $115,542 and does not include a rate increase.  

 
Now, therefore be it 

 
RESOLVED, that the Management Services Agreement, by and between the 

Authority and the City of Ogdensburg, is hereby approved. The Executive Director 
is hereby authorized and directed to execute said Agreement Amendment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Board Resolution No. 2021-02-46 
February 25, 2021 

 

120



AMENDMENT 2 

 

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE NORTH COUNTRY 

MANAGEMENT SERVICES AGREEMENT  

WATER AND WASTEWATER FACILITIES 

 

WITH THE  

 

CITY OF OGDENSBURG 

 

WHEREAS, The Development Authority of the North Country (Authority) and the 

City of Ogdensburg (City) entered into an Agreement dated May 16, 2016 to 

provide Management Services for the City’s Wastewater Treatment Facilities; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the Authority and the City amended this Agreement on May 16th, 

2017 to include Management Services for the City’s Water Treatment Facilities; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the existing Management Services Contract and Amendment No. 1 

will expire on May 15th 2021, and the City has requested the Authority extend 

the existing contract until December 31st, 2021; and  

 

WHERAS, the additional cost for the Authority to provide Management Services 

for the City’s Facilities shall be $115,542 and does not include a rate increase.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Authority and the City agree to extend the existing 

Management Service Contract and Amendment No. 1 through December 31st, 

2021. 

 

The return of one signed copy of this Amendment, together with the formal 

resolution of approval, constitutes acceptance of this Amendment and shall be 

written authorization for the Authority to proceed with contract services up to 

the amount agreed upon. 

 

 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY CITY OF OGDENSBURG 

OF THE NORTH COUNTRY  

 

By:____________________ By:______________________ 

  

 Carl E. Farone, Jr.  Stephen Jellie 

 Executive Director  City Manager 

 

 

121



 

TECHNICAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
VILLAGE OF CHAUMONT 
ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN 

 
 
Whereas, the Authority previously completed a Dissolution Study under a separate 

agreement with the Village dated December 18, 2018 (Resolution 2018-12-133).  
Additionally, the Authority currently provides web-based GIS hosting services for the 
Village under an agreement dated April 23, 2019 (Resolution 2019-05-50), and 
 

Whereas, the Village has requested technical services from the Authority to 
conduct an inventory of water, wastewater, and general fund infrastructure; and to 
develop a plan for the Village to manage these assets, and   

 
Whereas, the services requested will be provided for a not to exceed amount of 

$18,000 for preparation of the asset management plan. 
 
Now, therefore be it 

 
RESOLVED, that the Technical Services Agreement, by and between the 

Authority and the Village of Chaumont, is hereby approved. The Executive Director 
is hereby authorized and directed to execute said Agreement. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Board Resolution No. 2021-02-47 
February 25, 2021 

 

122



DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE NORTH COUNTRY 

TECHNICAL SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR   

ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN 

 

WITH THE  

 

VILLAGE OF CHAUMONT 

 

This Agreement entered into this ______ day of ___________ 2021, by and between: 

 

VILLAGE OF CHAUMONT, a municipal corporation of the State of New York having an 

office building and principal place of business located at 12175 NYS Route 12 E, 

Chaumont, NY 13622 herein after referred to as "Village", 
  

And 
 

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE NORTH COUNTRY, a public benefit corporation 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of New York, having an office and 

principal place of business located at 317 Washington Street, Watertown, New York 

13601, hereinafter referred to as "Authority". 

 

 

Recitals 
  

A. The Village has requested technical services from the Authority to conduct an 

inventory of water, wastewater, and general fund infrastructure; and to 

develop a plan for the Village to manage these assets.  At its board meeting 

held on _______________________, 2021. The Board selected the Authority to 

assist the Village with this task. 

 

B. The Authority previously completed a Dissolution Study under a separate 

agreement with the Village dated December 18, 2018.  Additionally, the 

Authority currently provides web-based GIS hosting services for the Village 

under an agreement dated April 23, 2019.   

 
C. This Agreement is authorized under Section 2704(17) of the Public Authorities 

Law. 

 

 

Agreement 

 

In consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties agree as 

follows: 

 

1. Phase 1 - The scope of services that will be performed by the Authority in Phase 

1 consists of three tasks: 1) Research and data acquisition; 2) Plan 

development; and 3) Presentation of results. A description of each of these 

tasks follows. 

 

 

123



1.1 Research and Data Acquisition 

 

The Authority will review existing asset inventories, capital plan, 

previously mapped GIS data, and visit the Village’s facilities to prepare a 

comprehensive asset inventory of all water distribution and wastewater 

works assets that are valued in excess of $1,000.  The following 

assets/equipment are typical items that would be included in the 

inventory: 

 light and heavy duty vehicles 

 parks and recreation vehicles  

 mowing and plow equipment 

 street cleaning equipment 

 leak detector(s) 

 pipe locators 

 hydrants 

 valves 

 manholes 

 grinder pumps 

 buildings associated with water, wastewater, and DPW 

 equipment located at the Village’s DPW garage 

 equipment located at the Village’s wastewater treatment plant 

and sewage pumping stations 

 

1.2 Plan Development 

 

The information gathered in Phase 1 will be utilized to develop a written 

asset inventory.  The inventory will include a description of pertinent 

information about the asset, an estimate of the replacement value of 

the asset, the estimated life of the asset, the remaining life of the asset, 

and the projected year of replacement. For mechanical equipment 

and vehicles, the assets vehicle identification number/serial number, 

and make and model information will be captured (if available).  

Insurance schedules will be utilized to assign replacement values for 

vehicles and buildings. The information captured in the asset inventory is 

intended to provide the Village with the data necessary for capital and 

reserve planning. 

 

The Authority will develop a basic written preventative maintenance 

plan for the Village’s water distribution and wastewater facilities. This 

plan will include suggested monthly, quarterly, semi-annual, annual, and 

less frequent tasks that should be completed to ensure that the Village’s 

water and wastewater infrastructure is being properly inspected and 

maintained. The Authority will develop recommendations on possible 

capital improvement projects and provide recommended water and 

wastewater rates based on asset life.  

 

1.3 Presentation/Review 

 

The Authority will review the results of the asset inventory with Village 

staff to ensure the data captured is accurate.  The inventory will be 

124



incorporated into a written Asset Management Plan.  Ten copies of the 

bound report will be provided to the Village along with an electronic 

copy containing the Asset Inventory in Excel format, the Asset 

Management Plan in Word format, and copies of any maps developed 

as part of the inventory. 

 

2. Phase 2 – The second phase comprises of optional services performed by the 

Authority at the discretion of the Village. These services will assist in the 

development of the plan. The Village may authorize any combination of these 

optional services. 

 

2.1 Option A – Sidewalks and Curbs 

 

The Authority will collect GPS data of Village-owned sidewalks and curbs 

and include them in the inventory and management plan, for which 

DPW staff are responsible for maintaining.  General conditional codes 

will be assigned for Village-owned sidewalks and curbs.  GIS data will be 

incorporated into the Asset Management Plan along with estimated 

costs of repairs.    

 

2.2 Option B - Streets 

 

The Authority will create a GIS dataset of road condition data, obtained 

through a windshield survey of Village-owned streets.  The dataset will 

effectively prioritize stretches of road within the Village for 

replacement/repair based on a general conditional assessment of the 

pavement (i.e., good, fair, poor).  GIS data will be incorporated into the 

Asset Management Plan along with estimated costs of road 

resurfacing/replacement. 

 

2.3  Option C – Street Signage 

 

The Authority will collect GPS data of Village-owned street signs and 

include them in the inventory and management plan, for which DPW 

staff are responsible for maintaining.  GIS data will be incorporated into 

the Asset Management Plan along with estimated costs of any repairs 

identified.   

 

 

3. The Village shall pay the Authority for such services at the labor hour burdened 

and equipment rental rate for the specific equipment and job classification 

performing the services as indicated in Table 1 and for mileage to attend 

meetings, perform site visits etc. at the federal reimbursement rate; provided, 

however, that the total cost of such services shall not exceed the amounts 

outlined in Table 2. Rates will be reviewed and may be adjusted on an annual 

basis consistent with the Authority’s fiscal year (April 1st of the present year to 

March 31st of the following year) to account for cost of living adjustments. This 

agreement will terminate when the scope of services is completed or at which 

time the Town elects to discontinue services.  If Options A, B, and C are 

selected the total contract shall be reduced by $500 due to efficiencies in 

125



completing all options simultaneously. The Authority shall bill monthly upon 

invoices properly itemized and supported, and payment thereof shall be made 

by the Village within 30 days of receipt of each invoice.   

 

TABLE 1 

 

Employee Wage Rate Standard Overtime 

Engineering Manager $132 NA 

WQ Manager $88 NA 

Assistant Director of 

Engineering 
$85 NA 

Controls Engineer $85 NA 

Project Engineer $85 NA 

WQ Supervisor 2 $85 NA 

WQ Supervisor 1 $78 NA 

WQ Lead Operator $65 $84 

WQ Operator $61 $78 

Admin $62 $76 

GIS Specialist $55 $69 

WQ Technician $53 $67 

 

TABLE 2 

 

Service Not to Exceed 

Amount 

Base Services $13,500 

Option A – Sidewalks & Curbs $2,000 

Option B – Streets  $1,000 

Option C – Street Signs $2,000 

  

Total Base Services and Options A, 

B, and C  
$18,000 

 

4. The Village shall provide the reasonable support services of its attorney, Clerk 

and other staff as appropriate to assist in implementing the project and shall 

assign a person as point of contact with the Authority. 

 

5. The Authority shall carry general public liability insurance in the customary 

amounts and coverages maintained on its general operations, and shall name 

the Village as additional insured on the liability policy.   

 

6. The Village shall carry general liability insurance in the customary amounts and 

coverages maintained on its general operations, and shall name the Authority 

as additional insured on the liability policy.    

 

126



7. The Village will at all times indemnify and save harmless the Authority against 

all liabilities, judgments, costs, damages, expenses and attorney’s fees for loss, 

damage or injury to persons or property resulting in any manner from the willful 

malfeasance or negligent acts or omissions of the Village, its agents or 

employees pertaining to the activities to be carried out pursuant to the 

obligations of this Agreement.  

 

8. The Authority will at all times indemnify and save harmless the Village against 

all liabilities, judgments, costs, damages, expenses and attorney’s fees for loss, 

damage or injury to persons or property resulting in any manner from the willful 

malfeasance or negligent acts or omissions of the Authority, its agents or 

employees pertaining to the activities to be carried out pursuant to the 

obligations of this Agreement.  

 

9. The Authority shall use reasonable diligence to provide the services herein 

required, but shall not be liable to the Village for damages, breach of contract, 

or otherwise, for failure, suspension, diminution, or other variations of service 

occasioned by any cause beyond the control of the Authority. The Village will 

not be liable in the event of a breach beyond their control. Such causes may 

include, but are not restricted to, acts of God or of the public enemy, acts of 

the Government in its sovereign or contractual capacity, fires, floods, 

epidemics, riots, strikes, civil disturbance, quarantine, restrictions, or inability to 

obtain equipment or supplies. 

 

10. All accounts, reports and other records generated by the Authority or required 

under this Agreement, in the performance hereof, shall be open to inspection 

and audit at all reasonable times by the Village.  Such records shall be retained 

by the Authority for a minimum of seven years following the expiration or earlier 

termination of this Agreement or an extended agreement. 

 

11. The parties acknowledge that the Authority has undertaken and may 

undertake various projects unrelated to this Agreement.  It is the intent of the 

parties that this Agreement, the service provided hereunder and all payments, 

accounts receivable and equipment resulting from or required by such service 

shall be separate from and independent of all unrelated projects and activities 

of the Authority.  The Village shall have no right to, or claim upon, the assets, 

insurance proceeds or income of the Authority other than those associated 

with the performance of this Agreement, in satisfaction of any claim by the 

Village arising hereunder.  A similar restrictive clause is contained and will be 

provided in all service agreements made by the Authority with others. 

 

12. The Authority is an independent contractor with the Village and this 

Agreement does not create and shall not be construed as creating a 

relationship of principal and agent, landlord and tenant, or employer and 

employee. 

 

13. No waiver by Village or Authority of any breach of any term, covenant or 

condition contained in this Agreement shall operate as a waiver of such term, 

covenant or condition itself, or of any subsequent breach thereof. 

 

127



14. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws 

of the State of New York.  If any provision of this Agreement shall, to any extent, 

be held invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement shall not be 

affected thereby and shall continue to be valid and enforceable to the fullest 

extent permitted by law. 

 

15. This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties and may be 

modified or amended only by the written mutual agreement of the parties. 

 

16. All notices required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in 

writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if sent by certified or 

registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid.   

 

All of the above is established by the signatures of the authorized representatives of 

the parties. 

 

 

Services selected by the Village includes the following items: 

 

Base Services $13,500  

Option A – Sidewalks & Curbs $2,000  

Option B – Streets $1,000  

Option C – Street Signs $2,000  

Or  

Base Services and Options A, B, and C $18,000  

 

 

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY VILLAGE OF CHAUMONT 

OF THE NORTH COUNTRY  

 

By:____________________ By:______________________ 

  

Carl E Farone, Jr. Valerie Rust 

Executive Director Mayor 

 

 

128



 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

 

STATE OF NEW YORK    ) 

    )  ss: 

COUNTY OF JEFFERSON ) 

 

 On this ____ day of ______________, 2021, before me personally came Valerie 

Rust, who being duly sworn, did dispose and says that she resides in Chaumont, New 

York; that she is the duly authorized representative of the Village described herein, 

and which executed the foregoing instrument; and that she signed her name thereto 

by order of said Village. 

 ____________________________ 

    NOTARY PUBLIC 

 

STATE OF NEW YORK  ) 

    )  ss: 

COUNTY OF JEFFERSON ) 

 

 On this ____ day of ______________, 2021, before me personally came Carl E. 

Farone, Jr., who being duly sworn, did dispose and says that he resides in Watertown, 

New York; that he is the Executive Director of the Development Authority of the North 

Country, the Authority described herein, and which executed the foregoing 

instrument; and that he signed his name thereto by order of said Authority. 

 

 

____________________________ 

    NOTARY PUBLIC 

129



 

TECHNICAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
CORNELL COOPERATIVE EXTENSION JEFFERSON COUNTY 

GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION SYSTEMS  
 
Whereas, Cornell Cooperative Extension Jefferson County (CCE Jefferson) has 

been a Geographic Information Systems (GIS) hosting customer of the Development 
Authority of the North Country’s (Authority) since 2017, and   

 
Whereas, CCE Jefferson discontinued GIS hosting services in January 2021 

because they did not receive State funding to support their project, and 
 
Whereas, CCE Jefferson has requested a GIS technical services agreement for 

GIS services that does not include an annual fee for hosting services and instead provides 
provisions for CCE Jefferson to request GIS services as needed, including data support, 
data development, and field work, and whereby CCE Jefferson will be billed monthly for 
such services rendered by the Authority at the current staff charge-out rate, and  

 
Whereas, the term of the agreement will begin March 1, 2021 through February 

28, 2026. 
 
Now, therefore, be it 
 
RESOLVED, that the Technical Services Agreement, by and between the 

Authority and CCE Jefferson, is hereby approved.  The Executive Director is 
hereby authorized and directed to execute said Agreement. 

 

Board Resolution No. 2021-02-48 
February 25, 2021 

130



GIS TECHNICAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE NORTH COUNTRY 
& 

CORNELL COOPERATIVE EXTENSION OF JEFFERSON COUNTY 
 
 

This Agreement entered into this _____ day of __________________ 20___, by 
and between: 
 
CORNELL COOPERATIVE EXTENSION OF JEFFERSON COUNTY, a 
subordinate governmental agency with an educational mission that operates under 
a form of organization and administration approved by Cornell University as agent 
for the State of New York, having an office and principal place of business located 
at 203 North Hamilton Street, Watertown, New York 13601, herein after referred 
to as "CCE Jefferson",  
  

And 
 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE NORTH COUNTRY, a public benefit 
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of New York, having 
an office and principal place of business located at 317 Washington Street, 
Watertown, New York 13601, hereinafter referred to as "Authority". 

 
Recitals 

 
1. The Development Authority of the North Country has developed a Geographic 

Information System (GIS) Internet Mapping Application (IMA) that is utilized to 
manage GIS data for the Authority.       
 

2. CCE Jefferson has been a GIS hosting customer of the Authority’s for GIS data 
development and GIS hosting services since 2017. 

 
3. CCE Jefferson discontinued hosting services in 2021 but requested a technical 

services agreement for GIS support services on an “as needed” basis.   
 

4. This Agreement is authorized under Section 2704(17) of the Public Authorities 
Law. 

 
Agreement 

 
In consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties agree to the 
following Articles:  
 

Article I  Definitions 
Article II  Scope of Services  

131



Article III Term 
Article IV Compensation 
Article V Termination 
Article VI Insurance and Liability  
Article VII Accounts 
Article VIII Miscellaneous 
 

ARTICLE I - Definitions 
 
Section 101.  Defined Terms.  As used or referred to in this Agreement, unless a 
different meaning clearly appears from the context: 
 
1) “ESRI GIS,” Geographic Information System software created by ESRI 

used to store, display, and query spatial information.   
 

2) “Datasets,” refers to spatial data in formats that are compatible with the 
Authority’s GIS, including shapefile and geodatabase.  
 

3) “Data Development,” refers to Authority activities related to the creation of 
new GIS data; either through converting spreadsheets and other sources, 
georeferencing maps/plans, field work, or other methods. 
 

 
ARTICLE II - Scope of Services 

 
Section 201. Base Services.  The Authority will provide CCE Jefferson with the 
following base services at the term and rates outlined in Sections 301 and 401.  
The scope of base services is outlined below:   
 
1) Provide technical assistance and troubleshooting with regards to the ESRI GIS 

software applications, datasets, and databases, as requested by CCE 
Jefferson. 
 
a. Requests that require less than 4 hours of Authority staff time to 

complete can be made by CCE Jefferson staff via email or phone call 
and do not require prior written approval to proceed. 

 
2) Provide field work and data development services, as requested by CCE 

Jefferson.  
 
a. Field work and data development requests that require greater than 4 

hours of Authority staff time to complete will be made by CCE Jefferson 
staff via email detailing the scope of the request.  The Authority shall 
provide a proposal for each request that includes a not-to-exceed 
amount to be approved by CCE Jefferson in order to proceed. 

 
 

132



ARTICLE III – Term 
 

Section 301. Term.  The term of this Agreement shall be five (5) years beginning 
on March 1, 2021, and ending February 28, 2026, provided that CCE Jefferson 
and/or the Authority shall have the right to terminate this agreement as specified 
in Section 501.   

ARTICLE IV – Compensation  
 
Section 401.  Compensation.  CCE Jefferson shall pay the Authority for such 
services provided under this contract at the labor hour burdened rates specified in 
Table 1 below for the job classification performing the services.  The Authority 
reserves the right to update the hourly rates on an annual basis each April 1st to 
accommodate cost of living adjustments which are made in conjunction with the 
beginning of the Authority’s fiscal year. Mileage to the worksite will be reimbursed 
at the current Federal Mileage Rate. The Authority shall submit a properly itemized 
and supported invoice, and payment thereof shall be made by CCE Jefferson 
within 30 days of receipt. 
 
TABLE 1 – AUTHORITY STAFF CHARGE OUT RATES FISCAL YEAR ENDING 2021 

 

Employee Wage Rate Standard Overtime 
Engineering Director $132 NA 
Assistant Director of 

Engineering $85 NA 

Controls Engineer $85 NA 
Project Engineer $85 NA 
GIS Specialist $55 $69 

Administrative Associate $62 $76 
 

ARTICLE V - Termination 
 
Section 501.  Termination.  CCE Jefferson and/or Authority may terminate this 
Agreement with or without cause upon 90 days prior written notice, provided 
however, that CCE Jefferson shall pay the Authority all costs incurred by the 
Authority to the date of termination.   

ARTICLE VI – Insurance/Liability 
 
Section 601.  Insurance.  CCE Jefferson shall secure and maintain with New York 
State qualified insurers insurance in amounts satisfactory to the Authority against 
loss or damage to the Authority and its facilities and against public or other liability 
to the extent not less than that reasonably necessary to protect the interest of the 
Authority. CCE Jefferson will at all times indemnify and save harmless the 
Authority against all liabilities, judgments, costs, damages, expenses and 
attorney’s fees for loss, damage or injury to persons or property resulting in any 

133



manner from its negligent actions or inactions related to CCE Jefferson’s 
obligations under this Agreement.  The Authority shall secure and maintain with 
New York State qualified insurers in amounts satisfactory to CCE Jefferson against 
loss or damage to CCE Jefferson and its facilities and against public or other 
liability to the extent not less than reasonably necessary to protect the interests of 
CCE Jefferson. The Authority will at all times indemnify and save harmless CCE 
Jefferson against all liabilities, judgments, costs, damages, expenses and 
attorney’s fees for loss, damage or injury to persons or property resulting in any 
manner from its negligent actions or inactions related to the Authority’s  obligations 
under this Agreement. 

 
Section 602.  Liability.  The Authority shall use reasonable diligence to provide the 
services herein required, but shall not be liable to CCE Jefferson for damages, 
breach of contract, or otherwise, for failure, suspension, diminution, or other 
variations of service occasioned by any cause beyond the control of the Authority.  
CCE Jefferson will not be liable to the Authority in the event of a breach beyond its 
control. Such causes may include, but are not restricted to, acts of God or of the 
public enemy, acts of the Government in its sovereign or contractual capacity, fires, 
floods, epidemics, riots, strikes, civil disturbance, quarantine, restrictions, or 
inability to obtain equipment or supplies. 

 
ARTICLE VII - Accounts 

 
Section 701. Accounts and Audits.  All accounts, reports and other records 
generated by Authority by or required under this agreement, in the performance 
hereof, shall be open to inspection and audit at all reasonable times by CCE 
Jefferson. Such records shall be retained by Authority for a minimum of three years 
following the expiration or earlier termination of this agreement or an extended 
agreement. 
 

ARTICLE VIII - Miscellaneous 
 
Section 801. Independence of Agreement.  The parties acknowledge that Authority 
has undertaken and may undertake various projects unrelated to GIS services.  It 
is the intent of the parties that this Agreement, the service provided hereunder and 
all payments, accounts receivables and equipment resulting from or required by 
such operation and maintenance service shall be separate from and independent 
of all unrelated projects and activities of Authority.  CCE Jefferson shall have no 
right to, or claim upon, the assets, insurance proceeds or income of the Authority 
other than those associated with the performance of this agreement, in satisfaction 
of any claim by CCE Jefferson arising hereunder.  A similar restrictive clause is 
contained and will be provided in all service agreements made by Authority with 
others. 
 
Section 802. Authority Status.  Authority is an independent contractor with CCE 
Jefferson and this Agreement does not create and shall not be construed as 

134



creating a relationship of principal and agent, landlord and tenant, or employer and 
employee. 
 
Section 803. Waiver.  No waiver by CCE Jefferson or Authority of any breach of 
any term, covenant or condition contained in this Agreement shall operate as a 
waiver of such term, covenant or condition itself, or of any subsequent breach 
thereof. 
 
Section 804. Governing Laws.  This agreement shall be construed and enforced 
in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.  If any provision of this 
Agreement shall, to any extent, be held invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of 
this Agreement shall not be affected thereby and shall continue to be valid and 
enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. 
 
Section 805. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire agreement of 
the parties and may be modified or amended only by the written mutual agreement 
of the parties. 
 
Section 806. Notices.  All notices required or permitted to be given under this 
agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if sent 
by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid.   

 
 
All of the above is established by the signatures of the authorized representatives 
of the parties set forth below. 
 
 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY                           CCE JEFFERSON  
OF THE NORTH COUNTRY  
 
By:____________________ By:______________________ 
  
 Carl E. Farone, Jr.                 Kevin Jordan 
 Executive Director             Executive Director  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

135



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
 
STATE OF NEW YORK    ) 
     )  ss: 
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON  ) 

 

 On this ____ day of ______________, 2021, before me personally came 
Kevin Jordan, who being duly sworn, did dispose and says that he resides in 
_______________ New York; that he is the Executive Director of Cornell 
Cooperative Extension of Jefferson County described herein, and which 
executed the foregoing instrument; and that he signed his name thereto as an 
authorized signatory of Cornell Cooperative Extension of Jefferson County. 
                                              

 ____________________________ 
    NOTARY PUBLIC 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF NEW YORK  ) 
               )  ss: 
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON ) 
 
 On this ____ day of ______________, 2021, before me personally came 
Carl E. Farone, Jr., who being duly sworn, did dispose and says that he resides 
in Watertown, New York; that he is the Executive Director of the Development 
Authority of the North Country, the Authority described herein, and which 
executed the foregoing instrument; and that he signed his name thereto by order 
of said Authority. 

 
 
____________________________ 

    NOTARY PUBLIC 

136



 

TECHNICAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  
TOWN OF LOUISVILLE 

WATER SYSTEM IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 
 

 
Whereas, the Authority previously developed Geographic Information System 

(GIS) datasets for wastewater collection and water distribution systems under a separate 
agreement with the Town. Additionally, the Authority currently provides web-based GIS 
hosting services for the Town under an agreement dated November 13, 2019 
(Resolution 2019-10-109), and 

 
Whereas, the Town is interested in performing a preliminary engineering study to 

evaluate water system treatment upgrades and alternatives, which would solve current 
system capacity issues as well as reduce future operation and maintenance costs, and 

 
Whereas, the Town has requested technical services from the Authority to provide   

project management assistance during the preliminary engineering phase of the project, 
as well as assistance with the development of the project funding strategy, and   
 

Whereas, the services requested will be provided for a not to exceed amount of 
$5,500 for project management assistance and funding strategy services. 

 
Now, therefore be it 

 
RESOLVED, that the Technical Services Agreement, by and between the 

Authority and the Town of Louisville, is hereby approved. The Executive Director 
is hereby authorized and directed to execute said Agreement Amendment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Board Resolution No. 2021-02-49 
February 25, 2021 

 

137



DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE NORTH COUNTRY
TECHNICAT SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR
WATER SYSTEM IMPROVEMENT PROJECT

WITH THE

TOWN OF LOUISVILTE

This Agreement entered into ihis l3 +!oV 
or 21 , by ond beiween

TOWN OF LOUISVIL[E, o municipol corporotion of the Stote of New York hoving on
office building ond principol ploce of business locoted ot l48lO Stote Highwoy 32,
Mosseno, NY, 13662, herein ofter referred to os "Town",

And

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE NORTH COUNTRY, o public benefit corporoiion
orgonized ond existing under the lows of the Siote of New York, hoving on office ond
principol ploce of business locoted of 317 Woshington Street, Wotertown, New York
13601 , hereinofter referred to os "Authority".

Recitols

A. The Auihority previously developed Geogrophic lnformotion System (GlS)
dotosets for wostewoier collection ond woter distribution systems under o
seporote ogreement with the Town. Additionolly, the Authority currently
provides web-bosed GIS hosting services for the Town under on ogreement
doted November 13, 2019.

B. Due to current woter system diotomoceous eorth (DE) filter inefficiencies ond o
lock of monufociurer support, the Town hos needed to occess odditionol
wqter through its emergency inter-mrrnicipol ogreement with the Villoge of
Mosseno.

C. The Town is interested in performing o preliminory engineering study to
evoluote treotment upgrodes or olternotives, which would solve copocity
issues os well os reduce future operotion ond mointenonce costs.

D. The Town hos requested project monogement ossisionce from the Auihority
during the preliminory engineering phose of this project, os well os ossisionce
with the d el pment of th
held on
the Town with this tosk. A copy of lhis Resolution hos been otloched os Exhibit
e. ty1,rsr\

e projeci funding strotegy. At iis Boord meeting
209J- the Boord opproved the Authority to ossist

Page 1 of 5

138



2

E. This Agreement is outhorized under Section 2704(17) of the Public Authoriiies
Low.

Aqreement

ln considerotion of the mutuol covenonts herein contoined, the porties ogree os
follows:

The scope of services to be performed by the Authority includes project
monogement for the preliminory engineering phose of the project. Project
monogement services include ossistonce with the development ond review of
the preliminory engineering report. The Authority will review the engineering
repori to ensure thot ihe report oligns with the Town objectives. The Authority
will provide technicol ossistonce regording future operotion ond mointenonce
of the proposed treotment olternotives. The Authority will focilitote monthly
projeci coordinotion meetings during this phose to review report ond projeci
progress with teom members ond stokeholders.

The Authority will olso ossist with the development of o project funding strotegy.
Any services requesied by the Town ofter the completion of the preliminory
engineering report ond funding plon, or oddiiionol ossistonce with the design
ond construction phose will require on oddiiionol controct or omendment.

The Town sholl poy the Authority of the lobor hour burdened rote for the
specific job clossificotion performing ihe services (see Toble I ) ond for mileoge
to otlend meetings, perform site visits etc. of the federol reimbursement rote;
provided, however, thot the iotol cost of such services sholl noi exceed $5,500.
Rotes will be reviewed ond moy be odjusted on on onnuol bosis consistent with
the Authority's fiscol yeor (April lst of the present yeor io Morch 3lst of the
following yeor) to occount for cost of living odjustments. This ogreement will
ierminqte when the scope of services is completed or of which time the Town
elects to discontinue services. The Authority sholl bill monthly upon invoices
properly itemized ond supported, ond poyment thereof sholl be mode by the
Town within 30 doys of receipt of eoch invoice,

TABLE I _ AUTHORITY STAFF CHARGE OUT RATES

Employee Woge Role Slondord Overtime

Director of Engineering $132
NA

WQ Monoger $88 NA

Assistont Director of Enoineerinq $85 NA
Proiect Enqineer $85 NA

Controls Enoineer $85 NA
WQ Suoervisor ll $85 NA
WQ Supervisor I $78 NA

WQ Leod Operotor $os $ea

Page 2 of 5

139



J

4.

5.

6

1

8

Employee Woge Rote Stondord Overtime

WQ Operotor $61 $78
WQ Technicion $53 $67

GIS Speciolist $ss $6e
Ad ministrctive Associote $62 $7t

The Town sholl provide the reosonoble support services of its ottorney, Sioff,
Town Clerk ond other stoff os oppropriote to ossist in implementing the project
ond sholl ossign o person os point of contoct with the Authority.

Auihority stoff will offer opinions to the owner ond the engineers regording
subcontrocted services. Authority stoff will not direct the engineers or other
subconfroctors.

The Authority sholl corry generol public liobility insuronce with respect to its

performonce of this controct in omounts ond coveroge mointoined on its
generol operotions.

The Town will of oll times indemnify ond sove hormless the Authority ogoinst oll
liobilities, judgments, costs, domoges, expenses ond ottorney's fees for loss

domoge or injury to persons or property resulting in ony monner from the
operotion of this Agreement,

The Authority will of oll times indemnify ond sove hormless the Town ogoinst oll
liobilities, judgments, cosis, domoges, expenses ond ottorney's fees for loss,

domoge or injury to persons or property resulting in ony monner from the
intentionol or negligent octions or omissions of the Authority, its officers,
employees or ogents in connection with the operotion of this Agreement.

The Authority sholl use reosonoble diligence to provide the services herein
required, bui sholl not be lioble to the Town for domoges. breoch of controct,
or otherwise, for foilure, suspension, diminution, or other voriotions of service
occosioned by ony couse beyond the control of the Authority. The Town will
not be lioble in the event of o breoch beyond their control. Such couses moy
include, but ore not resiricted to, octs of God or of the public enemy, octs of
ihe Government in its sovereign or controctuol copocity, fires, floods,
epidemics, riots, sirikes, civil disturbonce. quorontine, restrictions, or inobiliiy to
obtoin equipment or supplies.

All occounts, reports ond other records generoied by the Authority or required
under this Agreement, in the performonce hereof. sholl be open to inspection
ond oudit of oll reosonoble times by the Town. Such records sholl be retoined
by the Authority for o minimum of seven yeors following the expirotion or eorlier
terminotion of this Agreement or on extended ogreement.

The porties ocknowledge thot the Authority hos undertoken ond moy
undertoke vorious projects unreloted to this Agreement. lt is the intent of the

I

10.

Page 3 of 5

140



11.

porties thot this Agreement, the service provided hereunder ond oll poyments,
occounts receivoble ond equipment resulting from or required by such service
sholl be seporote from ond independent of oll unreloted projects ond octivities
of the Authority. The Town sholl hove no right to, or cloim upon, the ossets,
insuronce proceeds or income of the Authoriiy other thon those ossocioted
with the performonce of this Agreement, in sotisfoction of ony cloim by the
Town orising hereunder. A similor restrictive clouse is contoined ond will be
provided in oll service ogreements mode by the Authority with others.

The Auihority is on independent conlroctor with the Town ond this Agreement
does not creote ond sholl not be consirued os creoting o relotionship of
principol ond ogent, londlord ond tenont, or employer ond employee.

No wqiver by Town or Authority of ony breoch of ony term, covenont or
condition contoined in this Agreement sholl operote os o woiver of such term,
covenont or condiiion itself, or of ony subsequent breoch thereof .

This Agreement sholl be consirued ond enforced in occordonce with the laws
of the Stote of New York. lf ony provision of thls Agreement sholl, to ony extent,
be held involid or unenforceoble. the remoinder of this Agreemeni sholl not be
offected thereby ond sholl continue to be volid ond enforceoble to the fullest
extenf permitted by low.

This Agreement contoins the eniire ogreement of the porties ond moy be
modified or omended only by the written mutuol ogreement of the poriies.

All notices required or permitted to be given under this Agreement sholl be in
writing ond sholl be deemed io hove been duly given if sent by certified or
registered mqil, reiurn receipt requested, postoge prepoid.

12

13.

14.

15.

All of the obove is estoblished by the signoiures of ihe outhorized representotives of
the porties.

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
OF THE NORTH COUNTRY

IOWN OF LOUISVILLE

By B

Corl E. Forone, Jr.
Executive Director

Lorry Legouli
Iown Supervisor

Page 4 of 5

141



ACKNOWLEDGEMENIS

STATE OF NEW YORK )

)ss
couNTY oF sT. LAWRENCE )

JOANNE HELEN CAMERON

Notary Public in the Stete of New York

St. Lawrence Coitnty No.-0,1CA0079050

My Commission ExPires \\q\\\N

on this\L doy of .S^ 2021,before me personolly come Lorry

Legoult, who being duly sworn, did dispose ond soys thot he resides in Lousiville, New
York;thot he is the duly outhorized representotive of the Town described herein, ond
which executed the foregoing instrument; ond thot he signed his nome thereto by
order of soid Town.

NOTARY PUBLIC

STATE OF NEW YORK

COUNTY OF JEFFERSON

onthis-doyof-,2021,beforemeperSonollycomeCorlE'
Forone, Jr., who being duly sworn, did dispose ond soys ihot he resides in Wotertown,
New York; thot he is the Executive Director of the Development Authority of the North
Country, the Authority described herein, ond which executed the foregoing
instrumeni; ond thot he signed his nome thereto by order of soid Authority.

NOTARY PUBLIC

ss

Page 5 of 5

142



99

REGULAR MEETING OF THE LOUISVILLE TOWN BOARD
TOWN OF LOUISVILLE,NEW YORK

DECEMBER 9, 2020; 6:3OPM

OFFICERS PRESENT: LARRY LEGAULT, SUPERVISOR

GAIL SCHNEIDER, COUNCILWOMAN

PATRICK CARROLL, COU NCI LMAN

SHAWN THOMPSON, COUNCILMAN

DAN O'KEEFE, COUNCILMAN

HIGHWAY SUPERINTENDENT PRESENT: JOHN OBRIEN

This meeting can be attended by Go-To meetings.

Supervisor Legault called the meeting to order at 6:33pm.

The Pledge of Allegiance

lo ment ressed the B

concernine their proposal for leak detection for the Louisville water svstem. The DANC is a not-for-profit

organization who among other things, run or help communities with water and wastewater systems.

They have toured our water plant and listened to our concerns about the current filter system and leak

detection. They sent a proposal for a leak detection program that would include: 1. Detect any leaks in

the field, 2. Develop a procedure for how to handle leaks, 3. Summarize and give recommendations to

the Town. This plan would cost up to 58,000.00 based on an hourly rate. Ms. Tuttle spoke of the

filtration system that is currently in use at Star Lake that uses a membrane filtration system. lt is a

simpler and cleaner system without the use of diatomaceous earth. lf the Town is considering changing

filters, a cost analysis should be done to decide to stay with DE or move to the new system. Although

the system costs more than the current DE system to set up, the O&M costs are lower and the life of the

filter system is different. She does not recommend combining the systems. DANC also offer services

such as project management. The Authority would work closely with the Town Engineer to make sure

our interests are accounted for. ln addition, they are operating many systems, so they can review the

project from a different perspective. She cautioned the Town to move swiftly in preparing their new

plans for the upgrades, as we are unsure of when funding will become available.

l\/lnrrael hrr /'nr rnrilrrr^m.n (rhnoirlar carnnrlorl hrr Coun ailman l^arrall anrl drrhr r;rriaA in arrant tho

October 28. 2020 special meeting minutes.

lman Carrol rried to a

November tL,2O2O ular meetine minutes.

Moved bv Councilwoman Schneider, seconded bv Councilman O'Keefe and dulv carried to accept the

November l-8, 2020 special meeting minutes.

SLC COUNTY LEGISLATOR RITA CURRAN reported by using the Go-To Meeting. She stated there are

currently 332 positive cases of Covid in the county. There are three towns with no active cases. 32% of

143



100
REGULAR MEETING OF THE LOUISVILE TOWN BOARD

TOWN OF LOUISVILLE, NEW YORK
DECEMBER 9, 2020; 6:30PM

the hospital beds are in use. The vaccine has not been confirmed for SLC yet. ln addition, there is a

tentative 10-year agreement for sales tax.

RVRDA REPRESENTATIVE TARRY CLARK: did not attend the meeting because they have not met

SUPERVTSOR OF RECREATION AND MAINTENANCE DEWEY LAVALIEY: The community center is still up

and running. There is no public skating at this time and only organizations are able to rent the facilities'

We are paying extra hours to part time employees to meet the NYS COVID requirements. The upstairs is

not open to the public at this time and the ice is not being rented out in the evenings to the adult teams.

Whalen Park continues to get a lot of use.

Mr. LaValley was not able to go upstairs at the fire station because there is a lock on the door. He and

Supervisor Legault will review the list of repairs that need to be made to the building.

The Town is now waiting for Howmet for the SH 37 boat launch.

The signs for the neighborhood watch will be installed as they are delivered.

HIGHWAY SUPERINTENDENT OBRIEN: The department continues to work on the trucks and

equipment. 100 ton of salt has been use so far.

Concerning a new truck: the average price is 5230,000.00 and he has not determined which brand he

would recommend. Superintendent OBrien bring his recommendation to the next meeting so the

equipment can be ordered for a delivery date next fall.

Superintendent OBrien would also like to bring two part time plow drivers on board in case there is

sickness in thc Department. The Board is concerned about keeping the cost of payroll down bttt agrees

that the department needs to be prepared in case of quarantine or positive cases within the

Department. Moved bv Councilwo n Schneider. seconded bv Councilman and dulv carried

allow the Hie Suoerintendent to preoare two rt time workers to be used on an emersencv basis

onlv. This will include pavroll paperwork and drus testins.

The Highway Department has many projects to complete on the equipment and around the shop to

keep them busy for quite awhile. After the Highway projects are complete, then the Department can

help other depa rtments.

PUBLIC COMMENT

COMMUNICATIONS AND PETITIONS: Massena Meals on Wheels, NYS Ag and Markets, Association of

Towns, Grasse River Blueway Trial marketing plan, fire station #1" deficiencies report, Town Clerk

Cameron, NYS Plowing advance, supervisor's report, and report from Valley Water Solutions

144



101

REGULAR MEETING OF THE LOUISVILLE TOWN BOARD
TOWN OF LOUISVILLE, NEW YORK

DECEMBER 9, 2020; 6:3OPM

The NYS As and Markets inspection report for the Dog Control was completed on L1/t8/20 and found

satisfactory.

The202I Annual meetins and trainins sc I for the Association of Towns will be held virtual, February

14 - t7th. Any Board members, who wish to attend the meetings, should contact the Town Clerk.

The Grasse River Bluewav Committee met recently and are working on a trial-marketing plan. They will

have public zoom meetings on January 2Lst at 3:30 and 6:00pm to review the plan with the public.

Moved bv Councilwoman Schneider. seconded bv Councilman Carroll and dulv carried to correct the

Laramav r FDt.l rrnits to 8. The Clerk misca lcrrlated

Moved by Councilman O'Keefe. seconded by Councilman Thompson and duly carried to corect the

following minutes for voucher numbers:
1 . Add voucher #3 8 to General A in Feb. $ 1 500.00 Massena Humane Society

2. Capital vouchers misnumbered:
August vouchers recorded as27 and 22 should be3l and32
September vouchers should be 33-35
October vouchers should be 36-39

3. Highway vouchers for October ended with #154 but typed as 151

The 585,000.00 NYS advance for plowing state highways was received and deposited

The Board thanked Clerk Stone for the budget report. Moved bv Councilwoma Schneider. seconded bv

Councilman O'Keefe and dulv carried to approve the following budgets adiustments:

General A

Accounts Over Budget lMove to :)
16204 Buildings CE

19104 Unallocated lnsurance

19204 Municipal Assoc. Dues

64104 Publicity CE

Accounts Under Budget (Move From :l

12202 Supervisor Asset S (1,116.38)

12204 Supervisor CE 5 F,422.6tl'
13302 Tax Collector Asset $ (298.96)

Total: s(2,837.95)

Accounts Under B-qdget {Mgve_Elgrnl
8L604 Refuse/Garbage S (1,050.00)

Total: $(1,050.001

Accounts Under Budset (Move From :l

83l02AdministrationAsset s(500.00)
83104 Administration CE 5(2,151.51)

52,r43.11

s26s.91

s 380.00

s 48.s3

Total: 52,837.95

Accounts Over Budget (Move to ;l
80101 Zoning PS

90308 Social Security/Medicare

Total:

Accounts Over Budget {Move to :)
83304 Purification CE

83404 Tra nsmission/Dist. CE

General B

s s00.00

Ssso.oo

$ 1,o5o.oo

Water #2

s4ss.17
s3,3s8.18

145



102
REGULAR MEETING OF THE LOUISVLLE TOWN BOARD

TOWN OF LOUISVILLE, NEW YORK
DECEMBER 9, 2020; 6:30PM

83204 Source Power Pump CE

97106 Serial Bonds - Principal
s (s86.84)

s (17s.oo)

Accounts Over Budget (Move to :)

83304 Purification CE

Accounts Over Budget (Move to :l
51304 Machinery

51424 Snow Removal

90608 Medical lnsurance

Total: s3,813.35 Total: S(3,813.35)

Water #3

S1,179.00

Accounts Under Budget {Move From :l
83104 Administration cE s (1,179,00)

Total: S1,u9.00 Total: $(1,179.00)

Hishwav DA

Accounts Under Budget (Move From :l

s339.54 51302 Machinery Asset s(2,400.00)

59,824.07 90108 state Retirement $(7,316.88)

$211.91 90508 Unemployment lns. S (596.00)

97105 Serial Bond - Principal S (4,33)

97107 Serial Bond - lnterest S (58.31)

Total: $ro,azs.sz Total: $(10,375.52)

Clerk Cameron reported to the Board she has met with Valley Water Solutions Operator Steve Siddon

and John Beattie to start developing a plan for handling water loss. ln addition, Clerk Cameron and the

office staff have begun to graph the water usage and loss for the Board to review.

Attorney Gustafson has drafted a letter to the NYS Attorney General for the unpaid debt repayment

charges for NYPA. Clerk Cameron will review the draft and return to the attorney.

OLD BUSINESS:

Report from NYPA Task Force: Su pervisor Legault will attend the annual meeting with the Power

Authority tomorrow at 10:00am. The site visit at the Massena lntake went very well.

The next RVRDA meeting is unknown.

Supervisor Legault will contact NYS Assemblyman Mark Walczyk concerning the SH 37 broadband

project.

We are waiting on the NYSDOH for approval of the Wilson Hill lots. Clerk Cameron will call for an

update.

The Massena Country Club has received notice from SLC Treasurer for back taxes.

Councilman O'Keefe willcomplete the recreation audit on Friday December 18th.

146



103

Moved bv Councilwom n Schneider. seconded bv Councilman O'Keefe

REGULAR MEETING OF THE LOUISVILLE TOWN BOARD
TOWN OF LOUISVILLE, NEW YORK

DECEMBER 9, 2020; 6:3OPM
and dulv carried to hire

Severa nce Construction r labor and lift to reolace the roof on the old hie barn. The total nrice

will be s+o,ooo.oo.

Update on filters at the water treatment plant: Supervisor Legault, Highway Superintendent OBrien,

Valley Water Operator Steve Siddon, and Town Engineer Kevin Feuka toured the Star Lake water plant.

They found it very interesting. The pros and cons will be weighed for the two systems for capital

investment and life span differences.

C2AE invoiced the Town 520,225.00 as 505% complete for the 540,000.00 contract for work to be done

for the replacement of the DE filters at the water treatment plant. Supervisor Legault will discuss with
Engineer Feuka.

*
( serve as proiect manager for the water plant upgrades.

The Board previously questioned if property owners would receive aZYotax cap refund check if the
Town went over their cap but St. Lawrence County stayed below. According to the county, this is strictly
a town and school district issue. Property owners have never received a refund for the county staying

below the tax cap margin.

NEW BUSINESS:

Moved bv Councilman Carroll. seconded bv Councilman Thompson and dulv carried to deposit the
excess sales tax. in the amount of S74,180.64. into the Hiehwav DA account.

Moved bv Councilman O' Keefe. seconded bv Councilwoman Schneider dulv carried to transfer
(1 nnn r)o frnm f ha l-lictnrira unt in {.ha Qr rmmar Elrch rnrnt tnf

Moved bv Councilwoman Schneider. seconded bv Councilman Carroll and dulv carried to transfcr
(q. nnn flfl frnm Gonaral A ancnr rnf fn the H i-h.^ra., l-lA annnr rnt nar tha ?fl?fl hr rrloat

Moved bv Councilman rroll. seconded bv Councilman Thompson and dulv carried to transfer

S 10.000.00 form Genera I account to the Rav Hurlbut Louisville Communitv Center reserve account as

per the 2020 budget.

Moved bv Councilman O' Keefe. seconded bv Councilwoman Schneider and dulv carried to authorize

Supervisor Legault to enter into a contract with the Town of Massena and Massena Volunteer
Emarcannr l lhi+ lh. in f ho rmnt ^f( 7 nnn 00 for *ha rraar 1O11

Moved bv Councilman O' Keefe. seconded bv Councilwoman Schneider and dulv carried to authorize

S1,500.00 for the vear 2021.

etv in the amount ofSuoervisor Leeault to r into a contract with the Massena Humane

147



r04
REGULAR MEETING OF THE LOUISVILLE TOWN BOARD

TOWN OF LOUISVILLE, NEW YORK
DECEMBER 9, 2020; 6:3OPM

lman Thom rried

Plan RDA Re and

Stabilization Representative Gene Conte S75.00 if thev have served 6 months on their respective board

as a thank vou for their service.

The audit Comm (Councilman O'Keefe) needs to audit the Suoervisor, Town Cle rk. Tax Collector.

Court Clerk a Recreation Deoartments in lanuarv 2O2L.

Moved bv Su sor Lesault. seconded bv Counci n o'Keefe and dulv carried to pu rchase a m ea lfor
the of the Town in place of the traditional Christ mas luncheon. This is d ue to COVID

restrictions.

The To Louisville will hold the oreanizational meeting on Januarv L3.2O2Iat 6:3 with the

regular meeting to follow.

REPORT FROM COUNCILMEMBERS:

Councilwoman Schneider stated that he Revitalization Group meeting are going well. This is one of the

best groups to work with. This group was formed to work with the McKenzie study.

Councilwoman Schneider inquired if anyone had read about the Article 10 change concerning home

rule.

Councilman O'Keefe stated that he supports the use of part time highway plow workers and that if
scheduled correctly, it can save the town money as well as prevent driver burnout.

Councilman O'Keefe will research grants available for LED light replacements for the municipal building.

Councilman O'l(eefe stated that the mats have not arrived from Tractor Supply for the arena yet, He is

researching other suppliers.

Councilman Thompson would like to do something for the residents of the Louisville Housing facility

next year.

REPORT FROM THE TOWN CLERK:

cilwo Cou carn

follows Water District #

account and 511,970.08 be moved from the Water District #3 to the Water District #3 Reserve bank
annnr r nl- l\lnf hi n will ha mnrrad fnr rrrrtor di #2 a{. {'hic tima

A policy for mailboxes and snow plowing should be established'

148



105

REGULAR MEETING OF THE LOUISVILE TOWN BOARD
TOWN OF LOUISVILLE, NEW YORK

DECEMBER 9, 2020; 6:3OPM

The Clerk was asked if the wrestling group could meet upstairs of the community center- the Board will

refer that request to Mr. LaValley.

The Wilson Hill Association letter will be sent out soon- if anyone has anything they may want included,

please let the Clerk or Nancy Foster know.

The Clerk shared a pamphlet that SLC Highway Department has concerning mailbox replacement and

snow plowing. The Town of Louisville should adopt a policy.

The Clerk reminded the Board that the sexual harassment training for all town employees and

volunteers needs to be completed by year-end. Supervisor Legault has been given certificates as they

are received.

A past due letter will be sent to the Maslin's concerning their nonpayment of peddling fee for their

vegetable stand at the corner ofSH 55 and SH 37.

Thank you cards will be sent to Supernault for painting the fender of one of the plow trucks, Curran for

allowing us to borrow equipment for fixing the water leak and lift supplies to the top of the old highway

building, Curran for fixing the boiler in the municipal building and Boutot's for their contribution to the

food bank.

The Town Clerk's November report for 54,4tL.65 was reviewed

Justice Gettmann's November Justice Report and financial Review in the amount of 52,319.00 was

audited.

Justice LeCuyer October Justice report and financial review in the amou nt of 52,207.00 was audited.

General vouchers #383-2OG-429-2OG (void #383-20G) in the amount of S16,096.90, Highway vouchers

#I73-2OH-112-2OH in the amou nt of 5L7 ,7t5.62, Water vouchers #170-20SW-188-20SW (void #170-

2OSW, 171-20SW and L72-205W) in the amount of 530,876.00, and Capital vouchers #32-20CD -34-
20CD in the amount of 54,600.44 were audited and ordered paid. Capital Voucher #33020Cd from C2AE

in the amount of $250.00 was paid under protest by Patrick Carroll.

PUBLIC COMMENT:

Moved by Councilwoman Schneider seconded by Councilman Thompson and duly carried to adjourn the

regular meeting at 9:14pm and enter into executive session to discuss the employment of a particular

individual and contract negotiations.

149



106
REGULAR MEETING OF THE LOUISVILLE TOWN BOARD

TOWN OF LOUISVILLE, NEW YORK
DECEMBER 9, 2020; 6:30PM

Moved by Councilwoman Schneider, seconded by Councilman Carroll and duly carried to exit the

executive session at L0:54pm.

Moved by Councilwoman Schneider, seconded by Councilman Carroll and duly carried to reenter the
regular meeting at 10:54pm.

Moved bv Councilwoman Schneider and seconded bv Supervisor Legault to advertise a part time office
nnc itin n on Thursd 2\' namhar 1n 'ro)i Tha rrnfa r^r.c ac fnllnrrrc' Su lsor I aaar rl+- I\larr

man Schneider- n rroll- nd

N The motion fai

lman O' nd du carne

a part time clerical office position to be advertised starting Mondav December L4 and accept resumes at

the Town Office until 3:00pm on December 22nd. There will be a special meeting on December 22nd at

6:00pm to review the aoolicants.

Moved bv Councilman O'Keefe. seconded bv Councilwoman Schneider and dulv carried to have one

hour of recreation skat at the Rav Hurlbut Communitv Center on rdav and one hour of
recreational skatins on Su ndav. There will be a maximum of 20 people all d on the ice. must have

their own skates, no rooms available- follow same suidelines as the ciations. Also children
aaaA 1l rnrl rrndor mtrcf an

Moved by Councilman O'Keefe, seconded by Councilwoman Schneider and duly carried to adjourn the

meeting at 10:59pm.

Respectful ly Su bm itted,

Joanne Cameron
Town Clerk

m nied aelrrl+hv

150



 

 SCADA SERVICES AGREEMENT AMENDMENT 1 
ROUTE 3 BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

PUMP STATION RTU UPGRADES 
 

Whereas, pursuant to Resolution No. 2020-05-58 the Development Authority of the 
North Country (Authority) and the Route 3 Board of Commissioners (Board) entered into 
an agreement dated April 14, 2020 for an amount not to exceed $17,000 to upgrade the 
Remote Terminal Units (RTUs) and Power Supplies in LeRay Pump Station 4 and LeRay 
Pump Station 5, and  
 
 Whereas, the Board purchased 2 additional RTUs and has requested that the 
Authority program and install these 2 RTUs in LeRay Pump Station 6 and Black River 
Pump Station 3, and  
 

Whereas, this additional scope of services will result in additional expenses of 
$8,000 bringing the total not to exceed contract amount to $25,000. 

 
Now, therefore, be it 

 
RESOLVED, that the SCADA Services Agreement Amendment No. 1, by and 

between the Authority and the Route 3 Board of Commissioners, is hereby 
approved.  The Executive Director is hereby authorized and directed to execute 
said Agreement Amendment. 
 
 

Board Resolution No. 2021-02-XX 
February 25, 2021 

 

Board Resolution No. 2021-02-50 
February 25, 2021 

151



AMENDMENT 1 

 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE NORTH COUNTRY 

SCADA SERVICES AGREEMENT 
FOR ROUTE 3 PUMP STATION RTU UPGRADES 

WITH THE  
ROUTE 3 SEWER FACILITIES BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

TOWN OF CHAMPION 
TOWN OF LERAY 

TOWN OF PAMELIA 
TOWN OF RUTLAND 

VILLAGE OF BLACK RIVER 
 

Whereas, the Development Authority of the North Country (Authority) and the  

Board of Commissioners for the Route 3 Sewer Facilities (“Board” or “Board of 

Commissioners”) entered into an Agreement dated April 14, 2020 for an 

amount not to exceed $17,000 to upgrade the RTUs and Power Supplies in 

LeRay Pump Station 4 and LeRay Pump Station 5, and 

 

Whereas, the Board purchased 2 additional RTUs with funds from the O&M 

budget last fiscal year and has requested that the Authority program and 

install these 2 RTUs in LeRay Pump Station 6 and Black River Pump Station 3, 

and  

 

Whereas, the Board has requested that the additional work be completed on 

a time and material basis which will result in additional not to exceed costs of 

$8,000. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, the Authority and the Board agree to amend the amount of 

the agreement to $25,000. 

 

The return of one signed copy of this Amendment, together with the formal 

resolution of approval, constitutes acceptance of this Amendment and shall be 

written authorization for the Authority to proceed with contract services up to 

the amount agreed upon. 

 
ROUTE 3 SEWER BOARD DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
    OF THE NORTH COUNTRY 
  
By:______________________ By:_______________________ 
 
Date:____________________ Date:_____________________ 
 
    Scott Allen    Carl E. Farone, Jr. 
    Chairperson of the Board  Executive Director 

152



  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT LOAN FUND 

COMMUNITY RENTAL HOUSING PROGRAM 
HEUVELTON HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION 

LOAN 
 

Whereas, Heuvelton Historical Association has requested funding in the amount 
of up to $190,000 from the Development Authority of the North Country to renovate a 
dilapidated building located at 81 State Street, Heuvelton, NY, and 

 
Whereas, the Heuvelton Historical Association previously completed the 

successful rehabilitation of Pickens Hall which houses a performing arts theater and 
general store located at 83 State Street, Heuvelton, NY, and 

 
Whereas, St. Lawrence Federal Credit Union will lease space on the first floor and 

the Historical Association will create a 2 bedroom market rate apartment on the second 
floor, and 

 
Whereas, the building at 81 State Street is adjacent to the building at 83 State 

Street and the façade will be returned to its historical look fitting with the look of Pickens 
Hall, and 

 
Whereas, the project is eligible for funding through the Community Rental Housing 

Program for the market rate housing unit, and 
 
Whereas, the project meets the eligibility of the Community Development Loan 

Program, and  
 
Whereas, the project will enhance the downtown business district, and 
 
Whereas, Resolution No. 2020-05-66 authorized $21,249.20 in state funds 

received through senate member appropriations held by the Authority to the Heuvelton 
Historical Association for infrastructure improvements associated with this project.  
  
 Now, therefore be it 
 

RESOLVED, Development Authority of the North Country does hereby 
approve a loan in the amount of up to $190,000 [$65,000 Community Rental Housing 
Program/$125,000 Community Development Loan Fund) to the Heuvelton 
Historical Association at the terms and conditions outlined on the attached Term 
Sheet, and further authorizes the Executive Director or the Chief Financial Officer 
to execute all documents necessary to make the loan, and be it further 

 
RESOLVED, this is considered a Type II Action under the State 

Environmental Quality Review (SEQRA) and is considered an exempt activity 
requiring no further action.

Board Resolution No. 2021-02-51 
February 25, 2021 

153



TERM SHEET 
 
 

Borrower:   Heuvelton Historical Association 
    
Loan Fund:   $125,000 Community Development Loan Fund 
    $65,000 Community Rental Housing Program 
 
Amount:   up to $190,000  
 
Loan Term: 240 months 
 
Loan Rate: 3.25% 
 
Loan Payment: First 9 months interest only, thereafter regular monthly 

principal and interest payments to fully amortize the loan 
over 240 months  

 
Collateral: Co-proportional first mortgage with Oswegatchie 

Development Corporation and assignment of rents and 
leases on 81 State Street, Heuvelton, NY. 

 
 Co-proportional third mortgage with Oswegatchie 

Development Corporation and assignment of rents and 
leases on 83 State Street, Heuvelton, NY. 

 
 Lien on all machinery and equipment, furniture and fixtures, 

accounts receivable, and general intangibles of Heuvelton 
Historical Association. 

 
Conditions: Disbursements based upon submission of invoices 
 
  

 
 

 

154



BORROWER: Heuvelton Historical Association 
 
BUSINESS LOCATION:  83 State Street, Heuvelton, NY 13654 
 
PROJECT LOCATION: 81 State Street, Heuvelton, NY 13654 
 
OWNERSHIP:   501 C 3 not for profit 
 
OFFICERS:    David Kingsley  President 
     Ken Cole   Vice President 
     Barb Lashua   Secretary 
     Jenessa Fenton  Treasurer 
 

AMOUNT: up to $190,000.00 ($65,000 from CRHP/$125,000 from 
CDLF) 

 

TERM: 9 months interest-only then 240 months 
 
RATE:    3.25%  
 

PAYMENTS: 9 months interest only, then 240 monthly principal and 
interest payments to fully amortize loan 

 
COLLATERAL: First mortgage co-proportional with Oswegatchie 

Development Corp on 81 State Street, Heuvelton, NY; third 
mortgage co-proportionate with Oswegatchie Development 
Corp on 83 State Street; assignment of rents and leases  

 
GUARANTORS: None 
 
USE OF FUNDS:   
 

SOURCES OF FUNDS    USES OF FUNDS 

 
Authority Loan $190,000.00  Acquisition  $32,000.00 
NBT Bank $100,000.00  Hazmat Assessment $  2,200.00 
Oswegatchie Development Corp $  75,000.00  Demo Disposal $  4,000.00 
Legislative Initiative (DANC funds)  $  21,000.00  Architect  $20,000.00 
Cash/In-Kind Labor $  10,003.00  Construction  $279,207.00 
    Storefront  $19,780.00 

   Utility Relocation $12,000.00 
    Legal   $3,000.00 
    Contingency  $23,816.00 
Total Sources $396,003.00  Total Uses  $396,003.00 
 

155



 
NBT Bank-Approved and closed, 12 months interest only during construction at 3.5%, termed 
out over remaining 228 months, ARM every 5 years to Federal Home Loan Bank rate at the time 
plus 3.5%. Taxes escrowed.  
 
The Historical Association was awarded a grant through Senator Ritchie for acquisition of the 
building; however due to the state’s budget issues, they have not included it in the sources of 
funds.  The grant is for $50,000. 
 
Oswegatchie Development Corporation-Pending, assumes ½ Prime plus 1 with a 10 year term 
 
HISTORY: 

 

The Heuvelton Historical 
Association is a non-profit 
organization chartered by the 
authority of the NYS Board 
of Regents on October 5, 
2001.  Its objective is to 
foster a knowledge of the 
history of the Village of 
Heuvelton by gathering 
historical artifacts, books, 
manuscripts, papers, 
photographs and other 
historically significant 

materials.  Materials are on display at the Village center building owned by the Association 
known as the “Pickens Hall Opera House.” [Pictured above] 
 
The grand opening of Pickens Hall occurred April 30, 2016.  Today the facility hosts events in 
its Opera House and has a General Store on the first floor.  It is the centerpiece of the 
community. 

    
 

Project: 

156



 

The Heuvelton Historical 
Association has recently purchased 
81 State Street.  The structure 
housed three apartments that are in 
poor condition.  The Historical 
Association felt the need to own the 
property as it is attached to Pickens 
Hall.  With the closing of 
Community Bank in Heuvelton, 
they were approached by the St. 
Lawrence Federal Credit Union as a 
possible spot for a brick and mortar 
presence in the village.  The plan is 
to house the credit union on the first 
floor and provide a two-bedroom 
apartment with a small office on the 
second floor.  Plans are being drawn 
by Crawford and Stearns. A hazmat 
assessment has been completed and 
no critical materials were identified.  The interior of the building is almost gutted at this point.  
Code review will be complete and plans will be let for bid as soon as possible.  The project has 
been bid and the sources and uses reflect the bid amount.  
 
The St. Lawrence Federal Credit union has agreed to cover some of the architecture fees as well 
as the cost of the first floor build-out.  The lease agreement is for a monthly rent of $2,000 per 
month for the first two years as well as some expenses.  The next three years would be at $2,250 
per month.   
 
They are targeting the two-bedroom apartment rental would lease for $1,000 per month.  The 
applicant feels that this is in line with rents in the surrounding area.  The apartment would have 
high-speed internet making it appealing for people who want to work from home. However, the 
fair market rent for a two-bedroom apartment in St. Lawrence for 2021 is $857.  
 
The Historical Association. feels this project is important to the viability and vitality of down 
town Heuvelton.  Providing a banking institution in the business corridor will help draw people 
in and in turn increase patronage at local businesses.  The credit union will employ 3 full time 
people at this branch.  The apartment will slightly increase rental housing stock in the village.  
The village of Heuvelton has been blessed with entrepreneurs that have invested in new 
businesses and taken over existing ones.  This project would be another piece of the puzzle in the 
growth and longevity of a small community. 
 
 

FINANCIALS:   

 

157



Historical 

    2018  2019  2020    
Support & Revenue  $257,888 $213,496 $216,832  
Expenses    
  Payroll & Payroll Taxes $50,310 $52,485 $42,887 
  Advertising   $4,569  $3,606  $1,570   
  Program Expense  $27,451 $27,157 $5,117   
  Credit Card/Bank Fees $4,461  $4,546  $4,735   
  Computer & Internet  $4,140  $4,131  $5,456   
  Licenses & Dues  $1,844  $2,294  $491   
  Insurance   $9,237  $8,841  $8,138   
  Interest   $18,000 $11,653 $3,990   
  Office Supplies  $8,350  $6,599  $4,746   
  Shipping   $0  $0  $4,389 
  Grant Expense  $8,750  $0  $100   
  Professional Fees  $550  $600  $2,811   
  Repairs & Maintenance $6,652  $5,247  $7,557   
  Other Taxes   $2,706  $2,511  $8,085   
  Travel   $0  $70  $142   
  Utilities   $12,229 $10,057 $10,264 
  Miscellaneous  $0  $0  $890 
  Depreciation   $62,525 $62,267 $0   
Total Expenses  $221,774 $202,064 $111,368   
 
Increase in Net Assets  $36,114 $11,432 $105,464 
 
Add back: Depreciation $62,525 $62,267 $0   
Add back: Interest  $18,000 $11,653 $3,990   
One Time Income/(Expense)   _______ _______  
Cash Available for Debt $116,639 $85,352 $109,454  
 
Debt Service-SLC Chamber $5,721  $5,721  $5,721   
Debt Service-DANC  $12,932 $12,932 $12,932  
Debt Service-NBT  $7,213  $7,213  $7,213 
Debt Service-Oswegatchie $8,536  $8,536  $8,536 
Total Debt Service  $34,402 $31,679 $31,679  
DSC Ratio   3.39  2.69  3.46   
 
Oswegatchie Development Corp assumes a 10-year loan at ½ Prime plus 1 (2.625% as of 
2/12/2021) 
 
There is an existing Oswegatchie Development Corporation loan that will be paid in full in July 
2021.  For purposes of the cash flow analysis I did not include these payments.   
 

158



 The historical financial information for 2018 and 2019 was prepared by an accountant.  
The 2020 information was internally prepared by the applicant.  

 The major sources of income are retail sales from Picken’s Store, 42%, 
donations/memberships, 10%, grant income, 25%, program event income, 22%, and hall 
rental income, 1%.  They received a $100,000 grant from a Foundation that they were 
able to use to pay off a significant amount of debt on Pickens Hall.   

 Expenses are primarily salary and wages, utilities, insurance and taxes. 
 
81 State Street  Year One Adjusted FMR 
 
Lease Income C.U. $24,000 $24,000  
Lease Income Apt $12,000 $10,284 
Total Income  $36,000 $34,284 
 
Taxes   $1,611 
Sewer/Water/Trash $1,808 
Snow Removal $2,000 
Maintenance  $1,200 
Insurance  $1,500 
Total Expenses $8,119 
 
Net Income  $27,881 
 
*Heat and Lights will be paid by tenants.   
 

 There is a 5-year renewable lease for $2000 per month for the first 24 months, and $2250 
per month for the next 36 months. 

 They hope to get $1000 per month for the apartment, however this is not definite. The 
fair market rent for a 2-bedroom in St. Lawrence County for 2021 is $857.  I provided an 
additional column showing income based upon the fair market rent.  Even if the 
apartment is vacant, there is sufficient lease income from the Credit Union to cover 
expenses.   

 Expenses would likely increase for heat and lights if the apartment is vacant for any 
period of time.  Again there is excess cash flow from the Credit Union lease to cover 
these increased costs.    

Balance Sheet 

 2018 2019 2020 

Current Assets $82,432 $101,676 $141,252 
Fixed Assets $2,016,757 $1,954,490 $1,988,768 
Total Assets $2,099,189 $2,056,166 $2,130,020 
    
Current Liabilities $179,257 $130,747 $68,800 
Long-Term Liabilities $43,601 $37,654 $67,990 
Total Liabilities $222,858 $168,401 $136,790 

159



    
Net Assets $1,876,331 $1,887,765 $1,993,230 
Total Liabilities & Net 
Assets 

$2,099,189 $2,056,166 $2,130,020 

 

 Long-term liabilities increased by the amount of funds drawn from the NBT loan to 
purchase 81 State Street.   

 

Credit: 

The Heuvelton Historical Association has a low risk logic score of 89. The days beyond terms 
are 5 or less. It has no derogatory public records or collection accounts. The accounts established 
are being paid as agreed, and are 100% current at this time. The president of the company is 
shown to be David Kingsley. It is a membership organization, and according to the report has 
been in business for 13 years. It has one UCC filing and there were no OFAC records found 
(Office of Foreign Assets Control). 

 
Collateral Analysis 

     Full Market Value* Discount 
83 State Street, Heuvelton     $575,000 
   Discounted at 70% LTV        $402,500 
Total     $575,000  $402,500 
 
St. Lawrence County Chamber of Commerce  $60,287  $60,287 
NBT Bank     $100,000  $100,000 
Collateral Available after Senior Mortgages   $414,713  $242,213 
 
Development Authority/Oswegatchie Development Corp $265,000  $265,000 
Total LTV     63.9%   109%   

 
81 State Street, Heuvelton     $40,000 
   Discounted at 70% LTV        $28,000 
Improvements     $298,987 
   Discounted at 70% LTV        $209,290 
Total Collateral Available     $338,987  $237,290 
 
Co-proportional 1st mortgage  
   DANC/Oswegatchie Growth Fund    $265,000  $265,000 
Total LTV     78.2%   112%  

   
*Market value from the Commercial Evaluation Report prepared by universal Real Estate 
Services Inc. for NBT Bank as of 11/12/2020.   

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

160



Staff recommends loan of up to $190,000 ($65,000 CRHP/$125,000 CDLF) to the Heuvelton 
Historical Association at the terms and conditions listed above.   

161



 
COMMUNITY RENTAL HOUSING PROGRAM 

PINK PALACE PROPERTIES, LLC 
LOAN #2 

 
 Whereas, Resolution No. 2020-05-62 approved $140,000 from the Community 
Rental Housing Program to Pink Palace Properties, LLC for improvements to properties 
located at 120 and 102.5 Keyes Avenue, Watertown, and  
 
 Whereas, Pink Palace Properties, LLC (‘Applicant’) has requested a loan in the 
amount of up to $220,000 from the Community Rental Housing Program for 
improvements to properties located at 134 Keyes Avenue, 409 Franklin Street, and 261 
TenEyck Street Watertown, and 
 
 Whereas, the properties have 17 market rate units combined, and 
 
 Whereas, the applicant proposes to make improvements to the units and building 
exteriors, and 
 
 Whereas, the project meets the intent of the Community Rental Housing Program 
to improve the quality of the housing stock within the three-counties. 
 
 Now, therefore be it 
 

RESOLVED, Development Authority of the North Country does hereby 
approve a loan in the amount of up to $220,000 from the Community Rental Housing 
Program to Pink Palace Properties, LLC at the terms and conditions outlined on 
the attached Term Sheet, and further authorizes the Executive Director or the Chief 
Financial Officer to execute all documents necessary to make the loan, and be it 
further 

 
RESOLVED, this is considered a Type II Action under the State 

Environmental Quality Review (SEQRA) and is considered an exempt activity 
requiring no further action.

Board Resolution No. 2021-02-52 
February 25, 2021 

162



 
TERM SHEET 

 
 

Borrower:   Pink Palace Properties, LLC 
    
Loan Fund:   Community Rental Housing Program 
 
Amount:   up to $220,000  
 
Loan Term: 120 months amortized over 240 months 
 
Loan Rate: 3.25% (WSJ Prime Rate as of 2/9/2021) 
 
Loan Payment: Construction interest-only for first 12 months, then monthly 

principal and interest payments to amortize over 240 months 
with 120 month term  

 
Collateral: Second mortgage behind AmeriCU on real estate located at 

134 Keyes Avenue, 409 Franklin Street, and 261 TenEyck 
Street, Watertown, NY 13601, and assignment of rents and 
leases  

 
Personal Guarantees: Christopher Virgil-Stone and Joseph G. Firmin 
 
Conditions: • Applicant pays $1,000 to Authority for construction 

inspections. 
 

 Applicant will submit detailed budgets and copies of 
invoices to draw funds. 

 
 

163



BORROWER: Pink Palace Properties, LLC (Georgia Corporation) 
 d/b/a Pink Palace Properties of Upstate NY, LLC 
 
BUSINESS LOCATION:  240 Peachtree Street NW#56766, Atlanta, GA 30343 
 
PROJECT LOCATION: 409 Franklin Street, Watertown-parcel #12-04.210.000 

261 TenEyck Street, Watertown-parcel #10-17-119.000 
 134 Keyes Ave, Watertown-parcel #11-05-218.000 
 
OWNERSHIP:   Joseph G. Firman – 50% 
     Christopher Virgil-Stone – 50% 

 

AMOUNT: up to $220,000.00 (Disbursed as construction loan) 
 

TERM: Interest-only for first 12 months, then 120 months 
amortized over 240 months.  Construction is expected to 
take 12 months to complete.  

 
RATE:    3.25% (WSJ Prime on 2/9/2021) 
 

PAYMENTS: Interest-only for first 12 months then monthly principal and 
interest payments  

 
COLLATERAL: Second mortgage position behind Lender  
 
GUARANTORS: Christopher Virgil-Stone and Joseph G. Firmin 
 
USE OF FUNDS:   
 

SOURCES OF FUNDS    USES OF FUNDS 

 
Authority Loan $220,000.00  Acquisition  $691,800.00 
AmeriCU $587,000.00  409 Franklin St. $  30,000.00 
Cash Equity $104,800.00  261 TenEyck St. $  60,000.00 
    134 Keyes Ave. $130,000.00 
Total Sources $911,800.00  Total Uses  $911,800.00 
 
AmeriCU-10 year term/25 year amortization, 4.15% 
 
PROJECT: 

 

Pink Palace Properties owned by Mr. Firman and Mr. Virgil-Stone recently purchased the 
apartment complex located at 120 and 120.5 Keyes Avenue, Watertown.  They closed on a loan 
from the Community Rental Housing Program for $140,000 on July 22, 2020 in order to make 

164



improvements to the property.  To date, they have drawn $94,844.49 on the loan and will 
complete the work later in the spring.  They have been paying interest on this loan. 
 
Recently, they purchased 409 Franklin Street, 261 TenEyck Street, and 134 Keyes Avenue, 
Watertown.  They are requesting an additional $220,000 to complete improvements on those 
properties.  They have quotes for the exterior work, however do not have quotes for the interior 
work, only a list of items that they will replace per unit.  Their per unit estimate is based upon the 
costs associated with updating the units at 120 and 120.5 Keyes Ave.   
 
At 134 Keyes Ave they are proposing about $60,000 in exterior and basement repairs.  They are 
also budgeting approximately $8000 per unit, or $64,000, in improvements to the units.  The 
balance is for contingency.  This is based upon how much it is costing to turn units at 120 Keyes 
Ave. A contractor was unable to go in to provide a more detailed cost estimate as the units were 
occupied.   
 
They propose some exterior work on Franklin Street, and are looking at painting the building 
rather than siding it.   They have provided a list of items that they would like to replace/repair at 
the Franklin Street property, however no cost estimate has been provided.  As stated above, their 
per unit estimates are based upon their experience with 120 and 120.5 Keyes Ave.  The property 
at 409 Franklin Street has 3 one-bedroom units and 1 two-bedroom unit. The tenants pay $810 
plus electric for the 1 bedroom units, and $870 plus electric for the 2 bedroom unit.  One resident 
is moving out of Franklin Street this month however there is a waiting list.   
 
They proposed to complete about $12,000 in exterior work on the property.  The balance will be 
utilized to make improvements to units as they turn.  The property at 261 TenEyck Street has 1 
one-bedroom unit, 3 two-bedroom units, and 1 three-bedroom unit.  Tenants pay $725 for the 
one-bedroom unit, $845 for the two-bedroom units, and $950 for the three-bedroom unit. 
Tenants also pay electric and gas. The property has 100% occupancy. 
 
The property at 134 Keyes Ave has 2 efficiency units, 4 one-bedroom units, and 2 two-bedroom 
units.    The tenants pay $555 on average for the studio units, $637.50 on average for the one-
bedroom units and $725 on average for the two-bedroom units.  Tenants also pay electric and 
trash.  The property has 100% occupancy.   
 
The fair market rents in the Watertown-Fort Drum Metropolitan Statistical Area for 2021 are as 
follows: $691 for efficiency, $794 for one-bedroom, $1,047 for two-bedroom, $1,389 for three-
bedroom, and $1,610 for four-bedroom.  These are actually down slightly from 2020.  The rents 
in the subject properties above are considered affordable in this market. 
 

165



 
261 TenEyck Street 
 

 
409 Franklin Street 

 
134 Keyes Ave. 
  

166



They have engaged Forte Management Group, LLC located in Watertown as their Property 
Management Company.  They are also bidding on the construction work through their firm, 
Forte Management Group, LLC.  No tenants will be displaced during renovations.  The 
renovations will be completed as turnover occurs.   
 
The loan will be disbursed as a construction loan upon submission of finalized budgets and 
invoices.  We can utilize staff to review the work completed prior to disbursing the funds.  We 
will charge the applicant $1000 for this time. 
 

FINANCIALS:   

 

Historical 

    Year One Year Two Year Three 
Income    
  409 Franklin   $36,432 $37,536 $38,924 
  134 Keyes   $57,712 $63,554 $68,501 
  261 TenEyck   $46,782 $50,038 $52,663 
Total Income   $140,926 $151,128 $160,088 
 
Expenses    
  409 Franklin   $16,496 $16,754 $17,098 
  134 Keyes   $29,974 $30,424 $30,880 
  261 TenEyck   $21,922 $22,251 $22,585   
Total Expenses  $68,392 $69,429 $70,563 
 
Total NOI   $72,534 $81,699 $89,525 
New: Debt Service  
   AmeriCU   $37,767 $37,767 $37,767 
   Development Authority $14,974 $14,974 $14,974 
Total Debt   $52,741 $52,741 $52,741 
 
DSC Ratio   1.38  1.55  1.70 
 
With the AmeriCU loan there will be a balloon of approximately $422,643 at the end of the ten 
year term.  There will be a balloon of approximately $128,042 on the Development Authority 
loan at the end of the ten-year term. 
 

 Historical information was requested from the applicant, however he noted that no good 
information was provided. They built the projections off of what was provided and their 
own due diligence.   

 Rents for the properties are listed in the narrative above.  As noted, these are well within 
affordable for the market even though they are not income-restricted by a funding source.   

 Rent income is net a vacancy rate of 8%.  This is adequate given the waiting list and 
somewhat tighter rental housing market due to COVID and the moratorium on evictions. 

167



 Major expenses are property taxes, utilities, management fee, and project reserves.  The 
management fee is about 10% of total revenue. 

 Based upon the projections there is sufficient cash flow to repay the new debt.   
 The applicant closed on the properties in December 2020.   

 
Personal Credit: 

Mr. Firmin lists personal assets of $1,462,159 and liabilities of $1,114,323.  Primary assets 
include IRA and other retirement accounts and real estate.  Liabilities include revolving credit 
and real estate.  He is also including the value of the properties and the mortgages he owes on the 
rental properties as a guarantor even though the loans are through the LLC.  He lists salaries and 
commission of $170,000 and real estate income of $159,360.  Joseph Firmin has a TransUnion 
credit score of 705.  He has a derogatory comment for a Macy’s card that was closed by the 
credit grantor in 2018.  The late payments were in the fall of 2018.  The report only shows 
$643,110 in liabilities primarily in a mortgage of $274,172 and revolving of $348,598.  The 
revolving credit is misleading as it includes the $274,172 HELOC that is also listed as a 
mortgage.  It appears that this error has resulted in his credit score going down as well.  Nothing 
on public record. 
 
Mr. Virgil-Stone lists personal assets of $1,181,384 and liabilities of $998,671.  Primary assets 
are in cash and investments and real estate.  Liabilities are in installment loans and mortgages.  
He is also including the value of the properties and the mortgages he owes on the rental 
properties as a guarantor even though the loans are through the LLC.  He lists $130,000 in 
income between salary and rental income.  Mr. Virgil-Stone has a TransUnion credit score of 
793.  He has no public record and no derogatory comments.  He shows total debt of $431,604 
comprised primarily of a mortgage, $348,995.  

 
Collateral Analysis 

     Full Market Value Discount 

409 Franklin Street     $160,000 
   Discounted at 70% LTV        $112,000 
261 TenEyck St.     $265,000 
   Discounted at 70% LTV         $185,500 
134 Keyes Ave.     $280,000 
   Discounted at 70% LTV        $196,000 
Improvements-Cost     $130,000 
   Discounted at 70% LTV        $  91,000  
Total     $835,000  $584,500 
 
AmeriCU     $587,000  $587,000 
Collateral Available to DANC    $248,000  ($2,500) 
NEW-Development Authority Loan    $220,000  $220,000 
Total LTV     89%   ----  

   
*Appraisal for 134 Keyes completed by Varley Appraisal Group for AmeriCU Credit Union as 
of September 23, 2020.  Appraisal for 261 TenEyck Street completed by Varley Appraisal 

168



Group for AmeriCU Credit Union as of September 23, 2020.  The appraisal for 134 Keyes Ave 
completed by Varley Appraisal Group for AmeriCU Credit Union as of September 23, 2020.  

 
With the proposed improvements, the loan-to-value is sufficient to justify lending the $130,000.  
Even discounting the improvements at 70% LTV, or $91,000, the loan-to-value would still be 
adequate.   
  
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 
Staff recommends a commitment of up to $220,000 from the Community Rental Housing 
Program.  The loan would be for 120 months, amortized over 240 months, at 3.25%, with 
construction interest only payments until the final draw.  Loan would be conditioned on the 
personal guarantees of Christopher Virgil-Stone and Joseph G. Firmin.  We would charge the 
borrower a one-time fee of $1000 for staff time to inspect work completed prior to disbursing 
funds.  Borrower will need to submit detailed budgets and invoices prior to funds being 
disbursesd.   

169



Board Resolution No. 2021-02-53 
February 25, 2021 

OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE SERVICE AGREEMENT 
VILLAGE OF CASTORLAND 

WATER AND SEWER DISTRICTS 

Whereas, the Development Authority of the North Country is qualified and equipped 
to provide contract operator services for municipal water and wastewater facilities, and  

Whereas, the Village of Castorland desires to enter into a new one (1) year 
Operations and Maintenance Service Agreement with the Development Authority of the 
North Country for  a total amount of $30,555, and 

Now, therefore be it 

RESOLVED, the Development Authority of the North Country does hereby 
authorize and direct the Executive Director to enter into an Operations and 
Maintenance Service Agreement with the Village of Castorland, and be it further  

RESOLVED, the Executive Director is hereby authorized to execute the 
required and necessary agreements. 

170



OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE SERVICE AGREEMENT 
 

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE NORTH COUNTRY 
& 

VILLAGE OF CASTORLAND 
 
This sets forth the Operation and Maintenance Service Agreement made effective                     , 
2021, by and between the Village of Castorland (“Village”), a New York municipal corporation 
with offices at PO Box 104, Castorland, New York 13620 and the DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF 
THE NORTH COUNTRY, a New York public authority with offices at the Dulles State Office 
Building, 317 Washington Street, Watertown, New York 13601 (“Authority”). 
 

RECITALS 
 
1) The Village has determined that the Authority is qualified and equipped to provide Operation 

and Maintenance services for the Village Facilities and desires to engage the Authority for such 
services. The Village is authorized to enter into this Agreement by Resolution dated 
______________, a certified copy of which is attached as Exhibit “A”. 

 
2) The Authority desires to provide Operations and Maintenance Services for the Village facilities 

described in this Agreement. 
  

AGREEMENT 
 
In the consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties agree to the following 
Articles: 
  
 Article I  Definitions 
 Article II  Employment and Scope of Services  
 Article III Emergency Procedures and Services 
 Article IV Terms 
 Article V Compensation 
 Article VI Village Responsibilities 
 Article VII Termination 
 Article VIII Insurance and Liability 
 Article IX Accounts 
 Article X Miscellaneous 

171



ARTICLE I - Definitions 
 

Section 101.  Defined Terms.  As used or referred to in this Agreement, unless a different meaning 
clearly appears from the context: 
 
1) “Authority Officer”, the Chairman, any Vice Chairman, the Secretary, the Treasurer, the 

Executive Director, or any authorized representative of the Development Authority of the 
North Country. 

 
2) “Chief Elected Official”, the Village Mayor.  
 
3) “Department of Health”, the regulatory agency administering the legal requirements for 

drinking water within New York State, referred to as the “DOH”. 
 
4) “Department of Environmental Conservation”, the regulatory agency administering the legal 

requirements for clean water programs within New York State, referred to as the “DEC”. 
 
5) “EDU”, equivalent dwelling unit intended to indicate a standard based upon the average 

single-family residence. 
 
6) “Emergency”, an unforeseen combination of circumstances or the resulting state that calls 

for immediate action. 
 
7) “Fiscal Year” for the Village means the period of twelve (12) calendar months beginning with 

June 1st of any year and ending with May 31st of such year, and for the Authority means the 
period of twelve (12) calendar months beginning with April 1st of any year ending with March 
31st of the next year. 
 

8) “Hosting Services”, refers to the act of the Authority storing and providing access to spatial 
data via the IMA. 
 

9) “IMA”, Internet Mapping Application, the Authority’s web-based GIS which serves as the 
platform for providing GIS hosting services. 

 
10) “Operations and Maintenance Expenses”, charges incurred for day-to-day operation of the 

facilities. It shall include such things as labor, materials, cost of utilities, cost of repairs to 
the facilities, and other day-to-day expenses associated with the normal operation of the 
facilities. 

 
11) “Record Drawings”, engineered drawings that have been prepared for construction and have 

been updated upon project completion to reflect any changes made to the original design.  
 
12) “SCADA”, Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition system employed by the Authority to 

remotely monitor certain facilities. 
 
13) “Village of Castorland”, a municipal corporation with offices at PO Box 104, Castorland, 

New York 13620 (herein referred to as “Village of Castorland” or “Village”). 
 
14) “Warneck Pump Station”, the office location of the Development Authority of the North 

Country’s water/wastewater services group, physically located at 23557 NYS Route 37, 
Watertown, New York 13601. 

172



 
15) “Water Facilities”, the Village-owned water facilities described in detail on Record Drawings 

and Operations and Maintenance Manuals and briefly described below: 
 
Water Supply, Storage, and Distribution System 
 Back-Up Well Supply Pump 
 Liquid Chlorine Injection Pump 
 Primary Well Supply Pump 

 System Flow Meter 
 Water Storage Tank 
 Hydrants 
 System Valves 
 Approximately 110 Residential Water Meters 
 Approximately 110 Lateral Customer Connections 
 Distribution Piping 
 

 
16) “Wastewater Facilities”, the Village-owned wastewater facilities described in detail on 

Record Drawings and Operations and Maintenance Manuals and briefly described below: 
 

Wastewater Treatment Plant 
 Two Gorman Rupp Influent Pumps  
 Two Aeration Lagoons 
 Oxidation Blowers  
 Effluent Flow/pH Metering Equipment (Ultrasonic/ISCO 4210) 
 
Wastewater Collection System 
 One Duplex Smith & Loveless Lift Station  
 Approximately 110 Lateral Customer Connections  
 Gravity Sewer Collection Piping and Forcemain 
 Manholes 

 
 

ARTICLE II - Employment and Scope of Services 
 
Section 201.  Engagement.  The Village hereby engages the Authority to operate and maintain the 
Village’s Facilities, employing certified operators where required. 
 
1) All work will be conducted in accordance with all State and Federal Laws and Regulations.  
2) The Authority will take directions only from the Village designated representatives.  The 

Village will be responsible for designating the representatives that will provide direction to 
the Authority. The Village will be responsible for responding to all calls from residents 
concerning the operation of the Village Facilities. 

3) The Authority will seek approval from the Village for non-incidental expenses, unless the 
situation is deemed an emergency.  The Authority will determine whether the situation is 
deemed an emergency, as defined in Section 301.  

4) Scheduled services that occur on holidays observed by the Authority will be performed the 
next normal working day following the holiday, aside from regulatory required daily activities. 

 

173



Section 202.  Scope of Services.  The Authority shall provide all necessary labor and equipment to 
perform the services as follows, and will perform work in accordance with manufacturer’s 
specifications to maintain warranties. 

1) Operations and Maintenance Services 

  

Water System Services 

Daily Tasks 
- Visual inspection of the water system facilities; examine the primary well pump, check liquid 

chlorine injection pump and piping for proper operation, check piping for leaks 
- Record daily water flow through meter 
- Record chlorine usage; mix/re-fill as required 
- Record chlorine residual tests within the distribution system, as required by the NYS Department 

of Health  
- Check water storage tank operation  
- General housekeeping of treatment plant 

Monthly Tasks 
- Perform all manufacturer recommended preventative maintenance on mechanical equipment 

Quarterly Tasks 
- Perform all manufacturer recommended preventative maintenance on mechanical equipment 

Annual Tasks 
- Perform recommended manufacturer’s maintenance on chemical feed pump: chemically clean 

injection system; rebuild pump components as required 
- Exercise water transmission system valves 
- Check accuracy of system flow meter operation and calibrate as needed. (Note: If vendor 

assistance is required to perform calibration, the Village will be responsible for the cost of 
vendor services) 

- Check/verify alarm set points and proper operation 

Sampling/Reporting  
- Collect and submit to the testing laboratory random distribution sample(s) for total coliform, as 

required by the NYS Department of Health 
- Prepare and distribute a monthly DOH Report 
- Collect and submit for testing other water samples required by the DOH 
- Prepare and distribute an Annual Water Quality Report 
- Prepare and submit Annual Water Quality Certification Form 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

174



Wastewater System Services 

Daily Tasks 
- Visual inspection of the operation of wastewater treatment plant; inspect and examine all 

mechanical, electrical equipment and piping for proper operation; complete daily logsheet 
documenting specific checks 

- Perform DEC required testing (flow, settleable solids, pH, temperature, dissolved oxygen, 
TSS, etc.)   

- Complete daily log documenting specific checks 
- Review past 24-hours of operations to ensure that monitoring parameters have been 

within acceptable limits; make process adjustments to optimize performance 
- Maintain log of chemicals and other supplies; notify Village Clerk when restocking is 

needed 
- Examine mechanical and electrical components for proper operation; make process 

adjustments, clean equipment, etc. as required 
- General housekeeping of treatment plant and lab building 

Weekly Tasks 
- Inspect Lift Stations for proper operation and record pump runtime where hour meters are 

present 
- Check and calibrate pH meters as required 

Monthly Tasks 
-  Grease/oil equipment in accordance with manufacturer’s recommendations 
-  Clean and flush system components as required 
-  Collect samples as required by NYSDEC 

Quarterly Tasks 
- Perform basic manufacturer’s maintenance on mechanical equipment 

Semi-Annual Tasks 
- Monitor lagoon level and sludge concentration  
- Coordinate and arrange for sludge disposal(as needed) 

Annual Tasks 
- Perform recommended manufacturer’s maintenance on all mechanical equipment, with the 

exception of the back-up generator which will be maintained by the Village and blower 
laser alignment which will be performed by outside certified vendor 

- Perform visual inspection of all manholes in the collection system. Prepare inspection 
summary report, which includes recommendations for repairs. 

- Verify proper operation of all system alarms; check and adjust set points as needed 
- Check accuracy of system flow meters and calibrate as needed. (Note: If vendor 

assistance is required to perform calibration, the Village will be responsible for the cost of 
vendor services) 

- Test Village owned backflow prevention devices 

Sampling/Reporting  
- Collect and submit to the testing laboratory all samples specified in the Village’s State 

Pollution Discharge Elimination System (SPDES) permit  
- Complete and submit monthly Discharge Monitoring Reports to the NYS DEC  
- Complete Annual DEC Design Flow Certification 
- Prepare a monthly operations summary report for the Village. The report will include a 

summary of the work completed by DANC, as well as graphs and other relevant 
operational data 

175



 
2) Miscellaneous Services 

 
The following miscellaneous services are provided by the Authority at no additional cost to 
the Village: 

 Transportation for Authority employees to complete the routine tasks described 
above. 

 Incorporation of the Village’s water and sewer facility equipment into the Authority’s 
computerized maintenance management system (CMMS). 

 Development of written preventative maintenance plans for the Village’s equipment. 
 Creation of a standard operating procedure for the Village’s water and sewer 

equipment. 
 Attendance at monthly Village Meetings, as requested.   
 24-Hour emergency call service and availability of “On-Call” Operator for 

Emergency service. Emergency services will be billed according to Section 
302 and Section 503. 

 

3) Additional Services 
 

Any other tasks not included in the scope of services described above, such as response to 
customer complaints, response to emergency situations, inspection of service connections, 
other technical assistance as requested, etc. all as requested of the Authority by the Village 
will be reimbursed as described in Section 503. 
Any other GIS tasks that are not included in the scope of base services described above, 
such as Data Maintenance, or developing new datasets, all as requested of the Authority by 
the Village will be reimbursed as described in Section 503. 
 
Any SCADA tasks that are not included in the scope of base services described above, such 
as replacing damaged equipment, all as requested of the Authority by the Village will be 
reimbursed as described in Section 503. 
 
The Village will be responsible for the costs of all laboratory, vendor maintenance (i.e., 
generator service, electrical contractor services, etc.), heavy equipment rental charges, 
materials and supplies. The Village will be responsible for all back-up generator 
maintenance. 

 
 

ARTICLE III - Emergency Procedures and Services 
 

Section 301. Procedures. The Authority will exercise due diligence and prudent judgment in 
response to any emergency situation that may occur.  The Authority will utilize documented 
Standard and Emergency Operating Procedures, prepared by the Authority, during both regular 
and emergency operations. The Authority will notify the Village Representative of any emergency 
and actions taken, as soon as practicable. 
 
Section 302.  Payment.  The Authority staff will provide 24-hour coverage for alarm and emergency 
responses. All responses to emergencies during non-duty hours will be billed at the employee’s 
overtime burden compensation rate specified in Section 503, with a two-hour minimum. All 
equipment used for emergencies will be billed in accordance with the current Development Authority 

176



equipment rental rates provided to the Village.  Mileage from the operator’s destination at the time 
of call or the operator’s home base, whichever is shorter, will be reimbursed at the current Federal 
Mileage Rate.   

ARTICLE IV - Terms 
 
Section 401. Term.  The term of this Agreement shall be one (1) year and eight (8) days 
commencing February 20, 2021, and ending February 28, 2022, provided that the Village and/or 
the Authority shall have the right to terminate this agreement as specified in Section 701. 

ARTICLE V – Compensation  
 
Section 501.  Compensation.  For all services required under Section 202-1, 2, and 3 of this 
Agreement, the Authority shall be compensated as follows payable one-twelfth thereof monthly, 
and within 30 days following receipt by the Village of a proper invoice covering the month in which 
such service was rendered.  For the Village’s accounting purposes the estimated costs for water 
and sewer services have been separated. 
 

Year Period Base DANC Cost  

1 2/20/21 – 2/28/21 
Water =   $240 
Sewer = $340 
Total  => $580 

1 3/1/21 – 2/28/22 
Water =   $9,725 
Sewer = $20,250 
Total  => $29,975 

 
 
Section 502.  Emergency-related equipment, labor and material.  The Village shall pay the Authority 
the cost of equipment rental, labor and material used and incurred by the Authority in coping with 
an emergency.  The Village will make payment within 30 days following receipt by the Village of a 
proper invoice of such costs so incurred. 
 
Section 503.  Additional Work.  The Village shall pay the Authority the cost of additional work outside 
the normal scope of this Agreement at the rates listed below. Rates will be reviewed and may be 
adjusted on an annual basis consistent with the Authority’s fiscal year to account for cost of living 
adjustments. Mileage to the worksite will be reimbursed at the current Federal Mileage Rate.  The 
Village shall approve the cost of labor, equipment and material in advance, unless the situation is 
deemed an emergency such that immediate response is required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

177



 
 
 

Employee Wage Rate Standard Overtime 

Director of Engineering $132 NA 
Water Quality Division Manager $88 NA 
Assistant Director of Engineering $85 NA 
Controls Engineer $85 NA 
Project Engineer $85 NA 
GIS Supervisor $75 NA 
GIS Specialist $55 NA 
Lead Operator  $65 $84 
Operator  $61 $78 
Water Quality Technician $53 $67 
Admin $62 $80 

 
ARTICLE VI - Village Responsibilities 

 
Section 601.  Facilities.  The Village shall make available to the Authority the facilities described in 
this Agreement. The Village and its authorized representatives retain all rights of access to the 
facilities 
 
Section 602. Easements and Licenses.  The Village shall maintain all easements, licenses and 
permits that have been granted as owner of the facilities and procure all others necessary to operate 
and maintain such facilities. 
 
Section 603. Purchases.  The Authority will maintain an adequate inventory of equipment, 
chemicals, fuels, lubricants and supplies necessary to operate and maintain the facilities, and shall 
advise the Village of necessary replacements and additions to such inventory.   
 
Section 604.  Snow Removal.  The Village will be responsible for all snow removal.  

ARTICLE VII - Termination 
 
Section 701.  Termination.  The Village and/or Authority may terminate this Agreement with or 
without cause upon 90 days prior written notice, provided however, that the Village shall pay the 
Authority all costs incurred by the Authority to the date of termination. 

ARTICLE VIII – Insurance/Liability 
 
Section 801.  Insurance.  The Village shall secure and maintain with New York State qualified 
insurers insurance in the amount of the following: 
 
Comprehensive General Liability, including personal injury coverage of $1,000,000 per occurrence 
- $2,000,000 in the aggregate; property damage in the amount of $500,000 per occurrence and 
$1,000,000 in the aggregate. An umbrella policy may be used to meet coverage limits as set forth 

178



above; insurance must be issued in NYS to the Authority against loss or damage to the Authority 
and its facilities and against public or other liability to the extent not less than that reasonably 
necessary to protect the interest of the Authority.     The Authority shall secure and maintain 
insurance satisfactory to the Village.  
 
Section 802.  Mutual Indemnification.  Each party hereby releases and agrees to indemnify, defend, 
protect and hold harmless the other party, its respective employees, officers, directors, members, 
agents, workers, and agents, (collectively the “Entities”) , from and against all actions, claims, costs, 
damages, demands, losses, penalties, liabilities, and expenses, including but not limited to 
reasonable attorneys’ fees, and costs (collectively, “Claims”), and each party hereby assumes 
liability for any injury, loss, damage to, or claim by any third party against the other party for personal 
injury or damage to tangible property (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs), which arise 
out of or relate to any: (i) breach of any representation or warranty by the indemnifying party 
contained in this Agreement; (ii) breach of any covenant or other obligation or duty by the 
indemnifying party under this Agreement, (iii) violation of any applicable laws, rules or regulations 
by the indemnifying party; (iv) property or personal injury Claims, including death caused by the 
intentional act of the indemnifying party; and (v) improper or illegal use of the Water Treatment 
Distribution System by the indemnifying party. 
 
803.  Force Majeure.  The Authority shall use reasonable diligence to provide the services herein 
required, but shall not be liable to the Village for damages, breach of contract, or otherwise, for 
failure, suspension, diminution, or other variations of service occasioned by any cause beyond the 
control of the Authority. The Village will not be liable in the event of a breach beyond their control. 
Such causes beyond either party’s control may include, but are not restricted to, acts of God or of 
the public enemy, acts of the Government in its sovereign or contractual capacity, fires, floods, 
epidemics, riots, strikes, civil disturbance, quarantine, restrictions, or inability to obtain equipment 
or supplies. 
 

ARTICLE IX - Accounts 
 
Section 901.  Accounts and Audits.  All accounts, reports and other records generated by the 
Authority or required under this Agreement, in the performance hereof, shall be open to inspection 
and audit at all reasonable times by the Village.  Such records shall be retained by the Authority for 
a minimum of seven years following the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement or an 
extended agreement. 

 
ARTICLE X - Miscellaneous 

 
Section 1001.  Independence of Agreement.  The parties acknowledge that the Authority has 
undertaken and may undertake various projects unrelated to the operation and maintenance of the 
Village’s Facilities.  It is the intent of the parties that this Agreement, the service provided hereunder 
and all payments, accounts receivable and equipment resulting from or required by such operation 
and maintenance service shall be separate from and independent of all unrelated projects and 
activities of the Authority.  The Village shall have no right to, or claim upon, the assets, insurance 
proceeds or income of the Authority other than those associated with the performance of this 
Agreement, in satisfaction of any claim by the Village arising hereunder.  A similar restrictive clause 
is contained and will be provided in all service agreements made by the Authority with others. 
  
Section 1002.  Authority Status.  The Authority is an independent contractor with the Village and 
this Agreement does not create and shall not be construed as creating a relationship of principal 
and agent, landlord and tenant, or employer and employee. 

179



  
Section 1003.  Waiver.  No waiver by Village or Authority of any breach of any term, covenant or 
condition contained in this Agreement shall operate as a waiver of such term, covenant or condition 
itself or of any subsequent breach thereof. 
  
Section 1004.  Governing Laws.  This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance 
with the laws of the State of New York.  If any provision of this Agreement shall, to any extent, be 
held invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby and 
shall continue to be valid and unenforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. 
  
Section 1005.  Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties and 
may be modified or amended only by the written mutual agreement of the parties. 
 
Section 1006.  Supercedence.  This Agreement supercedes former similar agreements between 
the parties, pertaining to the facilities described in this document. All other agreements are hereby 
terminated, except as to those provisions intended to survive such termination. 
 
Section 1007.  Notices.  All notices required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be 
in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if sent by certified or registered mail, return 
receipt requested, postage prepaid.   
 
Section 1008. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, both 
of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument, and which may be executed 
and delivered by email or other electronic means to the other party. Electronically transmitted 
signatures shall be deemed the originals for all purposes. The receiving party may rely on the receipt 
of such electronically transmitted signed copies as if the original had been received. This Agreement 
is effective on the Effective Date only upon successful electronic transmission of signed copies by 
each party to the other party. 
  
EXHIBIT A – Resolution by Village Board to Enter Into this Agreement with the Development 
Authority of the North Country 
 
ALL OF THE ABOVE is established by the signatures of the authority representatives of the parties. 
 
 
VILLAGE OF CASTORLAND    DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
    OF THE NORTH COUNTRY 
 
  
By:______________________ By:_______________________ 
       Mervin Moser   Carl E. Farone  
       Village Mayor   Executive Director 
 

180


	MEETING NOTICE
	GOVERNANCE AGENDA
	AGENDA
	MINUTES 1.28.21
	Financials 12.31.20
	Summary of All Units

	2021-02-34 REAL PROPERTY POLICY
	Disposition of Real Property Policy

	2021-02-35 INVESTMENT POLICY
	Investment Policy

	2021-02-36 PROCUREMENT POLICY
	Procurement Policy

	2021-02-37 City of Watertown Leachate Agreement 
	Leachate Treatment Agreement

	2021-02-38 Implement Compensation
	2021-02-39 Admin Budget FYE22
	APPENDIX A ADMIN FYE 2022 BUDGET
	APPENDIX B ADMIN FYE 2022 BUDGET
	APPENDIX C ADMIN FYE 2022 BUDGET
	APPENDIX D ADMIN FYE 2022 BUDGET

	2021-02-40 Eng Budget FYE22
	APPENDIX A ENGINEERING FYE 2022 BUDGET
	APPENDIX B ENGINEERING FYE 2022 BUDGET

	2021-02-41 MMF Budget FYE22
	APPENDIX A MMF FYE 2022 BUDGET
	APPENDIX B MMF FYE 2022 BUDGET

	2021-02-42 Reg Dev Budget FYE22
	APPENDIX A RD BUDGET FYE 2022

	2021-02-43 Telecom Budget FYE22
	APPENDIX A TELECOM FYE 2022 BUDGET
	APPENDIX B TELECOM FYE 2022 BUDGET

	2021-02-44 WQ Budget FYE22
	APPENDIX A FYE 2022 WQ BUDGET
	APPENDIX B FYE 2022 WQ BUDGET
	APPENDIX C FYE 2022 WQ BUDGET

	2021-02-45 NCEDF Budget FYE22
	APPENDIX A NCEDF FYE 2022 BUDGET

	2021-02-46 MSA City of Ogdensburg Amendment 2
	MSA Ogdensburg

	2021-02-47 TSA Village of Chaumont Asset Management Plan
	TSA Chaumont

	2021-02-48 GIS Technical Services Agreement CCE Jefferson
	GIS Cornell Cooperative Extension

	2021-02-49 TSA Town of Louisville Water System Improvement Project
	TSA Louisville

	2021-02-50 SSA RT3 Sewer Board RTU Upgrades Amendment 1
	SCADA Route 3 Pump Station

	2021-02-51 Heuvelton Historical Association-cef
	Term Sheet
	CDLF/CRHP Write Up

	2021-02-52 Pink Palace Properties Resolution 
	Term Sheet
	CRHP Write Up

	2021-02-53 Castorland 2021 Resolution



